

University of the Pacific Scholarly Commons

University of the Pacific Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

2021

Development of Linked-Domain Protein Inhibitors of the E2-Conjugating Enzyme Ube2D

Anneroos E. Nederstigt University of the Pacific

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarlycommons.pacific.edu/uop_etds Part of the Biochemistry Commons, Molecular Biology Commons, and the Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Nederstigt, Anneroos E.. (2021). *Development of Linked-Domain Protein Inhibitors of the E2-Conjugating Enzyme Ube2D*. University of the Pacific, Thesis. https://scholarlycommons.pacific.edu/uop_etds/3757

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at Scholarly Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in University of the Pacific Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholarly Commons. For more information, please contact mgibney@pacific.edu.

By

Anneroos Emmely Nederstigt

A Thesis Submitted to the

Graduate School

In Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Thomas J. Long School of Pharmacy and Health Sciences Pharmaceutical and Chemical Sciences

> University of the Pacific Stockton, California

2021

By

Anneroos Emmely Nederstigt

APPROVED BY:

Thesis Advisor: Joseph S. Harrison, PhD Committee Member: Georgios Pantouris, PhD Committee Member: William K. Chan, PharmD, PhD Committee Member: Jerry W. Tsai, PhD Department Co-Chair: Jianhua Ren, PhD Department Co-Chair: Jerry W. Tsai, PhD

Copyright 2021

By

Anneroos Emmely Nederstigt

DEDICATION

In loving memory of my grandfather Ton Nederkoorn (July 1936 – November 2020)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To start, I would like to thank my advisor Dr. Joseph Harrison for his guidance and support throughout these past couple of years. He has exposed me to so many different techniques, opportunities, and other researchers to work with, all of which have provided me with a well-rounded scientific education. This work could never have been completed without his help. He is also to thank for the fact that I will never seize to view chemistry undergraduates as 'Young Chemists'.

This work is the result of a large collaborative effort, for which I have many to thank. My sincere thanks to Dr. Jose Henrique Pereira and Dr. Petrus Zwart from Lawrence Berkeley National Lab, who had a substantial impact on the preliminary UUD1.1~Ube2D1 crystallization attempts.

Secondly, my gratitude goes out to Dr. William Chan and Yujie Yang for helping me with the early cell culture work, as well as the Far Western Assays. Yujie has been a great resource and was always willing to answer my many questions about cell culture.

Thirdly, I would like to acknowledge Dr. Geoff and Joan Lin-Cereghino. Their lab was essentially my "second lab home". I want to thank them for their ever so positive spirit, their generosity and of course their extremely cute dog Peaches.

I must thank Dr. Liang Xue for letting me use his lab's equipment, especially his imaging apparatus and the ITC. I also thank Vanessa Rangel for her support in setting up the ITC experiments. Specifically, I would like to acknowledge the NSF major instrument grant (MRI-1828179) which funded the ITC experiments. My sincere gratitude goes out to Dr. Craig Vierra for allowing me access to his dissection microscope and his Orbitrap instrument and teaching me the basics of proteomics.

I would like to acknowledge my lab mates Vinh Truong and Li Gu for their encouragement throughout my research. Vinh, I will never forget that you nominated me for secretary of AAPS in my first year, thanks for that. Li, your calming presence has really gotten me through some rough patches. I really feel like I gained a true friend in you.

My appreciation goes out to my thesis committee and their support in writing this work: Dr. Chan, Dr. Tsai and Dr. Pantouris. George thank you for all the helpful life advice, I will make sure that I start my PhD on the right foot.

Lastly, Faith and Sonya, thank you for all you do, I do not know where all of us would be without you both, honestly. That goes out to the rest of the PCSP faculty and staff as well.

Without my family, this thesis would have *definitely* never been completed. Being so far away from home for so long is only possible with an amazing support system. So, to my parents, brother, sister, and friends in the Netherlands: Bedankt voor al jullie support. De afgelopen 6 jaar zijn emotioneel (en soms fysiek) ongelooflijk zwaar geweest met veel heimwee en moeilijke momenten. Pap en mam, zonder jullie was ik überhaupt nooit naar de Verenigde Staten vertrokken, en had ik al deze waardevolle ervaringen moeten missen. From "The Lunchbox Experiment" in 2014 to "Development of Novel Protein Inhibitors of the E2-Conjugating Enzyme Ube2D" in 2021. You never realize how much you are learning until you rewind the clock and see where you were a couple years ago.

Abstract

By Anneroos Emmely Nederstigt

University of the Pacific 2021

In most eukaryotic organisms, the ubiquitination pathway is one of the most important and versatile signaling systems in use. It is integral to processes such as protein degradation and homeostasis, DNA repair cell cycle regulation, signaling and regulation, epigenetics, and many more.

Ubiquitin (Ub) is a short polypeptide of 8.6 kDa, 76 residues that functions as a reversible post-translation modification (PTM). It furthermore contains 7 different lysine residues (K6, K11, K27, K29, K33, K48, K63), all of which can form isopeptide linkages with one another to link individual Ub moieties to form unique polyUb chains onto substrates. The type of polyUb chain a substrate gets labeled with can determine the subsequent activity of that substrate.

Substrate ubiquitination is achieved through an enzymatic cascade. First, an E1activating enzyme activates a free Ub moiety. Then Ub is transferred onto an E2-conjugating enzyme, and finally an E3 ligase interacts with both substrate and E2~Ub complex to facilitate Ub transfer onto a substrate. Within this scheme, the E2-enzyme acts as a master manipulator in that, it controls when, where and how a ubiquitin chain is transferred onto a substrate.

Irregular activity of E2-conjugating enzyme has been implicated in a wide variety of diseases such as cancer, neurodegenerative diseases, muscular dystrophy, genetic azoospermia

and more. While attempts have been made to inhibit other ubiquitination cascade enzymes such as E3 ligases and E1-activating enzymes, there is a strikingly small number of inhibitors specifically targeting E2 enzymes mainly due to the high degree of structural conservation that exists among members of the E2 enzyme family

In this work, we introduce 3 novel linked-domain protein inhibitors of the E2-conjugating enzyme Ube2D. We covalently attached either UHRF1 RING domain or an affinity optimized U-box domain, with UHRF1 UBL domain or UbvD1.1 (A ubiquitin variant specific for Ube2D), through a glycine-serine linker, producing 3 unique inhibitors: Ring-UBL (RU), U-box-UBL (UU), and U-box-UbvD1.1 (UUD1.1).

In this way, we attempt to specifically inhibit Ube2D for two purposes : 1) While Ube2D can interact with the largest number of E3 ligases and facilitate the largest number of polyUb chains, very little is known about cellular phenotypes specifically associated with Ube2D; 2) We want to establish whether targeting the E2 enzyme in general can be utilized as a viable therapeutic treatment for cancer.

We show that all three inhibitors are able to inhibit ubiquitin assays using Ube2D and using ITC we measured binding affinities of UUD1.1 (5 nM) > UUWT (300 nM) > RU WT (3 μ M). Furthermore, we found that all inhibitors could prevent E1, E3 and backside binding domain interactions simultaneously, which single domain UBL could not. UU and RU showed specificity towards Ube2D when tested against APC/C and Cullin1 E3 ligases and their cognate E2 enzymes.

We propose that linking domains in this way, by targeting the backside binding domains of E2 enzymes, could be a strategy that can be standardized and applied to the rest of the E2 enzyme family as well. *In vivo* testing must now elucidate whether these inhibitors can provide

more information about the cellular role of Ube2D and whether it is a viable therapeutic target to treat cancer.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	14
List of Schemes	
List of Figures	
List of Abbreviations	
Chapter 1: Introduction	
1.1 The Ubiquitination Pathway	
1.1.1 Polyubiquitin Linkages and Signal Specificity	
1.1.2 E1 Ubiquitin Activating Enzymes	
1.1.3 E3 Ubiquitin Ligases and Ub Transfer Mechanisms	
1.1.4 Deubiquitinating Enzymes	
1.2 Anatomy of the E2 Conjugating Enzymes	40
1.3 E2 Enzymes, Disease and Ubiquitination Cascade Drug Targeting	
1.3.1 Diseases Associated with E2 Enzymes	
1.3.2 Evaluation of Druggable Targets in the UPS	51
1.4 Inhibiting the E2 Conjugating Enzyme and Its Challenges	
1.4.1 Some Notable Examples of Efforts to Inhibit the E2 Enzyme	
1.4.2 Ube2D and Its Isoforms	60
1.4.3 E2 Enzyme Family Structure Conservation Analysis	60
1.5 The Benefits of Linked-Domain Inhibitors	64
1.6 Rational Design of Novel Ube2D Protein Inhibitors	66
Chapter 2: Research Goals	70

	11
Chapter 3: Results	72
3.1 IAP2 Inhibition Assays UU and RU	72
3.2 Isothermal Titration Calorimetry and K_d Determination RU and UU	73
3.3 Preliminary Inhibitor Specificity Ubiquitination Assays	74
3.4 E2 Loading Assays Using UU, RU and UBL Domain	
3.5 Negative Control Identification for Mammalian Cell Culture	
3.6 Preliminary HeLa Cell Transfections and Far Western Assays	
3.7 UUD1.1 Design and Supporting IAP2 Inhibition Assays	
3.8 ITC and K _d Determination UUD1.1	
3.9 UHRF1 Inhibition Assays	
3.10 UbvD1.1 vs. UUD1.1 vs. UU WT Assay Comparison	97
3.11 Protein Crystallization and UUD1.1~Ube2D1 Structure	
Chapter 4: Discussion	
Chapter 5: Conclusion	107
Chapter 6: Materials and Methods	
6.1 Primer & Vector Designs	
6.2 Inhibitor Constructs	
6.3 Cloning	
6.4 Protein Purification	109
6.4.1 Ubox-Ubl WT, 16, 17	109
6.4.2 Ube2D1	110
6.4.3 Ring-Ubl WT, 14, 15	110
6.4.4 Ubox-Ubv-D1.1	110

	12
6.4.5 Ube2D1~UUD1.1 Complex for X-Ray Crystallization	111
6.4.6 Ubv-D1.1	111
6.5 in vitro Ubiquitylation Assays	112
6.5.1 Ube2D1 Titration Assays	112
6.5.2 IAP2 Inhibition Assays	112
6.5.3 UHRF1 Inhibition Assays	112
6.5.4 E2 Loading Assays	113
6.5.5 APC/C CDH1 Inhibition Assays	113
6.5.6 Cullin1/Beta-Catenin Inhibition Assays	113
6.6 Isothermal Titration Calorimetry	113
6.7 X-Ray Crystallography Experiments	114
6.7.1 Crystallization of Protein Sample	114
6.8 Cell Culture Experiments	115
6.8.1 HeLa Cell Growth and Transfection	115
6.8.2 Ub Immunoblot Western Analysis	115
6.8.3 K48-TUBE Far Western Analysis	116
6.9 Multiple Sequence Alignments and Consensus Sequences	116
6.10 Phylogenetic Tree, Weblogos and Shannon Entropy	117
References	119
Appendices	
A. Analysis Pipeline Resulting in the E2 Enzyme Family Phylogenetic Tree	172
B. Table of Primer Designs	173
C. Table of Inhibitor Protein Sequences	174

	13
D. Wnt Signaling Utilizing Ube3A in the Presence of RU WT (#1), RU F/V (#2) or UU WT (#3/#4)	
E. IAP2 Ubiquitylation Activity After the Addition of Either RU F/V	
(Negative Control) or RU WT	176

LIST OF TABLES

Table

1.	Structural Features of Ube1 and Uba6	.32
2.	Thermodynamic Properties of UUD1.1~Ube2D1 Interaction	.93
3.	Table of Primer Designs	173
4.	Table of Inhibitor Protein Sequences	174

LIST OF SCHEMES

Scheme

1. Mechanism of Ub Activation and Ub Transfer onto an E2 Enzyme by Ube130

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure

1.	Schematic representation of the structure of ubiquitin	22
2.	Canonical and noncanonical ubiquitination of target proteins	23
3.	The ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS)	24
4.	Schematic representation of different types of polyubiquitin linkages that can be formed, and what kind of signal they convey to the target protein	26
5.	General structure of Ube1 and its domains with Ub covalently attached to the catalytic Cys593	31
6.	3 different classes of E3 Ub ligases	33
7.	Catalytic mechanism of RBR-domain E3 ligases	34
8.	Deubiquitinating enzymes and the wide variety of functions they can perform within the cell	37
9.	General structure of the E2 conjugating enzyme	41
10	. Family tree of the α -helix4-turn- α -helix5 (HTH) of most E2 enzymes	44
11	. The E2 enzyme family, their canonical UBC core domains and (if any) N-terminal or C-terminal extensions	47
12	. Targeting the ubiquitination cascade	55
13	. Workflow for the development of E2-targeted UbV molecules using phage display	59
14	. Ube2D colored by Shannon entropy	62
15	. Mechanism of PROTACs induced targeted substrate degradation	66
16	. All domains of the E3 ligase UHRF1, assigned activities and binding partners	67
17	. Design of novel 1 st and 2 nd generation linked domain Ube2D inhibitors	68

	17
18. IAP2 ubiquitination inhibition assays using UU and RU	72
19. Determining the binding affinity of RU and UU	74
20. APC/C ubiquitination assays to test UU inhibitor specificity towards Ube2D	75
21. General structure of an SCF E3 Ubiquitin Ligase	77
22. Cullin1 ubiquitination assays to test UU inhibitor specificity towards Ube2D	78
23. E2 loading assays using UU and RU	79
24. E2 loading assays using UBL domain and UU	80
25. IAP2 auto-ubiquitylation levels after the addition of UU WT, UU F46V/ P1235T mutant and UU F46V/M1237I mutant respectively	
26. HeLa cells transfected with UU WT and UU were lysed and treated with Ub ^{Ab} to monitor general intracellular ubiquitin levels	
27. Untransfected HeLa cells, UU F46V/P1235T and UU WT transfected cells were treated with MG132 and subsequently tested for K48-linked polyubiquitylated proteins using K48-TUBE	
28. Optimized inhibitor design	
29. IAP2 inhibition ubiquitination assays and Ube2D1 titration	91
30. UUD1.1 to Ube2D1 titration	93
31. UHRF1 inhibition assays were performed using 3 different Ube2D inhibitors	95
32. Mode of inhibition of single domain and linked-domain inhibitors based on UHRF1 inhibition assays	96
33. Three-way comparison between UUD1.1, UUWT and UbvD1.1 during IAP2 Inhibition assays	
34. Mode of inhibition based on IAP2 inhibition assays utilizing UbvD1.1	99
35. s200 Sephacryl column chromatography traces	
36. Preliminary crystallization trials on UUD1.1~Ube2D1	

37. 4	Analysis pipeline resulting in the E2 enzyme family phylogenetic tree	172
38. V I	Wnt signaling utilizing Ube3A in the presence of RU WT (#1), RU F/V (#2) or UU WT (#3/#4)	175
39. I I	IAP2 ubiquitylation activity after the addition of either RU F/V (negative control) or RU WT	176

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

~	Protein interaction
Ab	Antibody
ACN	Acetonitrile
Ade	Adenine
Amp	Ampicillin
APS	Ammonium persulfate
C/M	Chloroform/methanol
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle's medium
DMSO	Dimethyl Sulfoxide
DTT	Dithiothreitol
DUB	Deubiquitinating Enzym
GlyNP-40	Glycine Nonidet P-40
HECT	Homologous to E6AP C-terminus
HEPES	Hydroxyethylpiperazine ethane sulfonic acid
His	Histidine
IAP2	Inhibitor of apoptosis protein 2
IPTG	Isopropyl β -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside
ITC	Isothermal Titration Calorimetry
Kan	Kanamycin
LB	Luria Bertani
LC	Liquid chromatography

Leu	Leucine
MBP	Maltose Binding Protein
MG132	Carbobenzoxyleu-leu-leucinal
MgCl ₂	Magnesium chloride
Ni-NTA	Nickel-nitrilotriacetic acid
O/N	Overnight
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PLATE solution	PEG, Lithium acetate, Tris-HCl, EDTA solution
polyUb	Polyubiquitin
PTM	Post-translational modification
RBR	Ring-between-ring
RING	Really Interesting New Gene
RU	Ring-Ubl
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate – polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SEC	Size exclusion chromatography
TAE	Tris-acetate-EDTA
TEMED	Tetramethylethylenediamine
TEV protease	Tobacco Etch Virus protease
TFA	Trifluoroacetic acid
Ub	Ubiquitin
UU	Ubox-UBL
UUD1.1	Ubox-Ubv.D1.1
UHRF1	Ubiquitin-Like With PHD And Ring Finger Domains 1

UPS Ubiquitin-Proteasome System

- WT Wild type
- Y2H Yeast two-hybrid
- YPD Yeast peptone dextrose

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Ubiquitination Pathway

In most eukaryotic organisms, the ubiquitination pathway is one of the most important and versatile signaling systems in use. It is integral to processes such as protein degradation and homeostasis (Deng et al., 2020), DNA repair (L. Sun & Chen, 2004), membrane protein trafficking (Katzmann et al., 2002), cell cycle regulation (Schnell & Hicke, 2003; Yau, Doerner, Castellanos, Matsumoto, et al., 2017), protein kinase activation, signaling and regulation (S. Liu & Chen, 2011; L. Sun & Chen, 2004), epigenetics (Vaughan et al., 2021), and many more.

Ubiquitin (Ub) itself is a short polypeptide, 8.6 kDa, containing 76 amino acid residues. It is a reversible post-translation modification (PTM) that is a member of the UBL domain



Figure 1. Schematic representation of the structure of ubiquitin. Beta-sheets are shown in green; alpha-helices are shown in blue; coils and turns are shown in grey. Lysine residues that facilitate polyUb chain formation are shown in yellow (PDB: 1UBI).

family. PTMs are covalent modifications of proteins after protein synthesis, that can affect protein function. Common PTMs include acetylation, phosphorylation, glycosylation, lipidation,

etc. The focus of this work will be ubiquitination. The UBL domain is characterized by a "betagrasp" protein fold that consists of a 5-strand antiparallel beta sheet surrounding an alpha helix. As such, this "beta-grasp" protein fold also exists in Ub (*fig.1*).

Ub exerts its influence on target proteins by covalently attaching to them through an (iso)peptide bond formed between Ub's C-terminal glycine (Gly76) and most commonly the amino-group of a lysine residue in the target protein (Stone, 2016). Noncanonical covalent attachments between Ub's Gly76 and cysteine, serine, or threonine residues on target proteins have been reported (McClellan et al., 2019; X. Wang et al., 2007) and their importance has been increasingly characterized over the past decades (Cadwell & Coscoy, 2005; McDowell & Philpott, 2013; Vosper et al., 2009)



Figure 2. Canonical and noncanonical ubiquitination of target proteins. Adapted from (McClellan et al., 2019).

Target ubiquitination is achieved through an enzymatic cascade of events that starts with the ATP/Mg dependent activation of Ub by one of two human E1-activating enzymes (Hershko et al., 1981; Pickart, 2001). Ub forms an adenylate intermediate that is subsequently trapped in a high energy thioester bond with E1 (E1~Ub) (Kwon & Ciechanover, 2017). Ub is than passed to the active site cysteine of an E2-conjugating enzyme, an enzyme family that consists of over 30 members in the human body (Stewart et al., 2016), through a trans thiolation reaction, which forms a high energy E2~Ub conjugate (Hershko et al., 1983). Finally, an E3 Ligase (>600 human members), facilitates the final transfer of Ub from an E2 enzyme onto the substrate. Often, the ubiquitination cascade is then repeated to add more Ub moieties to the already existing Ub moiety, effectively producing a unique polyubiquitin chain signal (McDowell & Philpott, 2013).



Figure 3. The ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS). Substrate is labelled with a unique polyubiquitin moiety that results in substrate 26s proteasomal degradation. Adapted from (Maupin-Furlow, 2012).

Ubiquitination is a reversible process, since ~100 different deubiquitinase enzymes (DUBs) exist that can bind and remove ubiquitin from substrates, adding another level of complexity to the ubiquitination system. (Nijman et al., 2005)

1.1.1 Polyubiquitin Linkages and Signal Specificity

Ubiquitin can convey a large variety of signals onto target substrates. This versatility can be explained by the inherent dynamics of Ub's structure. 7 different lysine residues (Lys6, <u>11</u>, 27, 29, 33, 48, 63) as well as the N-terminal methionine within Ub's structure can form isopeptide linkages to produce distinct and specific polyubiquitin chains. Polyubiquitin (polyUb) chains adopt many different conformations depending on which lysine residues are linked together (Kwon & Ciechanover, 2017; Lutz et al., 2020). Polyubiquitin chains are divided into 3 different groups: homotypic and heterotypic. Homotypic chains consist of Ub moieties linked through the same lysine residue, e.g., each Ub is linked at K48 (*Fig.4*). Heterotypic chains consist of Ub moieties linked at different lysines, e.g., K48-K33-K48-K33-etc. (*Fig. 4*). Heterotypic chains can also form branched chains, chains in which a ubiquitin moiety is linked to two or more ubiquitin molecules in the same chain (*Fig. 4*) (Meyer & Rape, 2014; Y. S. Wang et al., 2020)



Figure 4. Schematic representation of different types of polyubiquitin linkages that can be formed, and what kind of signal they convey to the target protein. Adapted from (C.-W. Park & Ryu, 2014).

Different polyUb chain topologies result in different functional outcomes. The most well-understood types of polyUb chain linkages are K48 and K63-linked polyUb. K48-linked polyUb is widely recognized as a proteolytic signal (Ciechanover & Schwartz, 1998; Hochstrasser, 1996; Thrower et al., 2000). Substrates covalently attached to K48-linked polyUb at least four Ub's long (Lutz et al., 2020; Thrower et al., 2000), are marked for effective degradation by the 26S proteasome, a large multi subunit proteinase complex that degrades K48linked polyUb into short peptides and recycles the Ub molecules (Hochstrasser, 1996). Consequently, the ubiquitination cascade can control intracellular protein levels by finetuning the level of K48-linked substrate polyubiquitination.

Even though at first K48-linked polyUb was mainly associated with 26S proteasomal degradation, later studies found that K11-linked polyUb is also able to target substrates degradation (Matsumoto et al., 2010; Song & Rape, 2011). K11-linked polyUb has been

characterized as a vital regulator of protein degradation during mitotic cell division. During mitotic cell division, the E3 ligase APC/C (Anaphase Promoting Complex/Cyclosome), controls the progression of cell division by degrading its substrates in a time-dependent manner (Chi et al., 2019; Qiao et al., 2016; J. Zhang et al., 2014). It was found that K11-linked polyUb increased significantly as these substrates were degraded (Matsumoto et al., 2010; Sullivan & Morgan, 2007). In that way, proteasomal degradation of cell cycle regulators is directly proportional to APC/C activity: APC/C inhibition leads to a steady decrease in K11-linked polyUb (Song & Rape, 2011)

In contrast with K11-linked polyUb, whose proteolytic effect is mainly limited to mitotic cell division, canonical proteasomal degradation directed by K48-linked polyUb is constantly active and involved with a plethora of biological processes. For instance, K48-linked polyUb accumulates near sites of DNA damage (Meerang et al., 2011). Tumor Suppressor p53 Binding Protein 1 (53BP1) is necessary for non-homologous end-joining during DNA repair (Mallette & Richard, 2012). To activate 53BP1, interaction with histone 4 dimethylated lysine 20 on histone 4 (H4K20me2) in the chromatin is necessary. The E3 ligase RNF8 modulates the covalent attachment of K48-linked polyUb directed degradation of these masking proteins, opens up H4K20 sites for 53BP1 interaction during DNA damage repair (Mallette & Richard, 2012). Moreover, K48-linked polyUb directed protein degradation plays roles during the inflammatory response (Meng et al., 2021), IFN-1 antiviral response (Liting Zhang et al., 2021), chromatin assembly and histone 2B degradation (Y. Liu et al., 2021), and more.

K63-linked polyubiquitin chains and their functional outcomes are also very wellunderstood. K63-linked polyUb has known functions in NF-kappaB activation (Z. J. Chen et al., 1996), DNA repair and lysosomal targeting (C. W. Park & Ryu, 2014) as well as others.

NF-kappaB (NF-kB) transcription factors can alter gene expression as a response to e.g., cellular stress (Kovalenko & Wallach, 2006). During NF-kB signaling, an E3 ubiquitin ligase, TRAF6 can be recruited to Toll-like receptors (TLR's) which induces TRAF6 oligomerization. TRAF6 oligomerization in turn stimulates TRAF6 auto-ubiquitination (TRAF6^{polyUb}) as well as downstream K63-linked polyubiquitination of targets (Zhijian J. Chen, 2005). TRAF6^{polyUb} is recognized by adaptor proteins TAB2 and 3 which subsequently recruit protein kinase TAK1. TAK1 auto-phosphorylates and induces IKK activation (Kanayama et al., 2004; C. Wang et al., 2001). IKK activation initiates a series of downstream steps that results in the activation of target genes (Israël, 2000). Within this scheme non-degradative K63-polyubiquitination is vital.

Furthermore, K63-linked polyUb also plays a large role in non-proteasomal protein degradation by the lysosome, or autophagy. *In vivo*, K63-linked polyUb can target misfolded protein aggregates that are generally too large to be degraded by the 26s proteasome (a common phenomenon in neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's and Huntington's) to the aggresome-autophagy pathway, facilitated by the E3 Parkin (Li & Ye, 2008; Olzmann & Chin, 2008). It also occurs during the Chaperone-mediated autophagy of certain transcription factors (Ferreira et al., 2015).

Aside from K48, K63 and K11 linked-polyUb, the other types of polyUb chains that can potentially form are K6, K29, K27 and K33 linked polyUb. These are a lot less understood and the variety of functional outcomes of each of these chains has yet to be fully elucidated. Recent studies have found that K27-linked BRAF ubiquitination in melanoma cells can result in nonreversible activation of cytokines that can maintain the MEK-ERK signaling pathway (Yin et al., 2019). K29 linked polyUb has been shown to auto-ubiquitinate the proteasome and inhibit proteasome-substrate interactions (Besche et al., 2014). Epigenetic regulation involvement as well as a role in the inflammatory response has been implied (Jin Jin et al., 2016; Swatek & Komander, 2016). Preliminary studies associated K33-linked polyubiquitination with intracellular trafficking processes near the trans-Golgi network (TGN). The CRL Cul3-KLHL E3 ligase adds K33-linked polyUb chains to coronin 7, which in turn aids in the formation of new TGN-derived transport carriers (Swatek & Komander, 2016; W. C. Yuan et al., 2014)

Most branched, heterotypic polyUb chains have yet to be assigned a function, even though they have been found *in vitro* and for some *in vivo* (French et al., 2021).

These examples provide just a small glimpse into the complexities and regulatory effects of polyubiquitination in vivo. Even though many studies over the years have enhanced our understanding of the functional outcomes of polyubiquitination, much is yet to be discovered, on noncanonical polyubiquitination in particular, as well as its role in biological processes and diseases.

1.1.2 E1 Ubiquitin Activating Enzymes

The first step towards substrate (poly)ubiquitination is performed by an E1 activating enzyme. There are about 10 E1 activating enzymes that can activate a variety of Ubl-moieties including SUMO, FAT10, NEDD8, and more (Schulman & Wade Harper, 2009). However, only two distinct E1 <u>ubiquitin</u> activating enzymes have been identified in humans so far: Ube1 and Uba6 (Handley et al., 1991; Jianping Jin et al., 2007; F. Wang & Zhao, 2019). Ube1 was thought to be the sole E1 enzyme responsible for Ub activation within humans up until recently.

It was not until the late 2000s that Uba6 was discovered (Jianping Jin et al., 2007). E1 Ub activating enzymes generally work through the following mechanism:

$$E1_{SH} + ATP + Ub + Mg^{2+} \rightleftharpoons E1_{SH}^{AMP \sim Ub(A)} + PP_i \qquad (1)$$

$$E1_{SH}^{AMP \sim Ub(A)} \rightleftharpoons E1_{S-Ub(T)} + AMP$$
 (2)

$$E1_{S-Ub(T)} + ATP + Ub + Mg^{2+} \rightleftharpoons E1_{S-Ub(T)}^{AMP \sim Ub(A)} + PP_i \qquad (3)$$

$$E1_{S-Ub(T)}^{AMP\sim Ub(A)} + E2_{SH} \rightleftharpoons E1_{SH}^{AMP\sim Ub(A)} + E2_{S-Ub}(4)$$

Scheme 1. Mechanism of Ub activation and Ub transfer onto an E2 enzyme by Ube1. Ub (A): Ub noncovalently associated at the adenylation site on Ube1. Ub (T): Ub covalently attached through a thioester linkage at the catalytic cysteine of Ube1. Adapted from (Schulman & Wade Harper, 2009).

First, E1_{SH} reacts to form an E1~Ub adenylate intermediate in an ATP-dependent reaction, yielding a pyrophosphate molecule. From the E1~Ub adenylate intermediate, Ub is attached to the E1 catalytic cysteine in a high-energy thioester bond (Barghout & Schimmer, 2021). A second Ub moiety is noncovalently associated with the E1_{S-Ub} (T) complex, producing a E1 loaded with two Ub molecules. Ub (T) is then transferred to the catalytic cysteine of an E2 enzyme through a trans thiolation reaction (Kwon & Ciechanover, 2017; Stewart et al., 2016).



Figure 5. General structure of Ube1 and its domains with Ub covalently attached to the catalytic Cys593. Adapted from (Hann et al., 2019).

Ube1 contains 5 distinct domains. Active and Inactive Adenylation Domains (AAD & IAD) are responsible for recruiting Ub and facilitate the C-terminal adenylation of Ub. The catalytic cysteine (Cys593), involved with covalent thioester formation with Ub, is contained in a domain split into two halves: the First and Second Catalytic Cysteine Half domains (FCCH and SCCH). Ubiquitin Fold Domain (UFD) subsequently recruits E2 enzyme to Ube1 and facilitates the transfer of Ub from Cys593 to an E2 enzyme.(I. Lee & Schindelin, 2008; L. Yuan et al., 2021).

Uba6 was discovered in 2007 and can activate both human leukocyte antigen Fassociated transcript 10 (FAT10, a Ubl-moiety) and Ub. It has about 40% sequence similarity to Ube1 (*Table* 1). Not only did this discovery add another level of complexity to ubiquitin regulation, it also showed that Ubl moieties are not necessarily regulated by merely one E1 activating enzyme (Jianping Jin et al., 2007). So far, E2 enzymes that can only accept Ub from Ube1, have been well characterized. Uba6 however, has only one identified Uba6-specific E2 enzyme (Referred to as Use1). Use1 is merely able to accept Ub and FAT10 from Uba6 (F. Wang & Zhao, 2019). Whether there are more Uba6-specific E2 enzymes, has yet to be elucidated.

Table 1Structural Features of Ube1 and Uba6. Adapted from (Groettrup et al., 2008)

	MW (kDa)	Identity (%) *	Ubl	E2
Ubel	118	100	Ub	Many
Uba6	118	40	FAT10 Ub	Use1 More?

* % Identity as related to Ube1

1.1.3 E3 Ubiquitin Ligases and Ub Transfer Mechanisms

Within the human body, over 600 E3 Ub ligases exist. It would be futile to attempt to summarize the function of each. Therefore, only the three main classes of E3 Ub ligases will be briefly discussed here, as well as any details pertaining to E3 Ub ligases that are relevant to this body of work.

E3 Ubiquitin Ligases are classified by their catalytic mechanisms and their conserved domains. As shown in Figure 6, there are 3 main classes of E3 Ub ligases: RING (Really Interesting New Gene) domain E3 ligases, HECT (Homologous to E6AP Carboxyl Terminus) domain E3 ligases, and RBR (Ring-Between-Ring) E3 ligases (Buetow & Huang, 2016).

RING E3s by far are the most prevalent out of the 3 classes. There are over 600 different RING E3 ligases in the human body (Deshaies & Joazeiro, 2009). Within RING E3 ligases, the RING-domain is responsible for interacting with E2 enzymes. RING E3 ligases facilitate substrate ubiquitination by tethering both E2-Ub and the substrate protein in a noncovalent complex (*Fig. 6e*) (Deshaies & Joazeiro, 2009; Metzger et al., 2014). RING E3

ligases do not form covalent adducts with Ub, they merely act as facilitators to direct Ub transfer from the E2 catalytic cysteine onto a lysine residue of substrate (L. Liu et al., 2018).

About one third of the RING E3 ligase family consists of a smaller subclass of RING E3 ligases: Cullin/Ring ubiquitin ligases (CRLs). CRLs are multi-subunit E3 ligases containing a small RING-finger domain, RBX, that interacts with E2 enzymes. CRL's furthermore contain a substrate receptor protein (which interacts with target proteins) and a Cullin scaffolding protein (J. Liu & Nussinov, 2009). Studies have identified 8 different mammalian Cullin proteins that



Figure 6. 3 different classes of E3 Ub ligases. **a-e:** RING domain E3 ligases. **f-g:** HECT E3 ligases. **h-**i: RBR E3 ligases. Adapted from (Buetow & Huang, 2016).

can act as a scaffold within a CRL (Skaar et al., 2014). SCF ubiquitin ligase is arguably the most elucidated type of CRL.

SCF (Skp1/Cullin1/F-box protein) E3 Ub ligase, has the general structure of a CRL, but contains 4 subunits: Skp1 (E2~Ub binding), RBX1 (Small Ring domain), F-box protein and Cullin1 (scaffolding protein) which binds Skp1 at the N-terminus and RBX1 at the C-terminus. F-box protein functions as an adaptor that recognizes and recruits phosphorylated substrates to the Skp1 domain (J. Xie et al., 2019). SCF E3 ligases have been shown to play important roles in protein degradation during biological processes such as cell signaling, cell cycle progression and proliferation, DNA repair, etc. (C. M. Xie et al., 2013)

The mechanism of direct transfer of Ub from E2~Ub onto a target substrate, mediated by an E3 ligase is also adopted by the RING-like family of U-box proteins. The U-box domain, another E2 binding domain, is very similar in structure to the canonical RING domain but lacks the two stabilizing Zn^{2+} ions present in canonical RING. Instead, U-box contains elaborate Hbond and salt bridge networks in those locations (Ohi et al., 2003). Typically, U-box domain E3 ligases are considered part of the RING-type class of E3 ligases. U-box proteins, 70 amino acids long, were originally characterized by their ability to facilitate polyubiquitylation in the absence of either RING-finger E3s or HECT-domain E3s (Hatakeyama & Nakayama, 2003).

The second class of E3 ubiquitin ligases, HECT-domain E3s, represent a smaller percentage of the E3 ligase family. 28 HECT-domain E3s have been identified thus far (Weber et al., 2019). In contrast with RING-domain E3s, which do not directly associate with Ub, HECT-domain Ub transfer involves a two-step mechanism, in which Ub is first transferred from E2 to the catalytic cysteine of a HECT E3 through a trans thiolation reaction, and then attached to a lysine on a target substrate (Rotin & Kumar, 2009; Sluimer & Distel, 2018). Structurally,



Figure 7. Catalytic mechanism of RBR-domain E3 ligases. Adapted from (Cotton & Lechtenberg, 2020).

brings Ub in close proximity to the catalytic cysteine, which is located on the C-lobe. The two lobes are connected by a flexible catalytic cleft, which provides the C-lobe sufficient mobility to modulate Ub transfer onto the target substrate (L. Huang et al., 1999a; Kamadurai et al., 2009; Verdecia et al., 2003).

RBR-domain E3 ligases make up the third class of E3 ligases. First described in plants and fungi in 1999 (Morett & Bork, 1999), RBR-domain E3s are the smallest class within the E3 ligase family with only 14 members (Marín et al., 2004) RBR's are generally described as a type of RING/HECT E3 Ub ligase hybrid. RBR E3s contain 3 domains, two of which are RING domains (RING2 is named after RING, but structurally bears no similarity to canonical RING
domain): RING1 and RING2. RING1 acts as the E2-binding domain and RING2 contains a catalytic cysteine. The two RING domains are interconnected by an IBR (In Between Ring) domain.

Though the presence of a RING E2 binding domain reminds of the canonical RINGfinger E3 ligase, ubiquitylation is catalyzed through a more complex Ub transfer mechanism compared to both HECT and RING E3 ligases. RBRs have a more complex catalytic mechanism because the RBR requires allosteric activation of the IBR domain to lift the native "autoinhibited" state the RBR E3 ligase exists in (Cotton & Lechtenberg, 2020). Allosteric activation unlocks RING1 domain, which subsequently recruits the E2~Ub complex (*Fig. 7*)(Cotton & Lechtenberg, 2020). After this, a two-step mechanism similar to HECT E3s occurs, where Ub is transferred onto the conserved catalytic cysteine of RING2 domain through a trans thiolation reaction first, after which substrate ubiquitylation can occur (Wenzel et al., 2011).

One notable example of an RBR E3 Ligase, is Parkin, originally determined to be an RBR-type ligase in 2011 (Wenzel et al., 2011). Many studies have focused on Parkin ever since it was discovered that certain mutations in Parkin can cause early-onset Parkinson's disease (Marín et al., 2004). Studies have shown that RBR E3 ligases are involved in processes such as translation (N. G. S. Tan et al., 2003) and immune signaling (Tokunaga et al., 2009), as well as DNA repair (Kao, 2009a, 2009b)

1.1.4 Deubiquitinating Enzymes

Deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs) are specific proteases that can remove ubiquitin chains from targets by hydrolyzing Ub-substrate and Ub-Ub isopeptide bonds, disassemble free ubiquitin chains and prepare precursors of ubiquitin for chain formation (Reyes-Turcu & Wilkinson, 2009). They are also important in maintaining normal proteasome degradation activity, partially by removing free polyUb chains that can compete with substrate linked polyUb for 26s proteasomal degradation (*Fig. 8*) (Amerik & Hochstrasser, 2004; Lam et al., 1997). There are about 100 DUBs currently characterized, some of which have been shown to cleave specific types of polyUb *in vivo*, some *in vitro*.



Figure 8. Deubiquitinating enzymes and the wide variety of functions they can perform within the cell. Adapted from (Komander et al., 2009).

A major characteristic of DUBs in general is their ability to recognize and distinguish the different types of polyUb (linked through different lysine residues in ubiquitin). A leading theory explaining this ability, credits the diverse topologies different types of polyUb can conform to. I t is speculated that conformational differences aid specific polyUb recognition by DUBs (Reyes-Turcu & Wilkinson, 2009). This theory has been supported by several studies showing DUB specificity for particular polyUb chains (Hu et al., 2005; Komander et al., 2008;

Wilkinson et al., 1995). Even though some evidence exists for DUB polyUb chain selectivity in certain cases, DUB chain selectivity research is ongoing. Using Ub-probes targeting the active sites of DUBs to discover, profile and target DUBs has been a popular strategy so far (Borodovsky et al., 2001; de Jong et al., 2012). A recent study utilized di-Ub chain probes that mimicked all 8 different polyUb chain linkages, and utilized proteomic methods to determine the DUB selectivity for these Di-Ub probes in cells (McGouran et al., 2013)

Human DUBs fall into one of 7 classes of DUBs: Ubiquitin Specific Proteases (USP/UBP), Ubiquitin C-terminal Hydrolases (UCH), Ovarian Tumor Proteases (OTU), Ataxin-3/Josephins, JAB1/MPN/MOV34 (JAMM) DUBs zinc finger with UFM1-specific peptidase domain protein protease (ZUFSP) and MINDY (Amerik & Hochstrasser, 2004; Suresh et al., 2020). Most of these are cysteine proteases, containing cysteine active sites. A so-called catalytic triad (consisting of the active site cysteine, a histidine, and an aspartate) aids in the nucleophilic attack of the carbonyl group of a Ub-target isopeptide bond and subsequent DUB~Ub intermediate formation, followed by the hydrolyzed release of Ub from the DUB protease active site (Nijman et al., 2005) The only metalloproteases out of the seven classes are JAMMs. JAMMs contain two Zn^{2+} ions. These Zn^{2+} ions are used to activate water molecules to attack the isopeptide bond between a substrate and Ub (Fuchs et al., 2018; Nijman et al., 2005).

The importance of DUBs counteracting influence on ubiquitination has been illustrated in a variety of studies and reviews. For instance, the DUB OTUB1 can stabilize and inhibit E2 enzymes and their interactions with Ub, e.g. the Ub~Ube2N interaction (Que et al., 2020). Ube2N dimerizes with the pseudo-E2 Ube2V1 (E2 structure lacking a catalytic cysteine). The Ube2N-Ube2V1 complex works in tandem with the E3 ligase RNF168 to produce K63-linked polyubiquitinated substrates. It was found that the allosteric association of a second Ub moiety to the N-terminal of OTUB1 increases its affinity to the Ube2N~Ub complex (Wiener et al., 2012). By associating to the Ub~Ube2N intermediate, K63-linked polyUb formation was blocked as nucleophilic attack of a donor Ub was also blocked. Since Ube2N~Ube2V1 forms K63-linked polyUb at sides of DNA damage to recruit repair proteins, OTUB1 can be seen as a DNA repair regulator inhibition of E2 enzymes (Pasupala et al., 2018; Que et al., 2020; Wiener et al., 2012, 2013).

The DUB USP10 has well-documented roles in protein aggregation, cell apoptosis and the DNA damage response and also acts as a tumor suppressor ((Bhattacharya et al., 2020; Takahashi et al., 2018; J. Yuan et al., 2010) USP10 is able to stabilize the tumor suppressor transcription factor p53, which is vital for its tumor suppressor function. USP10 is also able to deubiquitinate p53, which prevents its degradation and improves its intracellular life-time (J. Yuan et al., 2010). USP10 doesn't just interact with the transcription factor p53, it also interacts with p62. In cells, an excess of ubiquitinated proteins can induce cell apoptosis. USP10 counteracts apoptosis by associating with the ubiquitin receptor p62, which can induce protein aggregation and aggresome formation (Takahashi et al., 2018). Aggresomes seize to be cytotoxic, as they can be cleared through autophagy mediated protein degradation. In this way USP10 plays an important role in protein degradation cell apoptosis (Takahashi et al., 2018; Wong et al., 2008).

It is clear that DUB's play an essential role in the regulation of the ubiquitination cascade. Mutations and irregularities in their function could have catastrophic effects for cellular activity, in the worst case resulting in cell death. They are involved in a wide variety of biological processes and regulate the half-life of many oncogenes and tumor-suppressors, which is why they have been deemed plausible targets for drug therapies (Komander et al., 2009).

1.2 Anatomy of the E2 Conjugating Enzyme

The last main enzyme within the ubiquitination cascade, is the E2-conjugating enzyme. There are ~40 human E2 conjugating enzymes currently identified that can interact with either Ub or Ub-like structures such as FAT10, SUMO and NEDD8. The E2 enzyme originally has been viewed as merely a middle man, an enzyme that connects the Ub activation by the E1 enzyme, and the covalent attachment of Ub by an E3 ligase (Stewart et al., 2016). In recent years however, it has become more clear that the E2 enzyme plays a vital role in deciding when, where and how ubiquitin gets attached to a target protein (Wijk & Timmers, 2010; Ye & Rape, 2009). More than a decade of studies have now determined that E2 enzymes are in charge of: 1) switching from chain initiation to elongation; 2) processivity of ubiquitin chain formation and 3) selecting polyUb linkage, essentially making them the masterminds behind the ubiquitination cascade (Ye & Rape, 2009).

The E2 enzyme is characterized by a highly conserved ~ 150 amino acid-long UBC (Ubiquitin-Conjugating) core structure that generally consists of 4 α -helices and one β -sheet consisting of 4 anti-parallel β -strands (*Fig. 9*) (Gundogdu & Walden, 2019). Within the UBC core, certain sections have assigned functions. For example, an E2 enzyme recognizes one of the two human E1 enzymes (Jianping Jin et al., 2007; Schulman & Wade Harper, 2009) charged with two Ub molecules, through α -helix1, which contains the E1-binding site (Haas et al., 1988; Williams et al., 2019). While E1~Ub binding to a cognate E2 enzyme is mainly catalyzed through the E1 binding motif in α -helix1, some E2 enzymes contain N-terminal extensions that also interact with the E1~Ub complex and can improve the affinity of the E1~E2 interaction and simultaneously destabilize the E1~Ub interaction. Other factors such as E1 conformational changes also play a part during the E1~E2 interaction (Olsen & Lima, 2013). These types of

interactions facilitate the transfer of Ub onto the catalytic cysteine of a cognate E2 enzyme, but also might provide specificity in E1~E2 recognition mechanisms (Durfee et al., 2008; D. T. Huang et al., 2004, 2008; Summers et al., 2008a)



Figure 9. General structure of the E2 conjugating enzyme. Top: Important interaction domains are labelled onto a representative UBC domain (Ube2D3, PDBID: 2FUH). Bottom: Adapted from (Stewart et al., 2016).

The N-terminal side of α -helix1 and loop4 and loop7 (L4 and L7) make up the E3 ligase binding motif in all the E2 enzymes identified so far (Brzovic et al., 2003a). Notably, the E3 ligase binding domain overlaps with the N-terminal side of the E1 binding site. While a canonical E3 ligase binding motif does exist, structural modeling studies have identified key residues in both L4 and L7 that either convey specificity or are important for E3 binding. For instance, the 6th residue of L4 is used by most E2 enzymes for interaction. Furthermore, all E2 enzymes are able to bind both HECT and RING E3s, but only the 2nd residue of L4 interacts with HECT E3s not RING E3s (Kar et al., 2012; Stewart et al., 2016). E2~E3 interactions can only occur after an E1 transfers Ub to the cysteine active site and the E1 is discharged from the E1 binding motif (Eletr et al., 2005). Studies have shown that allosteric effects, including accessory E3 binding regions, can enhance and stabilize the E2~E3 binding interaction to facilitate increased processivity of Ub transfer onto a substrate (Das et al., 2013; L. M. Duncan et al., 2010). So far, the E3 binding motif is the object of many studies attempting to identify E2~E3 interactions to shed light on how E3 ligases know which E2 enzymes to utilize and vice versa.

E2~Ub intermediates can exist in either a "closed" or "open" conformation. For some RING-E3 ligases, Ub transfer and E3 interactions can only occur in the closed E2~Ub state. For many other RING domains however, this is not the case. Ub contains a key residue, I44, located in a hydrophobic patch. I44 has been shown to mediate many key interactions. On the E2 enzyme, the α -helix2 is widely recognized as the "cross-over helix". E3 binding, as well as cross-over helix-I44 Ub interactions, play a vital part in inducing the closed state of the E2~Ub intermediate, which is the state that promotes nucleophilic attack of the thioester linkage to induce Ub aminolysis, resulting in substrate ubiquitination for some RING mediated Ub transfers (Branigan et al., 2020; Brzovic et al., 2006a; Dove et al., 2016; Lips et al., 2020; Saha et al., 2011; Stewart et al., 2016).

Nearly all E2 structures contain a conserved cysteine active site in a small section formed by a short loop connecting the cross-over helix with α -helix3 and a long loop near the active site (*Fig.* 9) (Olsen & Lima, 2013; Tolbert et al., 2005; L. Yuan et al., 2017). The catalytic cysteine enables both trans thiolation reactions (E1~Ub to E2 transfer, HECT-mediated E2~Ub onto E3 transfer) and aminolysis reactions (E2~Ub transfer onto lysine of target substrate). While most E2 structures contain this catalytic cysteine, some pseudo-E2's exist that are made of a conserved UBC domain, do not. These nonenzymatic pseudo-E2s are named UEVs (ubiquitin conjugating E2 enzyme variant) and are mostly deemed cofactors for the E2-conjugating enzyme Ube2N to aid in polyUb chain formation (Alpi et al., 2016; Andersen et al., 2005; Eddins et al., 2006; Ghilarducci et al., 2021; McKenna et al., 2003; Tsui et al., 2005).

Loop7 (L7) (part of the E3 ligase binding domain) colloquially is named the 'Acidic Loop'. Reason for this being that the acidic loop is an insertion only occurring in a few E2 enzymes that contains a combination of hydrophobic and 4 acidic residues. Research involving the acidic loop has focused mainly on its presence in Ube2R1, although a select few other E2s also include acidic loop insertions (Arrigoni et al., 2014; Choi et al., 2015; Papaleo et al., 2011; Saha et al., 2011; Ziemba et al., 2013). The acidic loop has been implicated in several functions. In Ube2R1, substrate phosphorylation stimulates the acidic loop to conform to an open conformation, which in turn allows donor ubiquitin to interact with the cognate E2 enzyme (Arrigoni et al., 2014). In both Ube2G1 and Ube2R1, specific acidic loop residues (two tyrosine's) facilitate enhanced K48-linked polyubiquitination activity, independent from an E3 ligase (Choi et al., 2015). Other studies found that the inherent properties of the acidic loop insertion contributes to improved catalysis by not only Ube2R1, but its cognate SCF ligase (Kleiger et al., 2009; Mathias et al., 1998; Wu et al., 2002; Ziemba et al., 2013).

 α -helix4 and α -helix5 (HTH) are included in the UBC domains of nearly all E2 enzymes and in most present themselves structurally in a typical V-shape (*Fig.9, 10*). Very little is currently known about the functionality of this HTH, even though some reports have indicated E3 interactions with the HTH to activate E2~Ub transfer(Brown et al., 2016; Yamaguchi et al., 2016). Specifically, for the E3 ligase complex APC/C, which utilizes both Ube2S (chain elongation; formation of branched K11-K48 linked polyUb chains) and Ube2C (substrate Ub priming) these interactions have been shown (Aristarkhov et al., 1996; Meyer & Rape, 2014; Wild et al., 2016; Williamson et al., 2009). Helices of APC2, a subunit of APC/C interacts with the HTH of Ube2S to facilitate Ub transfer (Brown et al., 2016; Yamaguchi et al., 2016). More studies will have to be done to elucidate the exact mechanism by which the HTH influences ubiquitination activity for certain E2 enzymes.



Figure 10. Family tree of the α -helix4-turn- α -helix5 (HTH) of most E2 enzymes. HTH structures are colored by charge. Ube2Q, Ube2QL1, Ube2O and Ube2Z do not have assigned HTH structures, as their structures are very dissimilar to the rest of the E2 enzymes and do not have identifiable HTHs.

The last domain to be discussed, the domain of most relevance to this body of work is the backside binding domain (BBD). The backside binding domain is present on most E2 enzymes and much of what is known about its function has only been elucidated in the past 15 years. The backside binding domain is located on the opposite of the cross-over helix and the catalytic cysteine, making up most of the antiparallel β -sheet UBC residues, the C-terminal end of α helix1 and possibly some of α -helix4 (Stewart et al., 2016). The BBD is essentially a hotspot for noncovalent, allosteric regulatory events. The most well-known BBD interaction is that of allosteric Ub. For example, in 2006 the first model of Ube2D3 in complex with noncovalent Ub through Ub's hydrophobic patch residues was determined (Brzovic et al., 2006b), and subsequent studies informed of Ub's function in polyUb chain formation and aiding in polyUb chain building processivity by E3 ligases first for Ube2D3 (Brzovic et al., 2006b; Page et al., 2012; Sakata et al., 2010; Stewart et al., 2016), but later for other E2s as well such as the Ube2A homolog RAD6 (Hibbert et al., 2011; Kumar et al., 2015) in which backside binding also determines what kind of Ub signal is transferred onto the substrate and Ube2I (generally known as a SUMO-specific E2) (Cappadocia & Lima, 2018; Garg et al., 2020; Knipscheer et al., 2007).

A notable example of Ub-BBD interactions is the Ube2N~Ube2V2 dimer that catalyzes K63 polyUb chain formation. Ube2V2 is a pseudo-E2 and does not have a conserved catalytic cysteine. It does, however, contain a BBD. This BBD can bind an acceptor Ub and position it in such a way so that the K63 of the acceptor Ub is facing the catalytic cysteine of the other half of the heterodimer, Ube2N. In this way Ube2V2 facilitates the formation of K63-linked polyUb (Eddins et al., 2006; Tsui et al., 2005; Wright et al., 2016)

Furthermore the BBD has been shown to interact with E3 ligase domains such as RING to stabilize E2~E3 interactions and activate subsequent thioester linked Ub transfer (Patel et al.,

2019). For instance, it was discovered that the cullin subunit of APC/C, APC2 interacts with the backside binding domain of Ube2C and plays a vital role in recruiting Ube2C to the RING domain of APC/C (Brown et al., 2015). Another example of this includes the E2 enzyme Ube2G2 and a cognate E3 gp78. Gp78 contains a domain, G2BR, that allosterically binds the BBD of Ube2G2 and stabilizes the Ube2G2~gp78 interaction thus positively affecting ubiquitylation by gp78 (Das et al., 2009). For the E3 ligase UHRF1, whose activity is associated with the epigenetic maintenance of DNA, not its RING domain, but its UBL domain has recently been shown to bind to the BBD of Ube2D with high affinity. The UBL domain in this case, does not function to stabilize the E2~E3 interactions and enhance Ub aminolysis to ubiquitinate substrates, instead it plays an important role in E2 recruitment as well as targeted ubiquitination of histone 3 (DaRosa et al., 2018a).

While most BBD interactions have some type of positive effect either on E2 recruitment, E2~E3 stabilization, polyUb assembly and processivity, etc., in some cases E2 BBD interactions can result in no or negative allosteric effects. This is the case for Ube2E, in several studies it was found that Ub binding to the BBD of Ube2E, in tandem with the effects of the N-terminal extension that exists for Ube2E, severely limits Ube2E's ability to form polyUb chains (Nguyen et al., 2014; Schumacher et al., 2013a). Upon mutation of several residues of the BBD, Ube2E3 was able to synthesize multiple types of polyUb, suggesting a negative allosteric effect of Ub~BBD interactions on Ube2E3 (Nguyen et al., 2014).

A wide variety of BBD interactions have been recorded for over a quarter of E2 enzymes, and no doubt more will be discovered in the future. What is clear though, is that the backside binding domain is an important allosteric regulatory mechanism of E2 function as well as Ub transfer onto substrates or E3s. Overall, the majority of E2 conjugating enzymes contain a conserved UBC core domain. However, as mentioned in this chapter, several contain either sequence insertions, N-terminal extensions, or C-terminal extensions (*Fig. 11*). These adjustments have been deemed to bestow specific functions onto each of these E2s, and perhaps the key to understanding how E3s choose E2s to collaborate with and vice versa, lies in these small changes amongst E2s.



Residues

Figure 11. The E2 enzyme family, their canonical UBC core domains and (if any) N-terminal or C-terminal extensions. E2s colored red are made up of merely a UBC core domain. E2s colored blue contain N-terminal extensions. E2s colored red contain C-terminal extensions. E2s colored orange contain both N-terminal and C-terminal extensions. Adapted from (Wijk & Timmers, 2010).

1.3 E2 Enzymes, Disease and Ubiquitination Cascade Drug Targeting

1.3.1 Diseases Associated with the E2 Enzyme Family

To illustrate the importance of targeting the ubiquitination cascade, the E2 conjugating enzyme specifically, this chapter is dedicated to providing short summaries on known diseases that are associated with irregularities in some E2 enzymes.

Ube2A

Ube2A is mostly known for its involvement causing X-linked Intellectual Disability (XLID) type Nascimento. Specific mutations and deletions (e.g. Q93E) in the locus for the Ube2A gene cause severe intellectual impairment (Arslan Satılmış et al., 2021; De Leeuw et al., 2010; de Oliveira et al., 2019; Nascimento et al., 2006; Tzschach et al., 2015; Wolańska et al., 2021). It has also been associated with chronic myeloid leukemia progression (Magistroni et al., 2019; Nayak & Cancelas, 2019). Ube2A upregulation has been found in ovarian tumors, inducing higher degrees of resistance to DNA damage as well as providing chemoresistance (Somasagara et al., 2017; R. Zou et al., 2021)

Ube2C

Ube2C is a hub mediator of several types of cancer including cervical (Ube2C overexpression and mTOR/PI3K/AKT pathway activation), gastric (Ube2C mRNA overexpression), prostate cancer (Chiang et al., 2020; Yan Wang et al., 2021; Ying Wang et al., 2021) and is upregulated in ovarian cancer cells (R. Zou et al., 2021). Ube2C overexpression is also found in colon cancers (Fujita et al., 2009). Lastly, Ube2C together with APC/C and Ube2S ensures the time-dependent degradation of mitotic cell markers such as cyclin B and securin. Studies have found that the upregulation of Ube2C disrupts the mitotic timeline, causing lagging chromosomes, and aneuploidy resulting in tumors (Van Ree et al., 2010).

Some studies found that the cadmium (Cd) induced downregulation of Ube2D2 and Ube2D4 enhanced cell apoptosis after p53 accumulation lead to Cd induced renal toxicity (Fujiwara et al., 2012; J.-Y. Lee et al., 2016; Tokumoto et al., 2011). Ube2D also seems to play a role in PARKIN activation and regulation. PINK1 and PARKIN perform mitochondrial quality control where PINK1 accumulates on damaged mitochondria and in response, PARKIN translocates to the site of damage and induces mitochondrial autophagy. Ube2D knockdown resulted in a significant decrease of PARKIN translocation, hinting towards a role of Ube2D in the progression of Parkinson's disease (Bayne & Trempe, 2019; Fiesel et al., 2014; Pickrell & Youle, 2015). Another study showed that upon the usage of a Ube2D1 bearing a point mutation, LDL (low density lipoprotein) receptor (LDLR) ubiquitination and subsequent degradation was inhibited. LDLR cell build up is associated with elevated LDL cholesterol plasma levels and accelerated onset of atherosclerosis (Li Zhang et al., 2011). Ube2D1 is upregulated in hereditary hemochromatosis (Gehrke et al., 2003). Furthermore, Ube2D3~Ub forms a complex with an effector protein from the pathogen *Shigella* and as a consequence suppress the inflammatory response during the pathogenesis of Shigella (Pruneda et al., 2014).

Ube2F

Ube2F is involved exclusively in the NEDDylation pathway. Ube2F is overexpressed in Non-Small-Cell-Lung-Cancer (NSCLC) patients and neddylates cul5 which induces the K11linked polyubiquitination and subsequent degradation of NOXA, which results in increased proliferation of NSCLC cells (W. Zhou et al., 2017). Secondly, a recent study has shown enhanced NOXA degradation by Ube2F-Cul5 activation proliferates colorectal cancer (Xu et al., 2021) A 2003 study showed a small association with genetic mutations in the Ube2H encoding region of the genome and the neurodevelopmental disorder autism. It was postulated that Ube2H mutations could be a susceptibility marker for autism (Vourc'h et al., 2003). A recent study from 2020 found that significant amounts of free Ube2H mRNA transcripts circulate in the blood in Alzheimer's disease (AD) patients when compared to non-AD patients. Based on this, the researchers speculated that cell-free Ube2H could potentially be used as a diagnostic for AD (Lim & Joo, 2020). Even more recently, elevated expression of Ube2H decreased survival expectancy for patients with lung adenocarcinomas (Yen et al., 2021)

Ube2I

Ube2I is involved exclusively in the SUMOylation pathway. Ube2I mediated upregulation of KAP1 protein SUMOylation has been observed to support the phenotypes established by oncogenic GTPase KRAS mutations, which result in colorectal cancer (B. Yu et al., 2015). Ube2I upregulation was furthermore established in bladder cancer, where it induced increased lymph angiogenesis and tumor metastasis (Xiaoliang Huang et al., 2020; M. Tan et al., 2015).

Ube2Z

Upregulation of Ube2Z has been observed in hepatocellular carcinoma (Shi et al., 2020) and a specific mutation in the Ube2Z furthermore has shown to increase the risk of coronary artery disease in Chinese diabetic patients (Lu et al., 2017)

To be clear, in some of the cases outlined in this chapter, a causal mechanism has not been established between the E2 enzyme and the disease progression. In some cases, E2 enzymes have merely been observed to function irregularly during these diseases and are deemed markers of the disease progression.

As evidenced by the widespread involvement of E2 conjugating enzymes in a plethora of diseases, through either upregulation, downregulation or genetic insertions or deletions, E2 enzymes pose viable druggable targets for a variety of diseases. More than that, there is a dire need for molecules that can specifically and successfully target E2 conjugating enzymes *in vivo* to regulate their activity

1.3.2 Evaluation of Druggable Targets in the UPS

In chapter 1.3.1 a wide variety of diseases were shown to be associated with the dysregulation of E2 conjugating enzymes. The E2 enzyme is merely a single player in the ubiquitination cascade. Dysregulation of the other acting enzymes is also associated with a plethora of diseases (Amer-Sarsour et al., 2021; Chakraborty & Ziviani, 2020; Chaugule & Walden, 2016; George et al., 2018; Humphreys et al., 2021). Consequently, much research has been dedicated to developing small molecules and other types of drugs to specifically target and inhibit the ubiquitination cascade, inspired by the clinical success of the drug Bortezomib.

Bortezomib (dipeptidyl boronic acid derivative), a 26s proteasome inhibitor that is FDAapproved to treat multiple myeloma, is commonly used as the hallmark example showing that inhibiting the ubiquitination cascade can be clinically relevant (Accardi et al., 2015; Field-Smith et al., 2006; Laubach et al., 2011; Richardson et al., 2007; W. Zhang & Sidhu, 2014a). Bortezomib works by reversibly binding and inhibiting the 20s core subunit of the 26s proteasome. Since Bortezomib targets a very general entity within the cell, the 26s proteasome, logically it would follow that Bortezomib functions nonspecifically. Interestingly however, Bortezomib can actually specifically induce apoptosis in tumor cells, simply because cancer cells generally show significantly increased proteasomal degradation activity compared to normal cells (Accardi et al., 2015; W. Zhang & Sidhu, 2014b). Therefore, while Bortezomib in fact, can affect both tumor and normal cells, cancer cells will suffer much faster, much more, and subsequently undergo apoptosis much earlier compared to non-cancerous cells.

Apart from the 26s proteasome, there are 4 other druggable entities present in the ubiquitination cascade: E1-activating enzymes, E2-conjugating enzymes, E3 ubiquitin ligases and DUBs We will discuss the "druggability" of the E2 conjugating enzyme later in this body of work.

Naturally, as was the case for Bortezomib, specificity is a major factor when formulating an inhibitor. For instance, only 2 human E1 activating enzymes have been identified so far, Ube1 and Uba6. Inhibiting Ube1, would affect nearly all E2 conjugating enzymes, E3 ubiquitin ligases, as well as the pathways they control. Developing effective inhibitors for the E1 conjugating enzyme would therefore produce a highly nonspecific drug response. However, several attempts have been made to develop cell permeable inhibitors targeting the E1 activating enzyme. Pyr-41 (4[4-(5-nitro-furan-2-ylmethylene)-3,5-dioxo-pyrazolidin-1-yl]-benzoic acid ethyl ester), was the first of these attempts (Y. Yang et al., 2007) and has since proven to be a valuable research tool to study Ube1 interactions. Pyr-41 was postulated to form a selective covalent bond with the active cysteine of Ube1. Utilizing Pyr-41, E1s role has been identified in the suppression of Herpes Simplex Virus-1 replication (Ikeda et al., 2020) and it has also been shown that Pyr-41 can induce p53-mediated apoptosis (Ungermannova et al., 2012). Furthermore, PYR-41 has been found to attenuate organ damage after injury in mice models (Matsuo, Chaung, et al., 2018; Matsuo, Sharma, et al., 2018). Pyr-41 never made it to clinical trials as a viable therapeutic in humans. Other E1 inhibitors that never made it to clinical trials

include: NSC624206 (Lv et al., 2017; Ungermannova et al., 2012), JS-K (Kaur et al., 2015; Kitagaki et al., 2009; Maciag et al., 2012; Xudong Zhao et al., 2019) and Ub mimicking peptides (B. Jin et al., 2018; B. Zhao et al., 2012).

MLN4924 is a selective inhibitor of NEDD8 Activating Enzyme (NAE1) and results in a buildup of cullin E3 ligase in cells and stabilization of cellular p27. MLN4924 has been found to attenuate several types of cancer, including endometrial carcinoma(H. Liu et al., 2021), glioblastoma (Hua et al., 2015) and retinoblastoma (Aubry et al., 2020) and is posed as a potential treatment in pulmonary cancers (Norton et al., 2021). Currently MLN4924 has entered clinical trials for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia (Faessel et al., 2019; Swords et al., 2015) and patients with nonhematologic malignancies. Aside from MLN4924, just one other Ube1 inhibitor has entered clinical trials, namely TAK-243. TAK-243 has shown great promise as it was able to induce cellular distress and subsequent cell apoptosis in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (Hyer et al., 2018)

In terms of specificity, E3 ligases are much more attractive targets for inhibition. Over 600 different E3 ligases exist, which means that inhibition of specific E3s could selectively shut down specific biological pathways. However, most E3 ligases contain RING domains and function through noncovalent interactions with E2-conjugating enzymes and substrates. An approach to inhibiting E3s could include either trapping noncovalent E2~E3 interactions or disrupting the protein-protein interface between E2 and E3. For either of these strategies to work for specifically inhibiting E3 ligases, RING E3s would need to show significant sequence divergence in their protein binding domains (Petroski, 2008). The question therefore is, do RING E3s contain enough sequence divergence to design specific inhibitors for each?

HECT and RBR ligases on the other hand, are both functionally divergent and contain catalytic cysteines. Since not every HECT or RBR ligase has the same protein substrates or possesses the same polyubiquitination activity, conformational differences must exist that can facilitate these differences. If that is true, HECT and RBR ligases might be more agreeable targets (Petroski, 2008).

In any case, several efforts to design drugs that can inhibit E3 ligases have entered clinical trials. One notable example includes the class of drugs known as Nutlins. Nutlin3a is recognized to specifically disrupt the interaction between E3 ligase MDM2 and the tumor suppressor p53 (Walter et al., 2018). p53 is heavily involved in cell proliferation, DNA repair and can induce cell apoptosis (Zilfou & Lowe, 2009). It is generally known as a tumor suppressor but in tumor cells it is often under expressed or entirely knocked out, which is why p53 is usually considered oncogenic in cancer (Blagosklonny, 2000; Petroski, 2008; Sabapathy, 2015; Shetzer et al., 2016). In tumor cells where p53 is under expressed, primary cause is the overexpression of MDM2 which forms a complex with p53, resulting in excess proteasomal degradation of p53. Nutlin3a specifically binds in the exact pocket where p53 binds, and in that way, achieves MDM2 inhibition and prevents p53 degradation (Puszynski et al., 2014). Other MDM2 inhibitors are currently being evaluated in phase I clinical trials: CGM097 (Bauer et al., 2021) and APG-115 (Aguilar et al., 2017).

1.4 Inhibiting the E2-Conjugating Enzyme and Associated Challenges

There are significantly less E2 conjugating enzymes (~40) compared to E3 ubiquitin ligases or even DUBs. However, the importance of the E2 enzyme in the ubiquitination cascade cannot be understated. To reiterate previous statements: E2 enzymes control processivity of ubiquitin chain formation and more importantly, they select the type of polyUb linkage that gets

formed. They are the true puppeteers of the ubiquitination cascade (Ye & Rape, 2009). Combined with the fact that every E2 enzyme is associated with at least one and often 2 or more invasive diseases (see *section 1.3.1*), it is surprising that so few inhibitors have been developed that specifically target E2 enzymes, none of which have shown clinical promise (*Fig. 12*) (Wertz & Wang, 2019).

Since E2 enzymes are in control of polyUb selection and chain building processivity, by selectively inhibiting single E2 enzymes, it might be possible to shut down specific biological pathways associated with certain types of polyUb chains. Applied clinically, that could have incredible promise.



Figure 12. Targeting the ubiquitination cascade. Molecules are shown that can specifically inhibit certain enzymes in the UPS. Molecules featured are either undergoing clinical testing or are FDA approved drugs. Adapted from (Wertz & Wang, 2019).

Why have few E2 enzyme inhibitors been developed? The main issue lies within the general structure of E2 enzymes and mechanism of action (see section 1.2). All E2 enzymes contain a conserved UBC core domain (Hann et al., 2019; Randles & Walters, 2012; Schumacher et al., 2013b; Stewart et al., 2016; Wijk & Timmers, 2010). All E2 enzymes (except for pseudo-E2s Ube2V1 and Ube2V2) contain a highly conserved catalytic cysteine that is relatively shallow and easily accessible (Garg et al., 2020; Hann et al., 2019; Olsen & Lima, 2013; Papaleo et al., 2011; Randles & Walters, 2012; Wijk & Timmers, 2010). All E2s go through a version of the same general mechanism of Ub transfer (trans thiolation or aminolysis reactions). Some E2 enzymes contain small UBC domain sequence insertions, other E2 enzymes contain N-terminal extensions (Ube2C, Ube2E, Ube2F, Ube2M, Ube2Q and Ube2V1). A handful of E2 enzymes contain C-terminal extensions (Ube2H, Ube2J, Ube2K, Ube2R, Ube2S, Ube2T and Ube2U) and only three E2 enzymes contain both (Ube2O, Ube2Z and BIRC6) (Wertz & Wang, 2019; Wijk & Timmers, 2010). As mentioned previously, these changes are deemed to aid in E2 functional specificity and for some, unique additional sequences can participate in the regulation of E2 activity (Kleiger et al., 2009; Mathias et al., 1998; Wu et al., 2002; Ziemba et al., 2013). In summary, due to the high level of structural and mechanistic conservation associated with the E2 enzyme, inhibitor design faces a huge issue of specificity. There seems to be no obvious, all-inclusive, and effective approach to targeting E2 conjugating enzymes.

1.4.1 Some Notable Examples of Efforts to Inhibit the E2 Enzyme

While E2-targeted inhibition faces specificity issues, there are a select few examples of successful molecules that can inhibit E2 enzymes. 3 examples will be outlined in this chapter.

For the past decade, nearly every paper featuring E2 inhibitors has brought up the molecule CC0651. CC0651 works as a specific inhibitor of the E2 enzyme Ube2R1 (or Cdc34). A specific class of RING-domain E3 ligases, the CRLs, in yeast solely utilizes Ube2R1 to facilitate substrate ubiquitination (Hill et al., 2019). In humans CRLs make use of Ube2G, Ube2R1 and a handful of other E2 enzymes (Hill et al., 2019). Ube2R1 contains an acidic tail (see *section 1.2*) that supports the processivity and formation of K48-linked polyUb (Kleiger et al., 2009; Pierce et al., 2009). Ube2R1 overexpression has been found in several types of cancer, such as lung cancer, hepatocellular carcinomas and familial breast cancer (Price et al., 2006; Tanaka et al., 2001; S. Zhang & Sun, 2020).

First discovered in 2011, Ceccarelli et al. performed a small molecule screen to find potential inhibitors of the SCF-dependent ubiquitination of $p27^{kip1}$, a cyclin-dependent inhibitor. They found that CC0651 binds with an IC₅₀ value of 2 μ M, in a cryptic pocket away from the catalytic site and in an allosteric manner selectively inhibits Ub aminolysis from Ube2R1 onto substrates. *In vivo*, CC0651 was able to reduce $p27^{Kip1}$ ubiquitination, which increased the halflife of $p27^{Kip1}$ and attenuated cell proliferation (Ceccarelli et al., 2011). Later, the mechanism of inhibition was elucidated in slightly more detail by Ceccarelli et al. They found that upon binding of CC0651 in the cryptic pocket of Ube2R1, the E2~Ub thioester (which has a weaker interaction compared to other E2~Ub thioester linkages) was stabilized and subsequently trapped (Ceccarelli et al., 2011; H. Huang et al., 2014). They furthermore found that cognate SCF ligases had a higher affinity for the stabilized Ube2R1~Ub complex, compared to Ube2R1 on its own (Ceccarelli et al., 2011; H. Huang et al., 2014).

While it is evident that CC0651 stabilizes the Ube2R1~Ub interaction, the mechanism by which CC0651 achieves this, is still under speculation. CC0651 posed the first specific E2

inhibitor with encouraging pre-clinical data however has not been improved to the clinical development stage. Due to the inherent chemical properties of CC0651, it was thought that the structure could not be optimized to improve the potency into IC₅₀ values below the μ M range. (Xiaodong Huang & Dixit, 2016; Kotz, 2011)

Another promising effort was done by Pulvino et al. in 2012. Pulvino et al. developed a cell-based assay to screen small molecule compound libraries for PKC_β signaling (Pulvino et al., 2012). PKCβ signaling is associated with the progression of DLBCL (diffuse large B-cell lymphoma) as it is a part of the NF-kB signaling pathway, a pathway that in DLBCL is constantly active (Bognar et al., 2016; Cardona Gloria et al., 2021; Chan et al., 2013; Compagno et al., 2009; Pulvino et al., 2012; Sasaki & Iwai, 2015; Staudt, 2010). An important mediator of the NF-kB signaling pathway is the heterodimer E2 pair Ube2N~Ube2V1. Ube2N~Ube2V1 support the formation of K63-linked polyUb, which in turn activates the NF-kB pathway (Branigan et al., 2015; Garg et al., 2020; Wiener et al., 2012). Through their cell-based assays, Pulvino et al. identified a small molecule, NSC697923, that was able to inhibit the formation of K63-linked polyUb by Ube2N~Ube2V1 in a concentration-dependent manner. It was furthermore found that NSC697923 was able to do this by blocking the covalent attachment of a donor Ub at the catalytic cysteine of Ube2N (Pulvino et al., 2012). Since its discovery, multiple studies have revealed the anticancer properties of NSC697923 as it was found to reduce cell proliferation in melanoma (Dikshit et al., 2018) and neuroblastoma cells (Cheng et al., 2014).

The most recent advancement in the development of specific E2-targeted small molecules, is the discovery of UbV's or Ubiquitin Variants that can target the backside binding domains of E2 conjugating enzymes. Since it has been shown that noncovalent interactions with the backside binding domain can modulate the activity of E2 enzymes (see *section 1.2*), and most



Figure 13. Workflow for the development of E2-targeted UbV molecules using phage display. Adapted from (Garg et al., 2020).

BBD interactions with Ub are of weak affinity (Brzovic et al., 2006b; Stewart et al., 2016), Garg et al. hypothesized that the development of high affinity and high specificity ubiquitin variants could result in selective E2 inhibitors. Multiple unique binders for Ube2D1, Ube2V1, Ube2G1 and Ube2G2 were identified in a phage-displayed library search of UbV molecules (*Fig. 13*). Subsequent Competitive ELISA based binding assays revealed that UbvD1.1 (Ube2D1 specific UbV molecule) was able to selectively bind the BBD of Ube2D1, not Ube2D2-4. UbV's developed for Ube2G did not select for Ube2G isoforms but showed no affinities for other E2s. Similarly, UbV.V1.1 (UbV specific for Ube2V1) only bound the two Ube2V isoforms (Garg et al., 2020).

Furthermore, Garg et al. performed several ubiquitination assays in the presence of UbV molecules and found that over all E2 activity was only mildly inhibited. E2~Ub thioester linkage formation was not blocked, but the catalysis of polyUb chains was disrupted in the cases of Ube2V and Ube2D (Garg et al., 2020).

These three examples show that it is possible to selectively inhibit E2 conjugating enzymes by targeting E2 structures at sites other than the catalytic cysteine.

1.4.2 Ube2D and Its Isoforms

Ube2D (4 isoforms) sets itself apart from its E2 enzyme family members because of its non-specific nature. This is firstly because Ube2D isoforms can facilitate the formation of nearly all types of (poly)Ub labels: K11,-K48,- K6,- K27,- K29,- and K63-linked polyUb and monoubiquitin (Christensen & Klevit, 2009; David et al., 2010; Guo et al., 2017; Huett et al., 2012; Hyoung et al., 2007; Mishra et al., 2019; Tracz & Bialek, 2021; Ye & Rape, 2009). More importantly, within the entire E2 enzyme family, Ube2D is able to interact with the most E3 ligases (Ben-Eliezer et al., 2015; Christensen & Klevit, 2009; DaRosa et al., 2018a; Hasson et al., 2013; Hill et al., 2019; Kar et al., 2012; Li Zhang et al., 2013). Ube2Ds incredible flexibility and multifunctionality clearly indicates a vital role within the ubiquitination cascade. Therefore, it is remarkable how relatively little there is known about 1) cellular phenotypes associated specifically with Ube2D and 2) the biological consequences of specific Ube2D inhibition/knock out. Is it even possible to survive without Ube2D? To answer these questions, there is a need for molecules that can reversibly achieve near complete inhibition of Ube2D and bind with sufficient affinity to show efficacy in a mammalian cell environment.

1.4.3 E2 Enzyme Family Sequence Conservation Analysis

As indicated at the beginning of *section 1.4*, the main issue with designing specific E2targeted inhibitors, is the high degree of conservation within the general structure of the E2 enzyme. The goal is not only to design a specific Ube2D inhibitor, but in doing so, develop a design that can be "personalized" to other E2 enzymes as well. To achieve this, we must establish which area of the general E2 enzyme structure is least conserved amongst E2 enzymes so that we can exploit it to design specific E2 inhibitors.

Consequently, we performed a large-scale E2 enzyme family sequence conservation analysis. We collected protein query sequences for all human E2 enzymes and performed NCBI protein BLAST runs. For each resulting data set we manually established cut offs and removed all sequences that did not correspond to the E2 enzyme of interest. Sequences for E2 isoforms were grouped together. We utilized several computational tools to remove redundant sequences and calculate multiple sequence alignments (MSA) for each E2 enzyme (23 in total). From each E2 enzyme MSA, we extracted consensus sequences. We then aligned the consensus sequences of every E2 enzyme, to produce an MSA through which we could directly compare each E2 enzyme.

To calculate the degree of sequence conservation for the E2 enzyme family in general, we calculated the Shannon entropy values for each position in the consensus sequence MSA. Shannon Entropy is a measure of sequence conservation. Relatively high Shannon entropy values represent high amino acid variability, low Shannon entropy values represent high amino acid conservation. As expected, the active site cysteine was highly conserved across all E2 enzymes, with a relatively low Shannon entropy value (*Fig. 14C*). Both the E1 binding domain and the E3 binding domain displayed relatively low Shannon entropy values (except for a few stand-out residues), indicating a relatively high degree of conservation across E2 enzyme family members. Interestingly, the highest concentration of residues with relatively high Shannon entropy values, was located in the anti-parallel β -sheet that makes up most of the backside



Figure 14. Ube2D colored by Shannon entropy. Shannon Entropy is a measure of sequence conservation. Relatively high Shannon entropy values represent high amino acid variability, low Shannon entropy values represent high amino acid conservation. (A) Ube2D colored by Shannon entropy values calculated from Ube2D sequence alignment. (B) Ube2D colored by Shannon entropy values calculated from E2 enzyme family consensus sequences alignment. Ube2D acts as E2 enzyme family representative. (C) E2 enzyme family sequence conservation. Shannon entropy values for every position in the alignment in relation to E2 secondary structures. Ube2D PDB: 2C4P. 2C4P images were created using the PyMOL Molecular Graphics System (v2.4.1).

binding domain of many E2 enzymes. This indicates a reasonable degree of divergence within that region.

To establish whether this level of divergence exists in the BBD region amongst different Ube2D isoforms, we also calculated the Shannon entropy values for each position in the MSA for the Ube2D enzyme alone. Whilst differences in Shannon entropy were not as robust (Ube2D isoforms are a lot more similar than individual E2 enzymes are), a similar trend was observed when compared to the MSA for E2 enzyme consensus sequences. The side opposite to the catalytic site, showed a relatively high concentration of sequence positions with higher Shannon entropy values, indicating a higher degree of sequence divergence in the general area that makes up the BBD of Ube2D.

Due to the relatively high Shannon entropy values for a number of residues located in the backside binding domain in our E2 enzyme family sequence conservation analysis, we conclude that the backside binding domain can potentially be utilized as a means to achieve specificity in E2-targeted inhibitor designs.

The fact that we also observed relatively little sequence conservation in the backside binding domain for the Ube2D MSA, suggests that we could potentially even design inhibitors that can target individual Ube2D isoforms. This observation corroborates the findings of Garg et al. (Garg et al., 2020)

1.5 The Merits of Fusion Proteins

One inhibitor design strategy is the construction of fusion proteins: proteins consisting of 2 or more otherwise unconnected domains/proteins with different functions, producing a multifunctional, multidomain entity. The goal of this chapter is to illustrate the viability of this strategy by means of 2 examples.

In a 2020 study, enzymatic degradation of plastics was investigated. Plastic pollution is a major issue threatening the environment currently, illustrated by phenomena such as the Great Pacific Garbage Patch (Cózar et al., 2014; Jambeck et al., 2015; Lamb et al., 2018; Law et al., 2010). Historically, organisms have evolved elaborate enzymatic systems to degrade higher polymeric substances that normally have relatively long half-lives (e.g. cellulose, chitin, etc.) (Baty, Eastburn, Diwu, et al., 2000; Baty, Eastburn, Techkarnjanaruk, et al., 2000; Beier & Bertilsson, 2013). A major component of plastic is polyethylene terephthalate (PET). In a remarkable progression of events, certain lifeforms have adapted to the increase in plastic pollution by evolving enzymatic mechanisms that can degrade plastic into soluble components that can be utilized as nutrients (Bombelli et al., 2017; Brunner et al., 2018; Knott et al., 2020; Wei & Zimmermann, 2017; J. Yang et al., 2014; Yoshida et al., 2016).

In a study by Knott et al., one such mechanism was investigated. A specific strain of bacteria, *Ideonella sakaiensis*, was recently discovered to have developed the ability to degrade polyethylene terephthalate in a two-enzyme biocatalytic process (da Costa et al., 2021; Knott et al., 2020; Son et al., 2020). Knott et al. found that *I. sakaiensis* achieves PET degradation by first utilizing a PETase enzyme to hydrolyze PET polymer into mono(2-hydroxyethyl) terephthalic acid (MHET), bis(2-hydroxyethyl)-TPA (BHET), and terephthalic acid (TPA). A

second enzyme, MHETase, is then introduced that can hydrolyze MHET into terephthalic acid and ethylene glycol (da Costa et al., 2021; Knott et al., 2020; Son et al., 2020).

To explore the potential of repurposing *I. sakaiensis* ' two step PET degradation mechanism for environmental cleanup, Knott et al. designed a chimeric protein by covalently linking the N-terminal of PETase through a glycine-serine linker to the C-terminal of MHETase, in hopes that proximity would improve the already existing synergetic relationship between PETase and MHETase. The researchers hypothesized that proximity would speed up the catalysis of PET degradation (Knott et al., 2020). They found that PETase~MHETase sped up PET catalysis significantly compared to PETase alone and an equimolar mixture of unlinked PETase and MHETase (Knott et al., 2020).

Another excellent example of moieties that are covalently connected through a linker to produce a bifunctional molecule, is PROTAC (PROeolysis TArgeting Chimera) (Sakamoto, 2005). PROTACs are chimeric proteins that are utilized to induce targeted degradation of specific substrates. PROTACs consist of three parts: a ligand that specifically binds the substrate, a linker (usually a PEG-based linker) and a ligand that can bind an E3 ligase. By bridging the distance between a target substrate and an E3 ligase, PROTAC facilitates substrate polyubiquitination and subsequent proteasomal degradation (Alabi & Crews, 2021; Gadd et al., 2017; Gao et al., 2020; Y. Zou et al., 2019).



Figure 15. Mechanism of PROTACs induced targeted substrate degradation. Adapted from (Gao et al., 2020).

Pharmaceutical companies viewed PROTAC as a potential technique to develop novel drug therapies. As a result, a large amount of studies have since applied PROTACs to target a variety of proteins involved a plethora of diseases (Bassi et al., 2018; Bondeson et al., 2015; McCoull et al., 2018; Nunes et al., 2019; Sakamoto et al., 2003; Salami et al., 2018; Y. Sun et al., 2019)

These two examples illustrate how covalently linking molecules can enhance already existing functions or create entirely novel functions that could potentially aid in environmental cleanup, treat diseases and much more.

1.6 Rational Design of Novel Ube2D Protein Inhibitors

To design Ube2D inhibitors, we wanted to utilize a linked-domain approach (examples in *section 1.5*) to create a bifunctional hyper potent inhibitor molecule that makes use of the already existing properties of Ube2D.As outlined in *section 1.4.3* the backside binding domain of Ube2D seems most promising as an inhibitor target to introduce inhibitor specificity.

We hypothesized that if we could create a linked-domain inhibitor that consists of three parts - 1) a moiety that specifically targets the BBD of Ube2D; 2) a moiety that binds with high affinity to the E3 binding domain and 3) a flexible linker that covalently links both moieties - we could block E3 interactions, BBD interactions and E1 interactions all at once. While this inhibitor would not directly interact at the E1 binding domain on Ube2D, as indicated in *section 1.2*, the E1 and E3 binding site on Ube2D overlap at α -helix1. This could mean that a linkeddomain inhibitor could create a type of "blanket" effect and by default also block the E1 binding domain.

To determine the structure of the linked-domain inhibitor we utilized the characteristics of the E3 ligase UHRF1. UHRF1, up until this point, has only been determined to interact with Ube2D (DaRosa et al., 2018a; Foster et al., 2018). Since UHRF1 shows specificity towards Ube2D, we hypothesized that each UHRF1 domain would also be specific towards Ube2D.



Figure 16. All domains of the E3 ligase UHRF1, assigned activities and binding partners.

We therefore decided to covalently link UHRF1's RING domain and UBL domain. UBL domain is known to bind the backside binding domain with a K_d of ~15 μ M (DaRosa et al., 2018a), which should outcompete any Ube2D~Ub interactions (Ub has an affinity with Ube2D of about 200 μ M (DaRosa et al., 2018a)). We also created a second-generation design where we substituted the RING-domain for an affinity optimized U-box domain (see *section 1.1.3*) as featured in Starita et al. (Starita et al., 2013).

We opted for a commonly used flexible glycine-serine linker (X. Chen et al., 2013; Reddy Chichili et al., 2013) and estimated the optimal linker length to be ~3-4 x GSS repeats.





Figure 17. Design of novel 1st and 2nd generation linked domain Ube2D inhibitors. (A) UHRF1 RING domain binds Ube2D at the E3-binding domain on Ube2D. UHRF1 UBL domain can noncovalently associate with the BBD of Ube2D. (B) Novel designs of linked-domain protein inhibitors of Ube2D, domains extracted from the structure of UHRF1. Domains are linked through a flexible glycine-serine linker. (C) Projected mode of inhibition of linked-domain inhibitors. We expect they can block both E1 and E3 interactions simultaneously.

We then arrived at inhibitor designs as shown in figure 17B: Ring-4xGSS-UBL (RU) and HA-U-

box-3xGSS-UBL (UU).

CHAPTER 2: RESEARCH GOALS

Based on the information available in the literature on the E2 enzyme, its role in the ubiquitination cascade and in the cell in general, this study will pursue the following set of goals:

Firstly, we will aim to design and successfully purify selective high-affinity Ube2D inhibitors that utilize the backside binding domain of Ube2D. The backside binding domain of the Ube2D can bind certain protein structures such as Ub and our sequence conservation analysis showed a high degree of sequence divergence within that region. Therefore, we propose to design inhibitors that take the backside binding capabilities of Ube2D into account. It is possible to utilize a structure that has a better binding affinity with the Ube2D back side binding domain than Ub, e.g. UBL domain. In the design, we will aim to make use of the inherent binding domains present on Ube2D, including the E3 binding domain. We hypothesize that linking two domains together, such as RING and UBL domain will produce an inhibitor with significantly enhanced binding affinity to Ube2D than of a single domain alone.

Secondly, we will test the efficacy of the newly designed inhibitor *in vitro*. We will also determine the thermodynamic properties of the inhibitors-Ube2D1 complex. To determine whether the design is functional, we will have to perform multiple tests. We will perform ubiquitination assays to establish their ability to prevent E3 ligase ubiquitination activity. We will also perform isothermal titration calorimetry experiments to determine their binding affinities towards the Ube2D1 target.

Thirdly, we will evaluate the effects of Ube2D1 inhibition *in vivo*. There have been multiple efforts to inhibit the Ube2D enzyme and several of these efforts have been successful. However, not a lot of information is available on the usage (or efficacy) of these inhibitors *in*

70

vivo. Ube2D is known as the "non-specific" E2, meaning it is the most abundant and most versatile out of all the different E2 enzymes. Its abundance and versatility implicate a very important role inside the cell. It is therefore striking how little there is known about the cellular effects of Ube2D1 inhibition. This work will seek to elucidate the effect of Ube2D1 inhibition in vivo.

Lastly, we will evaluate Ube2D as a potential therapeutic target for diseases such as

cancer. Based on all the gathered evidence, we will end with an evaluation on the merits of Ube2D as a potential therapeutic target for e.g., cancer treatments.
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

3.1 IAP2 Inhibition Assays UU and RU

RU and UU, first and second generation Ube2D inhibitors, were tested by performing IAP2 ubiquitination inhibition assays. IAP2 (Inhibitor of Apoptosis 2) is an E3 Ligase binding partner of Ube2D and is able to auto ubiquitinate (Bertrand et al., 2008; Cheung et al., 2008; Y. Yang et al., 2000). Hypothetically, if Ube2D is inhibited, IAP2 will not be able to auto ubiquitinate. We can therefore use IAP2 auto-ubiquitination activity as an indirect measure of Ube2D inhibition. We performed ubiquitination assays in the presence of several concentrations of either RU or UU, ranging from 0 to 100 μ M.



Figure 18. IAP2 ubiquitination inhibition assays using UU and RU. Inhibitors were added to the reactions in concentrations of 0, 1, 10, 50 and 100 μ M. IAP2 auto-ubiquitination was monitored with fluorescein-labelled ubiquitin.

We found that in the presence of 10, 50 and 100 μM of UU, IAP2 auto-ubiquitination

was blocked completely. At 1 µM of UU, IAP2 auto-ubiquitination was still moderately

inhibited. RU did not show a robust inhibitory response towards Ube2D compared to UU. At higher concentrations of RU, IAP2 activity was moderately inhibited and at 10 and 1 μ M, IAP2 ubiquitination activity was completely restored. Based on these results, we confirmed that these linked-domain inhibitors act as concentration dependent inhibitors: at lower concentrations of inhibitor, more abundant proteins such as E3 ligase can outcompete the inhibitor and block inhibitor binding. From these experiments, we also conclude UU to be a relatively more potent inhibitor than RU.

3.2 Isothermal Titration Calorimetry (ITC) and Kd Determination RU and UU

IAP2 inhibition assays can only provide qualitative information as to the binding affinity of UU and RU with respect to Ube2D. To acquire quantitative binding affinity data, we performed isothermal titration calorimetry studies on both UU and RU by determining K_d (equilibrium dissociation constant) values for each. Higher K_d values imply smaller binding strength and inversely lower K_d values imply greater binding strength. During ITC, a ligand is titrated/injected into a target cell. If a binding event between ligand and target occurs, a single injection is associated with a heat change (endo- or exothermic). These injection-associated heat changes are then compared to a reference cell, whose temperature is held constant. Based on the area under the curve for each injection, K_d values can be determined.

We fit our data to an independent model (single-binding site, no allostery), and determined the K_d value of UU to be 300 nM, and the K_d value of RU to be \sim 3 µM. These values support the conclusions that were drawn from earlier IAP2 auto-ubiquitination inhibition assays, as UU's lower K_d value compared to RU, is in accordance with the observations that UU shows more robust IAP2 inhibition compared to RU.



Figure 19. Determining the binding affinity of RU and UU. Top left: Raw heat burst curve RU~Ube2D1 in μ cal/sec. Bottom left: Heat release per mole of injectant, data was fit to an independent model. Top right: Raw heat burst curve UU~Ube2D1 in μ cal/sec. Bottom right: Heat release per mole of injectant, data was fit to an independent model.

3.3 Preliminary Inhibitor Specificity Ubiquitination Assays

Both domains that make up RU are directly derived from the E3 ligase UHRF1. So far, Ube2D has been the only identified UHRF1 binding partner in humans (DaRosa et al., 2018b; Foster et al., 2018). Since UHRF1 shows such specific affinity for Ube2D, and both RING and UBL domain are UHRF1 domains, by extrapolation it follows that RU (and UU) should be specific Ube2D inhibitors. To test this hypothesis, we sought to perform specificity ubiquitination assays, testing two different systems.

We first performed ubiquitination assays using the E3 ligase complex APC/C (Anaphase Promoting Complex/Cyclosome). APC/C is vital in controlling the separation of sister

chromatids during mitotic cell division in eukaryotic cells and is activated by the substrate adaptor CDC20 (cell division cycle 20).(Qiao et al., 2016; Yamano, 2019). APC/C not only initiates anaphase, but it also controls the end of mitosis by mediating the time-dependent



Figure 20. APC/C ubiquitination assays to test UU inhibitor specificity towards Ube2D. Ubiquitination assays were performed utilizing the E3 ligase APC/C. APC/C was combined with either Ube2D, Ube2C or Ube2S. Reactions were performed in either the absence or presence of UU or RU inhibitor. APC/C protein ubiquitination was quantified for each reaction.

ubiquitination and subsequent degradation of cyclin B and securin (Chi et al., 2019; J. Zhang et al., 2014; Z. Zhou et al., 2016). APC/C ubiquitylates cyclin B and securin by recognizing certain sequences, namely Destruction box and KEN box (Qiao et al., 2016). However, to detect these sequences APC/C needs to associate with the adaptor protein CDC20. CDC20 binds the target substrate as well as APC/C and allows APC/C to ubiquitylate these substrates. By fluorescently labelling ubiquitin we can measure APC/C activity indirectly, through detecting APC/C dependent protein ubiquitination (Jarvis et al., 2016). APC/C is able to monoubiquitinate substrates using two different E2 enzymes: Ube2C (initial priming ubiquitylation) and Ube2S (chain extension to form K11-linked polyubiquitin). (Aristarkhov et al., 1996; Kirkpatrick et al.,

2006; Meyer & Rape, 2014; H. Yu et al., 1996). In the absence of Ube2C, studies have shown Ube2D is also able to associate with APC/C to support initial substrate ubiquitination in tandem with Ube2S (Summers et al., 2008b; Wild et al., 2016).

In our ubiquitination assays, APC/C was combined with either Ube2D, Ube2C or Ube2S. Reactions were then performed in either the absence or presence of UU inhibitor. APC/C dependent protein ubiquitylation was then measured and quantified. Our results indicate that in the presence of Ube2S and Ube2C, APC/C dependent substrate ubiquitylation is unaffected by UU inhibitor. However, when Ube2D was utilized, APC/C dependent substrate ubiquitylation decreased significantly, suggesting that UU was only able to affect and inhibit Ube2D, not Ube2S or Ube2C.

The second system we tested utilized a different E3 ligase domain called Cullin1. Cullin1 is part of the S phase kinase-associated protein 1 (Skp1)-Cullin1-F-box protein (SCF) E3 ligase, which is a type of RING finger E3 ligase that consists of a scaffolding protein (Cullin1) an adaptor protein that binds the substrate (e.g. F-box protein) and an RBX domain which acts as the E3 ubiquitin ligase (L. Liu et al., 2018). Previous studies have shown that SCF E3 ligase is involved in the regulation and homeostasis of β -catenin levels in the Wnt signaling pathway. (Ci et al., 2018). Targeted phosphorylation of β -catenin can result in its recognition and ubiquitination by SCF E3 ligase, specifically an SCF containing the F-box protein β -TrCP2 (Ci et al., 2018; Hart et al., 1999; Tauriello & Maurice, 2010).

Ubiquitination assays were performed utilizing Skp1/Cullin1/ β -TrCP2 E3 ligase (SCF^{β -} TrCP2). The RBX1 Ring domain in SCF is able to associate with both Ube2R and Ube2D (Baek et al., 2020; Ceccarelli et al., 2011; H. Huang et al., 2014). SCF^{β -TrCP2} was combined with either Ube2D or Ube2R and reactions were performed in either the absence or presence of UU

inhibitor. UU inhibitor efficacy was determined by monitoring β -catenin ubiquitination (SCF^{β -} ^{TrCP2} substrate).



Figure 21. General structure of an SCF E3 Ubiquitin Ligase. Adapted from (J. Liu & Nussinov, 2009).

The results showed that in the presence of Ube2R, β -catenin ubiquitination was not significantly reduced, indicating that Ube2R activity was not impaired by the presence of UU inhibitor. In contrast, β -catenin ubiquitination activity was almost completely blocked when $SCF^{\beta-TrCP2}$ was added to Ube2D and UU inhibitor. These results show that UU interferes with Ube2D activity, while leaving Ube2R unaffected.



Figure 22. Cullin1 ubiquitination assays to test UU inhibitor specificity towards Ube2D. Cullin1 was combined with either Ube2D or Ube2R. Reactions were performed in either the absence or presence of UU or RU inhibitor. We used β -catenin ubiquitination as an indirect measure of E2 inhibition. Assays were performed in collaboration with Dr. Gary Kleiger and Dr. Spencer Hill (University of Nevada, Las Vegas).

3.4 E2 Loading Assays Using UU, RU and UBL Domain

Originally, we hypothesized that the linked-domain inhibitor design should be able to block both E1 and E3 interactions with Ube2D simultaneously. Since it is known that both RING and U-box domain bind Ube2D directly at the E3-binding site, it follows that E3 interactions are blocked. However, neither one of the two domains in our first- and secondgeneration inhibitors specifically targets the E1 binding domain on Ube2D. To test whether UU and RU would be able to block E1 interactions and prevent ubiquitin from being loaded onto Ube2D by E1, E2 loading assays were performed. During these E2 loading assays, all components necessary to go through the ubiquitination cascade are added except for the E3 Ub ligase. Where applicable, the appropriate inhibitor was also added. We fluorescently labelled



Figure 23. E2 loading assays using UU and RU. 55 μ M inhibitor (if applicable), 2 μ M Ube2D2 and 4 μ M ubiquitin were mixed at RT for 5 minutes. Time points were taken at 5, 15, 45 and 90 seconds. One reaction was performed in the absence of Ube2D2 as a negative control. Ub was fluorescently labelled and imaged with the purpose of monitoring all Ub-protein conjugates within each reaction. Assays were performed in collaboration with Derek Bolhuis and Dr. Nicholas Brown (University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill).

ubiquitin and performed ubiquitination assays in the presence of either Ubox-UBL and RING-UBL. After mixing Ube2D2, ubiquitin, and inhibitor, timepoints were taken after 5, 15, 45 and 90 seconds and samples were subsequently imaged to visualize Ub-protein conjugates. A control reaction was performed in the absence of Ube2D2 to mimic E2 obstruction resulting in the lack of Ub loading onto Ube2D2. It was found that in the absence of inhibitor, E1 was able to successfully transfer Ub onto Ube2D2 to form an E2~Ub conjugate (*Fig. 23*). In the presence of Ubox-UBL, Ub was not able to be discharged from E1 and loaded onto Ube2D2, indicating that Ube2D2 was blocked by UU resulting Ub sequestration onto E1. When RU was added, E2

loading was observed, however Ub transfer from E1 onto Ube2D2 was not very efficient as some E1~Ub sequestration was still observed, whereas in the absence of inhibitor, virtually no E1~Ub conjugate was observed.

Ubox-UBL is a linked domain inhibitor that binds both the backside binding domain on Ube2D as well as the E3-binding domain simultaneously. UBL domain by itself binds the



Figure 24. E2 loading assays using UBL domain and UU. 55 μ M of either UU or UBL domain was added, as well as 2 μ M Ube2D2 and 4 μ M ubiquitin. Reagents were mixed at RT for 5 minutes. Time points were taken at 5, 15, 45 and 90 seconds. One reaction was performed in the absence of Ube2D2 as a negative control. Ub was fluorescently labelled and imaged with the purpose of monitoring all Ub-protein conjugates within each reaction. Assays were performed in collaboration with Derek Bolhuis and Dr. Nicholas Brown (University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill).

backside binding domain only. We hypothesized that a single UBL domain should not be able to prevent E2 Ub loading.

To test this hypothesis, E2 loading assays were performed in a similar set-up as before, but now we tested ubiquitination reactions in the presence of either UBL domain or Ubox-UBL domain. In the presence of UBL domain only, E2 Ub loading activity was nearly identical to E2 Ub loading activity in the absence of any inhibitor, indicating that UBL domain only was not able to block E2 Ub loading significantly (*Fig.24*). In the presence of Ubox-UBL, E2 Ub loading activity was severely impaired, and nearly all Ub was sequestered on the E1 enzyme (*Fig.24*)

Summarizing the results from both E2 loading assays performed, these results confirm that not only are the linked-domain, specifically UU, inhibitors able to block E1-E2 interactions, the single domain UBL is not able to block E1 interactions. This means that to achieve dual mode of inhibition (blocking both E1 and E3 interactions simultaneously), the linked-domain approach is imperative.

3.5 Negative Control Identification for Mammalian Cell Culture

We determined the thermodynamic properties of both the RU~Ube2D and UU~Ube2D interaction, and we characterized their activity *in vitro*. From the evidence we gathered, UU proved to be the more effective inhibitor on all fronts (IAP2 inhibition, E2 loading, etc.) compared to RU. Therefore, we chose to proceed with UU for the remainder of our preliminary studies. To further our understanding of the efficacy of UU, we proposed to perform cell-based assays by transfecting the UU inhibitor gene into HeLa cells. To successfully perform these studies, however, we needed to identify a suitable negative control (besides utilizing untransfected cells) that would account for the cellular effects of the mere act of transfection

itself. Therefore, we designed two different versions of the WT UU inhibitor both of which contained different double mutations.

The first double mutation we introduced was F46V/P1235T (UU16). The second double mutation we introduced was F46V/M1237I (UU17). F46V is a well-characterized mutation located in the UBL domain near the UBL-Ube2D binding interface and previous studies have shown it severely impairs UHRF1's ability to recruit Ube2D (DaRosa et al., 2018a). P1235T and M1237I are both mutations in the U-box domain and were found in COSMIC (Catalogue of Somatic Mutations in Cancer). To qualify as a negative control, the mutants needed to exhibit little to no Ube2D inhibition when compared to UU WT, independent from concentration.



Figure 25. IAP2 auto-ubiquitylation levels after the addition of UU WT, UU F46V/ P1235T mutant and UU F46V/M1237I mutant respectively. Each inhibitor was added in concentrations from high to low: 125, 62.5, 15.6, 3.9 μ M.

To test our UU mutants, we performed *in vitro* IAP2 ubiquitination assays (same general format as section *3.1*). We performed several assays and measured IAP2 auto-ubiquitination at different concentrations of UU WT, UU16, UU17 and in the absence of any inhibitor. As expected, UUWT reduced IAP2-autoubiquitylation in a concentration dependent manner, showing the lowest IAP2-ubiquitination signal at the highest UU WT concentration. UU F46V/M1237I also reduced IAP2 auto-ubiquitination in a concentration dependent manner, disqualifying it as a negative control for our cell-based studies. UU F46V/P1235T, across all concentrations, consistently restored IAP2-autoubiquitination activity and was therefore selected as a plausible negative control for HeLa cell transfection.

3.6 Preliminary HeLa Cell Transfections and Far Western Assays

To investigate whether our UU WT inhibitor would function in cell, we tested HeLa cells transfected with UU WT, UU F46V/P1235T and untransfected HeLa cells. To monitor the effects of potential Ube2D inhibition, we sought to quantify the intracellular levels of ubiquitin, as well as intracellular K48-linked polyubiquitin.

Initially, we performed a western blot using Ub antibody (Ub^{Ab}) to monitor general trends and changes in cellular ubiquitin. As expected, cells treated with UU WT inhibitor did not show any significant reduction in (poly)Ub levels when compared to both UU CTRL and untransfected HeLa cells. Ub is controlled by over 600 E3 ligases, ~100 DUB's, over 30 other E2 conjugating enzymes and more (W. Zhang & Sidhu, 2014a). To expect the inhibition of one single E2 enzyme to significantly affect the regulation of the entire ubiquitin population within a cell, would be optimistic at best.

To confirm the successful transfection of our inhibitor we also used FLAG-tag antibody (anti-FLAG^{Ab}) (*Fig. 26*). UU WT and UUCTRL are both labelled with the FLAG tag (short

sequence: DYKDDDDK), a tag often used for protein purification or specific pulldown assays with very little background (Gerace & Moazed, 2015). We confirmed the presence of both UUWT and UU CTRL in our HeLa cells and furthermore confirmed that neither was present in the untransfected cells (*Fig.26*).

To get a better idea of Ube2D inhibition within HeLa cells, we looked to monitor K48linked polyubiquitin levels in the cell. Previous studies have shown that the assembly of K48linked polyubiquitin chains is partially facilitated by the Ube2D enzyme



Figure 26. HeLa cells transfected with UU WT and UU were lysed and treated with to monitor general intracellular ubiquitin levels. Untransfected HeLa cells, UU F46V/P1235T and UU WT transfected cells were tested for ubiquitylated proteins using. FLAG^{Ab} was also employed to verify successful inhibitor gene transfection. Furthermore, some groups were treated with MG132 to reduce the degradation of ubiquitylated proteins. Polyubiquitinated proteins appear at higher molecular weight.

(Meyer & Rape, 2014; Williamson et al., 2009; Yau, Doerner, Castellanos, Haakonsen, et al., 2017; Li Zhang et al., 2013).

We therefore hypothesized that if UU WT can successfully bind and inhibit the Ube2D enzyme in HeLa cells, we might see a reduction in K48-linked polyubiquitinated proteins in UU WT transfected HeLa cells compared to UU F46V/P1235T transfected HeLa cells and untransfected cells. To visualize and quantify changes in K48-linked polyubiquitin across the different conditions, we performed Far Western Assays and used K48-TUBE, a synthetically engineered molecule that specifically binds K48-linked polyubiquitin chains and simultaneously protects from DUB's and proteasomal degradation.

Most HeLa cells were grown and treated with MG132. MG132, a peptide aldehyde, is a cell-permeable 26s proteasome inhibitor that reversibly binds to the 26s proteasome and arrests its proteolytic activity (Han & Park, 2010; Hougardy et al., 2006; Kisselev & Goldberg, 2001; Palombella et al., 1994). The 26s proteasome is part of the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) (*Fig. 3*), a pathway that selectively degrades K48 and K11-linked polyubiquitinated proteins.



Figure 27. Untransfected HeLa cells, UU F46V/P1235T and UU WT transfected cells were treated with MG132 and subsequently tested for K48-linked polyubiquitylated proteins using K48-TUBE (LifeSensors, Malvern, PA, USA)(K48-linked polyubiquitinated proteins are high molecular weight species and are thus concentrated at the top of the western blot. Right: K48-linked polyubiquitinated species are concentrated at the top section of the western blot. To characterize the difference in K48-linked polyUb across groups, the top section of the western blot was quantified.

(Hershko et al., 1980, 1984). By treating the transfected HeLa cells with MG132, we effectively inhibit the 26s proteasome, and consequently halt the degradation of K48 and K11-linked ubiquitinated proteins. This is beneficial especially when performing the K48-TUBE and Ub antibody Far Western, as it will increase the number of K48-linked polyubiquitinated proteins at any given moment, and subsequently enhance the signal acquired from the K48-TUBE western blot.

As expected, K48-linked polyubiquitin levels did not significantly change in cells transfected with UU CTRL, compared to untransfected cells. UU CTRL is not able to bind Ube2D and thus did not cause a reduction in K48-linked polyubiquitin. The fact that UU CTRL transfected HeLa cells did not result in reduced levels of K48-linked polyUb, also confirms that the act of transfection did not affect ubiquitination levels within the cells.

In UU WT transfected cells we hypothesized K48-linked polyUb levels should decrease. Unexpectedly, we observed an <u>increase</u> in K48-linked polyUb levels in HeLa cells transfected with UU WT. It is unclear what might have caused this effect. *In vitro* ubiquitination assays do not mimic the complex mammalian cell environment. As such, these simplified models of the ubiquitination cascade do not allow us to study potential off-target effects of UU WT or Ube2D inhibition in general. Perhaps UU WT triggers other pathways that could affect K48 linked polyubiquitination in HeLa cells. More studies will be necessary to determine the nature and cause of this observation.

3.7 UUD1.1 Design and Supporting Inhibition Assays

Besides unchanged Ub levels and an unexpected increase in K48-linked polyubiquitin levels following UU WT HeLa cell transfection, no change in cell viability was observed. To utilize Ube2D as a therapeutic target to treat diseases such as cancer, the administration of a Ube2D inhibitor, should result in noticeable phenotypic changes, e.g., reduced cell viability. Since UUWT did not result in phenotypic changes of note, we hypothesized that the K_d of UUWT (300 nM) might not be low enough to outcompete other potential Ube2D binding partners within the complex mammalian cell environment. With this hypothesis in mind, we wanted to re-design the original UUWT inhibitor to produce a novel inhibitor with improved binding affinity and higher selectivity towards Ube2D. Two factors were important in the novel inhibitor design: binding affinity and target specificity. Based on the Shannon entropy sequence conservation analysis (*Fig. 14*) we performed on the E2 enzyme family, as well as previous studies, we know that the E3 binding domain residues are highly conserved across the E2 enzyme family (Brzovic et al., 2003b; Eletr et al., 2005; L. Huang et al., 1999b; Sheng et al., 2012; Stewart et al., 2016; Zheng et al., 2000). In accordance with the high residue conservation in this region, most E2 enzymes also show similar electrostatics in the E3 binding domain (Sheng et al., 2012; Stewart et al., 2016). Therefore, optimizing the linked-domain inhibitor at the RING-domain end was not a viable option because the high conservation at the E3 binding domain across E2 enzymes would pose specificity issues.

On the other hand, analysis of the backside binding domain residue conservation in the E2 enzyme family (*Fig. 14*), not only shows low residue conservation amongst merely E2 enzymes, but also shows low residue conservation amongst all 4 Ube2D isoforms. Therefore, the backside binding domain is a much more attractive target especially for encoding specificity.

In section 1.4.2, a 2020 study was outlined which utilized the phage display technique to create "ubiquitin variants" or UbV's. The researchers designed multiple UbV's with the ability to target the backside binding domains of specific E2-conjugating enzymes. Notably, they were able to generate one specific UbV, UbvD1.1, that was able to specifically target the backside of a single isoform of Ube2D; Ube2D1. The researchers performed ELISA assays and determined 1) UbvD1.1 does not inhibit or bind Ube2D2, 3 or 4; 2) The IC₅₀ value of UbvD1.1 binding with Ube2D1 was determined to be 65 ± 15 nM. The IC₅₀ value is equal to the drug concentration required to achieve 50% target inhibition. IC₅₀ values are not direct measures of affinity, rather, they are a measure of the functional strength of an inhibitor (Garg et al., 2020)



Figure 28. Optimized inhibitor design. (A) U-box HA (affinity optimized version of U-box domain) (Starita et al., 2013) was covalently attached through a glycine-serine (3xGSS) linker to the phage-display optimized <u>Ub</u>iquitin <u>Variant</u> (Ubv) UbvD1.1 (Garg et al., 2020). UbvD1.1 selectively binds to the backside binding domain on Ube2D1. The inhibitor is referred to as UUD1.1. (B) Projected mode of binding of UUD1.1 to Ube2D1.

Since UbvD1.1 was determined to have relatively tight binding with the backside binding domain of Ube2D1 and was also found to be highly selective towards Ube2D1, we wondered whether designing a linked-domain inhibitor containing UbvD1.1 would result in enhanced inhibitor potency. Consequently, we utilized UbvD1.1 and came up with a design in which U-box domain was covalently linked through a GSS-repeat (3x) to the phage-display optimized UbvD1.1 (Garg et al., 2020) (*Fig. 28A*). We projected U-box-UbvD1.1 (UUD1.1) to bind to both the E3-binding domain, as well as the backside binding domain of Ube2D1 simultaneously (*Fig. 28B*) and hypothesized that the UbvD1.1 would increase the binding affinity of UUD1.1

To test the efficacy of UUD1.1, we performed several types of ubiquitylation assays. First, we did a two-way comparison between second generation inhibitor UUWT and UUD1.1. We performed IAP2 inhibition ubiquitination assays in which we either monitored reactions in the absence of inhibitor, in the presence of UUWT or in the presence of UUD1.1. inhibitors, if applicable, were added in concentrations ranging from 125 μ M to 0.196 μ M and mixed with 676 nM Ube2D1. Like previous results (*Fig. 18, 25*), UUWT showed concentration dependent IAP2 inhibition, where at 125 and 62.5 μ M near complete IAP2 inhibition was observed. Around 15.6 μ M UUWT, IAP2 auto-ubiquitination was about 50% restored and at 244 nM UUWT, IAP2 activity was entirely restored. In the presence of UUD1.1, IAP2 ubiquitination activity was nearly completely inhibited for all concentrations. At 196 nM, some IAP2 activity was observed, but significantly less compared to UUWT (*Fig. 29A*). These results indicate that UUD1.1 indeed has increased potency compared to UUWT.

To get a better idea of the binding affinity of UUD1.1 we wanted to reduce the Ube2D1 (target protein) concentration in the ubiquitination assay. If we could reduce the Ube2D concentration significantly, we could achieve Ube2D~Inhibitor saturation within our



Figure 29. IAP2 inhibition ubiquitination assays and Ube2D1 titration. (A) Assays were set up in the presence of either UU WT or UUD1.1 inhibitor. Inhibitor concentration ranges from 125 μ M to 0.196 μ M. Ube2D1 was added at 676 nM. Reactions proceeded at RT for 20 min (B) Ube2D1 titration. Reactions were performed in the absence of inhibitors. Ube2D1 was added at 20, 17, 13.3, 8.8, 5.9, 3.9, 2.62, 1.75 and 1.16 nM. Reactions proceeded at RT for 20 min. (C) UUD1.1 IAP2 inhibition assays. UUD1.1 was added at 196, 131, 87, 58, 38, 26, 17.2, 12.5, 8.3, 5.6 and 3.7 nM. 3 nM Ube2D was utilized, and reactions were done at 37°C for 20 min.

ubiquitination assays. Like isothermal titration calorimetry, where target saturation is vital for the determination of the K_d value, we would be able to draw some more substantial conclusions

about UUD1.1 binding affinity. To determine at what Ube2D1 concentrations we would still observe sufficient IAP2 ubiquitination signal, we performed a Ube2D1 titration assay (*Fig. 29B*). We added Ube2D1 in concentrations ranging from 20 nM to 1.16 nM and monitored IAP2 auto-ubiquitination signal. We observed signal of acceptable intensity up until about 3 nM Ube2D1.

Next, we performed a third ubiquitination assay in which we combined UUD1.1 inhibitor at concentrations ranging from 196 nM to 3.7 nM, with 3 nM of Ube2D1 at 37°C for 20 min and monitored IAP2 ubiquitination levels. We found that UUD1.1 was able to significantly perturb IAP2 auto-ubiquitination at concentrations as low as about 20 nM. Overall, these results indicate a significantly enhanced potency of UUD1.1 compared to UUWT.

3.8 ITC and Kd Determination UUD1.1

To determine the exact binding affinity of UUD1.1 with Ube2D1, we performed isothermal titration calorimetry. We titrated 100 μ M UUD1.1 (syringe) into 10 μ M Ube2D1 (target cell) and recorded heat released per injection for 35 injections. After determining the area under the curve for each heat release, we fit the data to an independent model and extracted all thermodynamic properties, shown in Table 2.

The K_d was calculated to be around 5 nM, a nearly 60-fold improvement with respect to UU WT, which has a K_d of ~300 nM. 5 nM is in accordance with the results from our IAP2 inhibition assays, as a higher binding affinity does explain the IAP2 ubiquitination perturbations observed, even at relatively low concentrations of UUD1.1 compared to UUWT. Interestingly, the N-value determined through ITC was calculated to be 1.492. Generally, the N-value is used to denote stoichiometry (mole ratio). An n-value around 1 equals a 1:1 binding ratio UUD1.1:Ube2D1. The fact that our n-value is closer to 1.5, suggests something else might be

occurring. Perhaps the mechanism of inhibition of UUD1.1 is slightly more complicated initially thought.



Figure 30. UUD1.1 to Ube2D1 titration. Top: raw heat burst curve UUD1.1~Ube2D1 in µcal/s. Bottom: Enthalpy vs. mole ratio (UUD1.1:Ube2D1). Data was fit to an independent model.

Table 2	
Thermodynamic Properties of UUD1.1~Ube2D1 Interaction	

	Blank (µJ)	K _d (M ⁻¹)	n	$\Delta \mathbf{H}$	$\Delta \mathbf{S}$
				(kJ/mol)	(J/mol•K)
UUD1.1~Ube2D1	-1.05 ± 0.32	$5.0 \times 10^{-9} \pm 8.6 \times 10^{-9}$	1.49	-34.2 ± 2.648	44.14

3.9 UHRF1 Inhibition Assays

In the 2020 study by Garg and his colleagues, the emphasis was more so on the actual development of the Ubv molecules, rather than their functionality in vitro let alone in cells. Limited biochemical assays were performed to test the Ubv efficacy (Garg et al., 2020). Since we wanted to test UUD1.1 to establish whether it could inhibit other types of ubiquitination reactions, we took the opportunity to test UbvD1.1 also, and simultaneously compare the efficacy of UbvD1.1 versus UUD1.1. In earlier experiments (refer to Fig. 24), it was observed that UBL domain alone was not able to block E2 Ub loading, whereas UUWT was. It seemed logical that when testing UbvD1.1 (a Ub-like structure), it would not be able to inhibit E2 activity and UUD1.1 would. To assess the potency of UUD1.1, UbvD1.1 and UUWT in a threeway comparison, we performed UHRF1 inhibition assays. UHRF1 is an E3 ligase and is heavily involved in epigenetic regulation. It is vital in maintaining DNA methylation patterns across the genome(Kim et al., 2018). Its SRA domain can bind hemi-methylated DNA (HeDNA) during DNA replication. At the same time, TTD and PHD domain can bind trimethylated histone 3 (H3) in the nucleosome. UHRF1's RING domain then ubiquitylates H3, which recruits DNA methyltransferase (DNMT1) to HeDNA, resulting in DNA methylation (DaRosa et al., 2018b; Kim et al., 2018)

During UHRF1 inhibition assays, there are three main species that can get ubiquitylated: UHRF1 itself (UHRF1^{auto-Ub}), H3 peptide (n-Ub H3₁₋₂₅K9) and Ube2D1 (E2~Ub). We combined UHRF1, HeDNA, H3 peptide and performed ubiquitination reactions in the absence of inhibitor, in the presence of UbvD1.1, UUWT, or UUD1.1.

We found that UbvD1.1, across all concentrations, was unable to block E2 ubiquitination and UHRF1 auto-ubiquitination. At higher concentrations, we observed the loss of peptide ubiquitylation. Peptide ubiquitylation was restored at lower UbvD1.1 concentrations (*Fig.31*, top left). UUD1.1 on the other hand, at higher concentrations induced complete loss of both UHRF1 auto ubiquitination, E2 ubiquitination and peptide ubiquitination. UHRF1 auto-ubiquitination increased at lower UUD1.1 concentrations. Both E2 ubiquitination and peptide ubiquitination were slightly restored at lower UUD1.1 concentrations (*Fig. 31*, top right). UUWT showed similar patterns to UUD1.1: at high concentrations UHRF1, E2 and peptide ubiquitination were entirely blocked. At lower UUWT concentrations all three ubiquitinated species were restored (*Fig.31*, bottom left).

Figure 32 shows a visual representation of the mode of inhibition for each inhibitor, based on the UHRF1 inhibition assay results. Both UUD1.1 and UUWT bind both E3 binding domain and backside binding domain on Ube2D1, effectively preventing Ub transfer from E1 onto E2 itself, UHRF1 and H3 peptide. UbvD1.1 on the other hand is not able to block E2 ubiquitylation or UHRF1 auto-ubiquitylation. It is, however, able to interfere with H3 peptide



(Figure 31 Continued)



Figure 31. UHRF1 inhibition assays were performed using 3 different Ube2D inhibitors. Inhibitors were mixed with 600 nM UHRF1, 19 μ M peptide, 1 μ M HeDNA. Reactions ran for 20 min at RT. UHRF1 inhibition assays are shown as follows: top left: UbvD1.1; top right: UUD1.1; bottom left: UUWT. Generally, inhibitors were added at concentrations ranging from 62 μ M to 0.038 μ M. Only UU WT was added at 62.5, 15.6, 3.9, 0.975, 0.244 μ M.



Figure 32. Mode of inhibition of single domain and linked-domain inhibitors based on UHRF1 inhibition assays. Left: UHRF1 activity when Ube2D is uninhibited; middle: Ube2D is inhibited by linked-domain UUD1.1; right: Ube2D is inhibited by single-domain UbvD1.1.

ubiquitylation. This is in accordance with recent studies, that show that the UHRF1's UBL domain plays a critical role in targeting Ub to histone H3, by binding the Ube2D1 backside binding surface (DaRosa et al., 2018b).

3.10 UbvD1.1 vs. UUD1.1 vs. UUWT Assay Comparison

The UHRF1 inhibition assays showed us the relative relationships between 3 inhibitors UUD1.1, UUWT and UbvD1.1. In order of inhibition potential from high to low: UUD1.1 > UUWT > UbvD1.1. To confirm that this order holds true, we performed one last IAP2 ubiquitination assay in which we mixed all enzymes involved in the ubiquitination cascade (E1, 100 nM of Ube2D1, IAP2) as well as fluorescein-Ub, with either UUD1.1, UUWT or UbvD1.1. We added inhibitors in concentrations ranging from 100 μ M to 100 nM and left the reactions for 20 min. at RT.

At ~100 and 10 μ M of UUD1.1 or UUWT, near complete IAP2 ubiquitination inhibition was observed. IAP2 activity was still significantly hindered at 1 μ M of UUD1.1. Upon the addition of 0.1 μ M of all three inhibitors, about 75% of IAP2 activity was restored. Unexpectedly, at ~60, 10 and 1 μ M of single domain UbvD1.1, IAP2 activity was reduced to ~20-30% activity compared to the positive control. Since UbvD1.1 does not block the E3 ligase binding domain on Ube2D1, theoretically Ub transfer from the Ube2D1 active cysteine to IAP2 and eventually substrate should not be significantly hindered. If that were the case, we should see little to no IAP2 activity inhibition upon the addition of UbvD1.1. The fact that we still observe IAP2 activity hindrance, implies that the backside binding domain somehow plays an important role in Ube2D1 and IAP2 function, as well as E2 to E3 Ub transfer. Previous studies have shown that noncovalent Ub interactions at the backside binding domain can activate E2 enzyme function and these interactions have been shown to be vital for polyubiquitin chain assembly and processivity by multiple E3 ligases (Brzovic et al., 2006a; Miura et al., 1999; Schumacher et al., 2013a; Wright et al., 2016).



Figure 33. Three-way comparison between UUD1.1, UUWT and UbvD1.1 during IAP2 Inhibition assays. (A) UUD1.1, UUWT and UbvD1.1 were added in concentrations approximately 100, 10, 1 and 0.1 μ M. Reactions were run for 20 min at RT. IAP2 activity was monitored by visualizing all Ub-protein conjugates. (B) IAP2 activity for every inhibition reaction as a fraction of the signal quantified for our positive control (uninhibited reaction). Signal quantified for the Ub reaction in the absence of inhibitor was set to 1.

In figure 34, we show the expected mode of inhibition of UbvD1.1 based on the IAP2 inhibition assays (*Fig.33*). While IAP2 does show more activity in the presence of UbvD1.1 compared to UUWT and UUD1.1 at similar concentrations, it seems as if backside binding domain inhibition still significantly impairs IAP2 activity. Perhaps UbvD1.1 interferes with polyUb chain formation and processivity, or something occurs that we did not account for.



Figure 34. Mode of inhibition based on IAP2 inhibition assays utilizing UbvD1.1. It is unclear how UbvD1.1 still achieves moderate IAP2 inhibition.

3.11 Protein Crystallization and UUD1.1~Ube2D1 Structure

Up until this point, we have acquired evidence that shows that UUD1.1, and the other linked-domain inhibitors possess the ability to simultaneously block both E1 and E3 interactions. Merely based on those facts, we have assumed that the mechanism of inhibition/mode of binding occurs in a 1:1 binding ratio, in which U-box domain binds the E3 binding site and UbvD1.1 binds the backside binding domain. However, since we cannot state this for certain, we wanted to crystallize the noncovalent UUD1.1~Ube2D1 complex and utilize x-ray crystallization to solve the complex structure. By doing so, we would be able to determine the exact mechanism of binding of UUD1.1, inhibitor orientation as well as well as evaluate whether the 3xGSS covalent linker is of optimal length.



Figure 35. s200 Sephacryl column chromatography traces. Top: SEC trace for the purification of Ube2D1. Ube2D1 eluted in fractions 16-23. Bottom. SEC trace for the purification of UUD1.1~Ube2D1. A large peak eluted in fractions 10-15. Peak shift for UUD1.1~Ube2D1 complex indicates co-elution of E2 and inhibitor.



Figure 36. Preliminary crystallization trials on UUD1.1~Ube2D1. Left: s200 Sephacryl SEC purification of UUD1.1~Ube2D1 complex. Right: formation of hexagonal crystals in 1500 mM ammonium sulfate, 100 mM HEPES pH 7.5. From these crystals we were able to extract structural data with a resolution of 6 Å.

We individually purified UUD1.1 and Ube2D1 and combined them at a 1:1 ratio. We then ran an s200 Sephacryl SEC column and co-purified UUD1.1~Ube2D1 complex. Figure 36 shows the successful purification of UUD1.1~Ube2D1. We used the Berkeley Screen to screen crystallization conditions. We were able to grow crystals in condition E4: 100 mM HEPES free acid/ NaOH, pH 7.5, 1500 mM ammonium sulfate. Crystal samples were analyzed at the Berkeley Center for Structural Biology beamlines. Unfortunately, we were not able to obtain usable datasets from the crystal samples. Consequently, we have not been able to solve the structure of UUD1.1~Ube2D1. We will need to optimize the crystallization conditions further in future work.

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

For decades now, researchers have been attempting to develop drugs that can inhibit the ubiquitination cascade by targeting the participating enzymes. These efforts have yielded multiple successful attempts as evidenced by the introduction of Bortezomib based 26s proteasome inhibitors that are utilized to treat multiple myeloma (Accardi et al., 2015; Field-Smith et al., 2006). Within the ubiquitination cascade, the E2 enzyme is extremely important as it is in charge of multiple facets of polyUb chain formation including processivity, selection and switching from chain initiation to elongation (Ye & Rape, 2009). Because of this vital role, it poses an amenable target to selectively inhibit biological processes by blocking polyUb chain formation.

Even with this potential, few molecules have been developed that can specifically target individual members of the E2 enzyme family. The molecules that do exist, either use a strategy that cannot be applied to other E2 enzymes (Ceccarelli et al., 2011; Pulvino et al., 2012), or do not shut down E2 enzyme functionality completely (Garg et al., 2020). Historically, targeting the E2 enzyme comes with specificity issues (Petroski, 2008). All E2 enzymes contain a highly conserved, shallow catalytic cysteine, as well as a conserved UBC core domain (Brzovic et al., 2006a; L. Huang et al., 1999b), making it difficult to develop structures that can distinguish between E2 enzymes. Ube2D, one E2 enzyme family member is known as the non-specific E2 since it is able to interact with the most E3 ligases and can facilitate the most polyUb chain linkages (Christensen & Klevit, 2009; Kar et al., 2012). It is involved in diseases such as cancer, atherosclerosis and hemochromatosis (Alpi et al., 2016). Whilst Ube2D is ubiquitously active, potential cellular phenotypes associated with Ube2D inhibition are mostly unexplored.

Furthermore, little is known about the potential of Ube2D as a therapeutic target for cancer treatments.

Our studies show that targeting the Ube2D backside binding domain in concert with the E3 binding domain utilizing ubiquitination cascade native protein domains such as UHRF1-UBL, UHRF1-RING, U-box and Ubiquitin Variants such as UbvD1.1, achieves near complete Ube2D functional inhibition in the case of UU WT and UUD1.1. RU's lesser effectiveness can be explained by the higher affinity of U-box domain for Ube2D, compared to RING-domain.

We hypothesized that the linked-domain inhibitors would inhibit both E1, E3 and backside interactions and our results confirmed. Since the E1 and E3 binding domain on Ube2D overlap, the RING/U-box domain moiety of our inhibitor should block both interactions. E2 loading assays showed that in the presence of both RU and UU, E2~Ub levels decreased dramatically compared to the reaction in the absence of inhibitor. Further E2 loading assays where we compared the efficacy of single UBL domain versus Ubox-UBL, revealed that UBL domain alone did not prevent E2 loading whereas UU did, confirming that in the absence of a moiety that binds the E3 binding domain on Ube2D, E1 can interact with Ube2D and transfer Ub. Combined, we show that the linked-domain approach is vital to achieving a dual-mode of inhibition

Even though we had hypothesized that RU and UU would be specific towards Ube2D given their direct derivation from UHRF1 (a Ube2D-specific E3 ligase)(DaRosa et al., 2018a), to confirm this notion, we performed multiple ubiquitination inhibition assays utilizing two different E3 ligases. We found that UU and RU were able to prevent APC/C substrate ubiquitylation in the presence of Ube2D, but not in the presence of Ube2C. Similarly, UU and RU were able to disrupt beta-catenin ubiquitylation by Skp2/Cul1/F-box E3 ligase only

in the presence of Ube2D, not Ube2R. These studies show that both UU and RU prefer to interact with Ube2D over other E2 enzymes. However, UU and RU do not specifically inhibit any single Ube2D isoform as inhibition was achieved in the presence of both Ube2D1 and Ube2D2. This observation is consistent with the fact that UHRF1 can also interact with Ube2D1, 2 and 3 (DaRosa et al., 2018a; Foster et al., 2018). While specificity assays have not yet been performed utilizing UUD1.1, we expect that UUD1.1 will show isoform specificity towards Ube2D1. In a previous study, the specificity bearing moiety of UUD1.1, UbvD1.1, was found to be selective for Ube2D1 in competitive ELISA assays (Garg et al., 2020). This selectivity was attributed to a His at position 20 in Ube2D1 compared to a Gln at position 20 for Ube2D2,3 and 4. His20 of Ube2D1 points away from Trp9 in UbvD1.1, whereas the Gln20 was found point towards Trp9, inducing steric hindrance associated with unfavorable UbvD1.1 binding to these Ube2D isoforms (Garg et al., 2020). By default, we therefore expect that UUD1.1 will also be specific for Ube2D1. To determine whether UU, RU and UUD1.1 have absolute specificity towards Ube2D, more studies will have to be performed e.g. an E2~inhibitor screen utilizing yeast two-hybrid assays.

ITC K_d measurements resulted in Kd values from highest affinity to lowest affinity: UUD1.1 (5 nM) > UU WT (300 nM) > RU WT (3 μ M). These values corroborate our experimental observations as UUD1.1 was able to inhibit both IAP2 and UHRF1 autoubiquitination activity more completely compared to both UU WT and RU WT. UUD1.1 also showed inhibition activity at lower concentrations than both UUWT and RU WT.

When testing single domain back-side binding UbvD1.1 against UUWT and UUD1.1 in UHRF1 inhibition assays, we found that only the linked-domain inhibitors showed robust inhibition of E2 auto ubiquitination. This can be rationalized by the fact that the E1 and E3

binding domains on Ube2D overlap, such that when the E3 binding domain is blocked the E1 binding domain is simultaneously blocked also. UbvD1.1 was unable to block E2~Ub formation, since the E1 is free to bind to Ube2D in this case and can successfully transfer Ub onto the catalytic cysteine of Ube2D. It is, however, able to interfere with H3 peptide ubiquitylation. This is in accordance with recent studies, that show that the UHRF1's UBL domain plays a critical role in targeting Ub to histone H3, by binding the Ube2D1 backside binding surface (DaRosa et al., 2018b; Foster et al., 2018).

As expected, in three-way comparative IAP2 inhibition assays utilizing UUD1.1, UU WT and UbvD1.1, UUD1.1 inhibited IAP2 activity the most, followed by UU WT and UbvD1.1. UbvD1.1, while being the least potent, was still able to inhibit IAP2 auto-ubiquitination fairly well, suggesting a more important role of Ube2D BBD interactions in IAP2 facilitated substrate ubiquitination. Indeed, recent studies investigating noncovalent Ube2D2~Ub BBD interactions during IAP1 facilitated ubiquitination indicate that the RING-domain of IAP1 recruits and activates the Ube2D~Ub complex. Noncovalent Ub interaction at the Ube2D BBD stimulates a closed E2~Ub conformation and in turn stabilizes the IAP1~Ube2D~Ub complex, facilitating Ub transfer onto substrate (Patel et al., 2019; Pruneda et al., 2012). This explains why UbvD1.1 can still moderately inhibit IAP2 auto ubiquitination.

In our preliminary *in vivo* HeLa cell transfections and subsequent far western assays using K48-TUBE, we curiously found that UUWT transfected HeLa cells showed a slight increase in K48-linked polyUb when compared to UUCTRL and untransfected HeLa cells. We had expected a decrease in K48-linked polyUb. While seemingly unusual, we wondered whether this observation could hint towards a ubiquitinome that can reprogram, in other words, whether the UPS contains multiplicity. Multiplicity is a phenomenon that is well-characterized within the kinome (J. S. Duncan et al., 2012; Johnson et al., 2014; Stuhlmiller et al., 2015; Xiaohong Zhao et al., 2018). For instance, in triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC), tumor cells are able to circumvent treatments that target specific kinases by reprogramming. MEK inhibition resulted in the loss of ERK activity but was instantly followed by c-Myc degradation which stimulated the activation of a host of receptor tyrosine kinases. This series of events resulted in kinase inhibitor drug resistance in TNBC tumors (J. S. Duncan et al., 2012; Stuhlmiller et al., 2015)

Recently a similar discovery was done in the ubiquitination cascade when studying CRL E3 ligases. In humans, 6 E2 enzymes are able to facilitate CRL ubiquitination activity. Hill et al. found that the combinatorial siRNA knockout of both Ube2R1 and 2 did not affect SCF substrate levels (Hill et al., 2019). When performing a genome wide E2 CRISPR knockout screen, they found that only cells lacking Ube2R1/2 and Ube2G were lethally disabled. This suggested a buffering function of Ube2G in scenarios where Ube2R1/2 are found dysfunctional (Hill et al., 2019). To assess whether ubiquitinome reprogramming is also occurring after Ube2D inhibition we will need to perform more cell culture and proteomic studies.

Based on the E2 enzyme family sequence conservation analysis we performed, we believe that a linked-domain inhibitor approach can be standardized and applied to selectively inhibit other E2's as well, which could provide valuable mechanistic and functional insights into the E2 enzyme family. Whether our linked-domain inhibitors will also be useful in a clinical setting to treat E2-related diseases, will have to be established by further *in vivo* studies. However, the approach does seem to have potential, especially considering that the binding affinity of UUD1.1 (5 nM), resides within an acceptable range for potential drug applications. To put into context, the IC₅₀ value of CC0651, thus far the most well-known and promising specific E2 inhibitor, is 2 μ M (Kotz, 2011).

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION

- E2 enzyme family sequence conservation analysis showed the E2 backside binding. domain to be most divergent amongst across E2 enzymes, illustrating its potential for future E2 inhibitor designs.
- We successfully designed, expressed and tested 3 novel Ube2D inhibitors.
- Linked-domain inhibitors can prevent E1, E3 and backside binding domain interactions simultaneously.
- Preliminary investigations show some evidence for UU and RU specificity towards Ube2D.
- K_d values were determined at 5 nM, 300 nM and 3 μ M for UUD1.1, UU and RU respectively.
- IAP2 and UHRF1 inhibition assays corroborated the K_d values and showed that UUD1.1 interfered with E3 auto-ubiquitination the most.
- UHRF1 inhibition assays show UUD1.1 (linked-domain) has a higher efficacy compared to UbvD1.1 (single-domain) inhibitor.
- UbvD1.1 is unable to prevent E2 auto-ubiquitination, whereas UUD1.1 shows robust E2 auto-ubiquitination inhibition.
CHAPTER 6: MATERIALS & METHODS

6.1 Vector and Primer Designs

Primers were obtained from Eurofins. Primers were designed for transformation into bacterial cell vector pQE-80L MBP-SspB Micro (pQE-80L MBP-SspB Micro was a gift from Brian Kuhlman (Addgene plasmid #60410; http://n2t.net/addgene:60410; RRID: Addgene_60410)) and mammalian cell vector pcDNA3.1 (+) (Invitrogen, cat. #V79020). List of primers utilized are featured in Appendix B.

6.2 Inhibitor Constructs

A range of inhibitors were created. Inhibitor amino acid sequences can be found in Appendix C.

6.3 Cloning

Gene cloning was performed using a Gibson Assembly Master Mix containing 699 μ L H₂O, 320 μ L 5X ISO buffer (3 mL 1M Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150 μ L 2M MgCl₂, 60 μ L 100 mM dATP, 60 μ L 100 mM dTTP, 60 μ L 100 mM dGTP, 60 μ L 100 mM dCTP, 300 μ L 1M DTT, 1.5 g PEG-8000, 300 μ L 100 mM NAD, 2.01 mL H₂O), 0.64 μ L 10 U/ μ L T5 exonuclease (New England BioLabs, Ipswich, MA, USA), 20 μ L 2 U/ μ L Phusion DNA polymerase (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA), 160 μ L 40 U/ μ L Taq DNA polymerase (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA). 15 μ L of Gibson Assembly Master Mix was combined with 5 μ L of insert and vector at the appropriate concentrations. The mixture was incubated at 50 °C for 1 hr.

6.4 Protein Purification

All plasmids were transformed into RIPL cells at 42°C for 42 seconds and subsequently recovered on ice for 3 minutes. Starter cultures were then grown at 37°C for 1hr, after which they were transferred into LB-Amp selective medium and grown O/N. Both Amp (100 μ g/ μ L) and cell culture were added in 1:1000-fold dilution. Cells were then incubated at a 1:100 dilution in 1L LB-Amp selective media and grown for 4 hrs at 37°C in a shaking incubator. Temperature was lowered to 16°C and cells were induced O/N using IPTG (200 μ g/ μ L) at 1:1000 dilution. Cells were spun down by centrifuging at 4200 rpm, 4°C for 30 minutes and resuspended into ~20 mL DI H₂O. They were then spun again to yield cell pellets and stored at - 20°C.

All cell pellets were resuspended in 25 mL 15 mM Tris-HCl, 50 mM NaCl, pH 8 and subsequently sonicated to complete lysis. Cells were than clarified and spun down by centrifuging for 1 hr at 10000 rpm and 4°C. Clarified lysate was run over an Ni-NTA column, washed using 50-100mL of 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 1M NaCl, 5 mM imidazole. Target proteins were eluted using 10 mL of 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 100 mM NaCl, 250 mM imidazole.

6.4.1 Ubox-Ubl WT, 16, 17

Protein was dialyzed in dialysis tubing at MWCO 10,000 in 25mM HEPES, pH 7, 50 mM NaCl, 1mM DTT, 1 mM EDTA at 4°C. MBP tag was cleaved using TEV protease (added at 1:100 dilution). Dialysis took place O/N. ÄKTA Start FPLC was used to run protein over anion exchange (Buffer A: 25 mM HEPES pH 7, 50 mM NaCl; Buffer B: 25 mM HEPES pH 7, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM DTT. Parameters: a) Linear, 25%B, CV=10.00; b) Step, 25%B, CV = 10.00; c) Linear, 100%B, CV=10.00). Fractions corresponding to the Ubox-Ubl peak (as determined by SDS-PAGE gel) were collected and ran over another Ni-NTA column. Flow-

through was collected and the column was washed with ~40 mL of 50mM tris-HCl pH 8.00, 100mM NaCl, 15 mM imidazole to collect any protein that was left behind. Protein was then concentrated using a concentrating conical with MWCO 10,000, and stored at -80°C.

6.4.2 Ube2D1

Protein was dialyzed in dialysis tubing at MWCO 10,000 in 50mM HEPES, pH 7, 100 mM NaCl, 1mM DTT at 4° O/N. The sample was then injected into the ÄKTA Start and ran over an s200 Sephacryl Size Exclusion Column (Buffer: 50 mM HEPES pH 7, 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM DTT). Fractions corresponding to Ube2D1 were collected, concentrated and flash frozen to be stored at -80°C.

6.4.3 Ring-Ubl WT, 14, 15

Protein was dialyzed in dialysis tubing at MWCO 10,000 in 50mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 50 mM NaCl, 1mM DTT, 1 mM EDTA at 4°C. MBP tag was cleaved using TEV protease (added at 1:1000 dilution). Dialysis took place O/N. ÄKTA Start FPLC was used to run protein over anion exchange (Buffer A: 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 50 mM NaCl; Buffer B: 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 500 mM NaCl, 1 mM DTT. Parameters: Linear, 100%B, CV=20.00). Fractions corresponding to the Ring-Ubl peak (as determined by SDS-PAGE gel) were collected and concentrated using a concentrating conical with MWCO 10,000 and stored at -80°C.

6.4.4 Ubox-Ubv-D1.1

Protein was dialyzed in dialysis tubing at MWCO 10,000 in 25mM HEPES, pH 7, 50mM NaCl, 1mM DTT, 1mM EDTA at 4°C. MBP tag was cleaved using TEV protease (added at 1:1000 dilution). Dialysis took place O/N. The sample was then run over another Ni-NTA column. Flow-through was collected and the column was washed with 40 mL of 50mM tris-HCl pH 8.00, 100mM NaCl, 20mM imidazole to collect any protein that was left behind. Anion

exchange was then performed using the same buffer conditions as for Ubox-Ubl (section 5.4.1). Method parameters: a) Linear, 25%B, CV=10.00; b) Step, 25%B, CV = 8.00; c) Linear, 100%B, CV=10.00, d) Step, 100%B, CV=6.00). Finally, the sample was run over a Ni-NTA column. Flow-through was collected and the column was washed with ~40 mL of 50mM tris-HCl pH 8.00, 100mM NaCl, 20mM imidazole to collect any protein that was left behind. The sample was then concentrated using a concentrating conical at MWCO 10000, flash frozen and stored at -80°C.

6.4.5 Ube2D1~UUD1.1 Complex for X-Ray Crystallization

For individual purification methods for both Ube2D1 and UUD1.1 refer to sections *5.2.2* and *5.2.4* respectively. Proteins were combined stoichiometrically and incubated on ice for 45 minutes. They were then concentrated to produce a final volume of 1.25 mL. The sample was then injected into the ÄKTA Start and ran over an s200 Sephacryl Size Exclusion Column (Buffer: 25 mM HEPES pH 7, 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM DTT). Fractions corresponding to Ube2D1~UUD1.1 complex (as determined by SDS-PAGE gel and SE chromatogram peak shifts), were collected and concentrated using a concentrating conical at MWCO 3000.

6.4.6 Ubv-D1.1

Protein was dialyzed in dialysis tubing at MWCO 3500 in 25mM HEPES, pH 7.5, 100 mM NaCl, 1mM DTT at 4°C. MBP tag was cleaved using TEV protease (added at 1:1000 dilution). Dialysis took place O/N. ÄKTA Start FPLC was used to run protein over anion exchange (Buffer A: 25 mM HEPES, pH 7.5, 100 mM NaCl; Buffer B: 25 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 300 mM NaCl, 1 mM DTT. Fractions corresponding to UbvD1.1 (and MBP contamination) were collected, concentrated, and subsequently ran over the Superdex s75 SEC column (25 mM

HEPES pH 7.5, 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM DTT). Fractions corresponding to UbvD1.1 were collected, concentrated and flash frozen to be stored at -80°C.

6.5 in vitro Ubiquitylation Assays

Typically, cell-free ubiquitination assays were carried out in a total reaction volume of 20 μ L. All reactions contained 50 mM HEPES pH 7.4, 2.5 μ M MgCl₂, 2.5 μ M DTT, 60 μ M NaCl, 10 μ M ATP, 5 μ M of fluorescein-Ub, 1.25 μ M IAP2 and 675 nM of Ube2D1, unless indicated otherwise. Reactions were quenched with SDS-PAGE sample loading buffer. Equal amounts of samples were loaded onto 12-15% SDS-PAGE gels and subsequently imaged using the STORM 860 Molecular Imager (Molecular Devices, San Jose, CA, USA) and gel fluorescent bands were quantified using densitometric analysis through ImageQuant Software (v5.2). All bands were adjusted to reflect background noise and were subsequently normalized to the positive control reaction.

6.5.1 IAP2 Ube2D1 Titration Assays

IAP2 was combined with 20, 17, 13.3, 8.8, 5.9, 3.3, 2.62, 1.75 or 1.16 nM of Ube2D1. Reactions ran for 20 min at 37°C.

6.5.2 IAP2 Inhibition Assays

Reactions were performed at the indicated concentrations and mixed at RT for 20 minutes. For the UUD1.1 IAP2 inhibition assay (*Fig. 28C*), Ube2D1 was added at 3 nM

6.5.3 UHRF1 Inhibition Assays

600 nM of UHRF1 was combined with either UU WT (62.5, 15.6, 3.9, 0.975 or 0.244 μ M), UbvD1.1 (45, 15.6, 3.9, 0.975, 0.244, 0.131, 0.087, 0.058 or 0.038 μ M) or UUD1.1 (60, 15.6, 3.9, 0.975, 0.244, 0.131, 0.087, 0.058 or 0.038 μ M), 19 μ M H3₁₋₂₅K9 peptide, 1 μ M HeDNA and 675 nM Ube2D1. Reactions proceeded for 20 min at RT.

6.5.4 E2 Loading Assays

 55μ M inhibitor (if applicable), 2μ M Ube2D2 and 4μ M ubiquitin were mixed at RT for 5 minutes. Time points were taken at 5, 15, 45 and 90 seconds. One reaction was performed in the absence of Ube2D2 as a negative control.

6.5.5 APC/C CDH1 Inhibition Assays

 $20 \ \mu\text{M}$ of inhibitor (if applicable), $200 \ n\text{M}$ (Ube2S, Ube2C or Ube2D2), $100 \ n\text{M}$ E1, $30 \ n\text{M}$ APC/C, $500 \ n\text{M}$ CDH1, $200 \ n\text{M}$ Ub-Cyclin B, $100 \ \mu\text{M}$ Ub WT, $5 \ m\text{M}$ ATP and BSA were mixed at RT for 12 minutes. One reaction was performed in the absence of APC/C (negative control) and another in the absence of inhibitor (positive control).

6.5.6 Cullin1 Beta-Catenin Inhibition Assays

Single-encounter ubiquitylation assays were performed using a KinTek RQF-3 Rapid Quench-Flow instrument. Ube2R2 (20 μ M) was charged in the presence of (His)₆-tagged ubiquitin (30 μ M), E1 (1 μ M), and reaction buffer, followed by the addition of unlabeled β catenin peptide (200 μ M). This reaction mixture was then mixed equally with SCF (1 μ M) that had been preincubated with ³²P-labeled Ub– β -catenin peptide (0.2 μ M). Reaction mixtures were quenched in reducing SDS-PAGE buffer and substrate, and products were resolved on a 4% to 20% gradient SDS-PAGE gel. Reactions were run in duplicate, and each product band was quantified as a percentage of the signal from the total lane for each time point. The rates of ubiquitin transfer and substrate dissociation from SCF were determined using both KinTek Explorer global fitting software and nonlinear curve fitting to analytical closed-form solutions as described by Pierce et al. (Pierce et al., 2009).

6.6 Isothermal Titration Calorimetry

Ube2D1 and UUD1.1 were dialyzed into 25mM HEPES pH 7.0, 100mM NaCl, 1mM TCEP at MWCO 10,000. ITC experiments were performed using the Affinity ITC LV (Waters, TAInstruments). 2 μ L aliquots of UUD1.1 (100 μ M) were injected from a 264 μ L rotating syringe (125 rpm) into an isothermal cell containing 185 μ L of Ube2D1 (10 μ M). Experiments were performed at 25°C. The delay between each injection was 300 seconds. A heat-burst curve was generated (micro calories/second vs. seconds) for each injection and the area under the curve was calculated for each injection using NanoAnalyzer software (version 3.8.0) to determine the heat (kJ/mol) associated with each injection. The last 5 injections were used to determine a blank constant that was used to adjust the raw measurements. The dissociation constant was also determined using NanoAnalyzer Software (version 3.8.0) after fitting the adjusted measurements to an independent model.

6.7 X-ray Crystallography Experiments

6.7.1 Crystallization of Protein Complex

Ube2D1~UUD1.1 complex protein was purified as outlined in section 5.2.5. Proteins were concentrated to ~ 15 mg/mL in 25 mM HEPES pH 7, 100 mM NaCl. Samples were screened using the sparse matrix method (Jancarik and Kim, 1991) with a Phoenix Robot (Art Robbins Instruments, Sunnyvale, CA) utilizing the Berkeley Screen of conditions (Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory). The optimum conditions for crystallization of the complex were found as follows: 100mM HEPES free acid/NaOH, pH 7.5, 1500 mM ammonium sulfate. Crystals were obtained after 3 days by the sitting-drop vapor-diffusion method with the drops consisting of a 1:1 mixture of 0.2 μ L protein solution and 0.2 μ L reservoir solution.

6.8 Cell Culture Experiments

6.8.1 HeLa Cell Growth and Transfection

HeLa cells were maintained in DMEM (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 2 mM GlutaMAX-I, 10 U/mL of penicillin, and 10 mg/mL of streptomycin (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. Cells were transfected with expression plasmids using the EndoFectin reagent (GeneCopoeia Rockville, MD, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions in 6-well plates. Cells were incubated for 48 hrs. Fresh complete medium was exchanged 24 hrs after transfection and cells were treated with MG132 (Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) for 4 hours prior to cell harvest.

6.8.2 Ub Immunoblot Western Analysis

Cells were harvested using cold 1X PBS by mechanical scraping. Cell pellets were resuspended using cold lysis buffer (25 mM HEPES, pH 7.4, 0.4 M KCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT, 10% glycerol, 1% NP-40, 1 mM PMSF, and 2 μ g/mL of leupeptin) of 3 times the volume of the cell pellets. After three cycles of freeze/thaw, lysates were kept on ice for 30 min and were then centrifuged at 16,000× g for 10 to 20 min at 4 °C. Sample protein concentrations were determined using a BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA).

15% SDS-PAGE gels were transferred using a Bio-Rad transfer kit at 300 mA, 160 V for 3 hours at 4 °C. After the wet transfer total protein staining was performed using LI-COR REVERT Total Protein Stain (LI-COR Bioscience Lincoln, NE, USA). The transferred nitrocellulose membrane was blocked in PBS containing 5% BSA and 0.1% Tween-20 for 1 h. Primary antibody incubation utilizing anti-ubiquitin P4D1 mouse IgG (1:1000) (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA) was performed in blocking buffer overnight at 4°C. The membrane was then washed with PBS containing 0.1% Tween-20 for four times. Secondary antibody incubation utilizing LI-COR donkey anti-mouse IgG IRDye 680 (1:10000) (LI-COR Bioscience Lincoln, NE, USA) was done in blocking buffer for 1 hr at room temperature. After washing four times with PBS containing 0.1% Tween-20 and once with PBS alone, the membrane was dried and analyzed using a LI-COR Odyssey CLx imaging system. Western bands were normalized using total protein stain.

6.8.3 K48-TUBE Far Western Analysis

Cells were lysed as described in section 6.8.2 with 4 times the volume of the pellet size. Three deubiquitylase inhibitors: 1,10-phenanthroline (5 mM), NEM (10 mM), and PR-619 (50 μ M) were added to the lysis buffer for K48-TUBE Far-western analysis. About 1.5-2.0 milligrams of whole-cell lysates were used and added to SDS-PAGE sample buffer, followed by Far-western analysis. K48-TUBE biotin (1:1000) (LifeSensors, Malvern, PA, USA) was incubated with the nitrocellulose membrane (LI-COR Bioscience Lincoln, NE, USA) for 1 h at room temperature and then with IRDye-800 conjugated streptavidin (1:10,000) (LI-COR Bioscience Lincoln, NE, USA) for 2 h at room temperature. The wash steps between incubations were the same as in Western analysis described in *section 6.8.2*. Results were obtained and analyzed using a LI-COR Odyssey CLx imaging system.

6.9 Multiple Sequence Alignments and Consensus Sequences

To acquire a list of homologous sequences, we conducted a BLAST search using each human E2 enzyme gene query sequence, extracted from UNIPROT (PMID: 14681372). We took the top 10,000 hits and inspected each set family set manually and established a cut-off that included all hits corresponding to the E2 family member. Some E2 enzymes have several isoforms. In this case, all corresponding sequences were grouped together in one dataset. To limit potential bias in the alignment, redundant sequences were removed from the dataset with use of the MEME Suite (v5.1.1, build 2020-02-01) Purge tool (PMID: 19458158). A score threshold of 900 was used. The resulting sequences in the dataset were then aligned using the multiple sequence alignment tool Mafft (v7.471, build 2020-07-03) (PMID: 23329690). To enhance the quality of the multiple sequence alignment (MSA), and remove poorly aligned regions and leftover spurious sequences, we employed the trimming tool triMAl (v1.4.rev.22, build 2015-05-21) (PMID: 19505945). The alignment was trimmed using a gap threshold of 0.75 resulting in the removal of positions with gaps that occurred in more than 25% of the sequences. A consensus sequence for each E2 enzyme was then created from the trimmed MSA using the EMBOSS package Cons (v6.6.0.0, build 2013-07-15) (PMID: 10827456). Consensus residues at each position were determined through Cons using a plurality value of 0.1. All steps described up to this point were repeated for all members of the E2 enzyme family, resulting in 23 E2 enzyme consensus sequences. Finally, we utilized the PROMALS3D server to create a MSA of these consensus sequences (PMID: 18287115). PROMALS3D was used since it takes both structural and sequence information into account, resulting in a higher quality MSA.

6.10 Phylogenetic Tree, Weblogos and Shannon Entropy

A maximum likelihood phylogenetic tree was constructed using Protest3, which used Blosum62+G+F substitution matrix. We then plotted the tree as an unrooted radial phylogram. To illustrate the amino acid charge conservation variation at each position in the protein sequences for each E2 enzyme family member we constructed weblogos using Weblogo3 (PMID: 15173120). We also conducted a Shannon Entropy calculation on this alignment.

To calculate the amino acid (AA) variation at all positions in all 23 E2 consensus sequences, we utilized the *Calculate AA Variation* function in the R Package BALCONY

(v0.2.10, build 2019-02-28) and applied it to each E2 family member MSA (PMID: 30107777). Based on the AA variability analysis, we were able to calculate the average charge for each position in all E2 consensus sequences using the formula (K%+R%+H%)-(D%+E%). We then colored each E2 HTH according to this score.

REFERENCES

- Accardi, F., Toscani, D., Bolzoni, M., Dalla Palma, B., Aversa, F., & Giuliani, N. (2015).
 Mechanism of action of bortezomib and the new proteasome inhibitors on myeloma cells and the bone microenvironment: Impact on myeloma-induced alterations of bone remodeling. In *BioMed Research International* (Vol. 2015). Hindawi Publishing Corporation. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/172458
- Aguilar, A., Lu, J., Liu, L., Du, D., Bernard, D., McEachern, D., Przybranowski, S., Li, X., Luo, R., Wen, B., Sun, D., Wang, H., Wen, J., Wang, G., Zhai, Y., Guo, M., Yang, D., & Wang, S. (2017). Discovery of 4-((3'R,4'S,5'R)-6-Chloro-4'-(3-chloro-2-fluorophenyl)-1'-ethyl-2-oxodispiro[cyclohexane-1,2'-pyrrolidine-3',3-indoline]-5'-carboxamido)bicyclo[2.2.2]octane-1-carboxylic Acid (AA-115/APG-115): A Potent and Orally Active Murine Double Minute 2 (MDM2) Inhibitor in Clinical Development. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, *60*(7), 2819–2839. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.6b01665
- Alabi, S. B., & Crews, C. M. (2021). Major advances in targeted protein degradation:
 PROTACs, LYTACs, and MADTACs. In *Journal of Biological Chemistry* (Vol. 296).
 American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Inc.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100647
- Alpi, A. F., Chaugule, V., & Walden, H. (2016). Mechanism and disease association of E2-conjugating enzymes: Lessons from UBE2T and UBE2L3. In *Biochemical Journal* (Vol. 473, Issue 20, pp. 3401–3419). Portland Press Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1042/BCJ20160028

- Amer-Sarsour, F., Kordonsky, A., Berdichevsky, Y., Prag, G., & Ashkenazi, A. (2021).
 Deubiquitylating enzymes in neuronal health and disease. In *Cell Death and Disease* (Vol. 12, Issue 1, pp. 1–11). Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-03361-5
- Amerik, A. Y., & Hochstrasser, M. (2004). Mechanism and function of deubiquitinating enzymes. In *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Molecular Cell Research* (Vol. 1695, Issues 1–3, pp. 189–207). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2004.10.003
- Andersen, P. L., Zhou, H., Pastushok, L., Moraes, T., McKenna, S., Ziola, B., Ellison, M. J.,
 Dixit, V. M., & Xiao, W. (2005). Distinct regulation of Ubc13 functions by the two
 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme variants Mms2 and Uev1A. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *170*(5),
 745–755. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200502113
- Aristarkhov, A., Eytan, E., Moghe, A., Admon, A., Hershko, A., & Ruderman, J. V. (1996). E2-C, a cyclin-selective ubiquitin carrier protein required for the destruction of mitotic cyclins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93(9), 4294–4299. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.9.4294
- Arrigoni, A., Bertini, L., De Gioia, L., & Papaleo, E. (2014). Inhibitors of the Cdc34 acidic loop:
 A computational investigation integrating molecular dynamics, virtual screening and docking approaches. *FEBS Open Bio*, *4*, 473–484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fob.2014.04.011
- Arslan Satılmış, S. B., Kurt, E. E., Akçay, E. P., Sazci, A., & Ceylan, A. C. (2021). A novel missense mutation in the UBE2A gene causes intellectual disability in the large X-linked family. *The Journal of Gene Medicine*, 23(2), e3307. https://doi.org/10.1002/jgm.3307
- Aubry, A., Yu, T., & Bremner, R. (2020). Preclinical studies reveal MLN4924 is a promising new retinoblastoma therapy. *Cell Death Discovery*, 6(1), 1–12.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41420-020-0237-8

- Baek, K., Krist, D. T., Rajan Prabu, J., Hill, S., Klügel, M., Neumaier, L.-M., Von Gronau, S.,
 Kleiger, G., & Schulman, B. A. (2020). NEDD8 nucleates a multivalent cullin-RINGUBE2D ubiquitin ligation assembly HHS Public Access. *Nature*, *578*(7795), 461–466.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2000-y
- Barghout, S. H., & Schimmer, A. D. (2021). E1 enzymes as therapeutic targets in cancers. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 73(1), 1–56. https://doi.org/10.1124/pharmrev.120.000053
- Bassi, Z. I., Fillmore, M. C., Miah, A. H., Chapman, T. D., Maller, C., Roberts, E. J., Davis, L. C., Lewis, D. E., Galwey, N. W., Waddington, K. E., Parravicini, V., Macmillan-Jones, A. L., Gongora, C., Humphreys, P. G., Churcher, I., Prinjha, R. K., & Tough, D. F. (2018).
 Modulating PCAF/GCN5 Immune Cell Function through a PROTAC Approach. *ACS Chemical Biology*, *13*(10), 2862–2867. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.8b00705
- Baty, A. M., Eastburn, C. C., Diwu, Z., Techkarnjanaruk, S., Goodman, A. E., & Geesey, G. G. (2000). Differentiation of chitinase-active and non-chitinase-active subpopulations of a marine bacterium during chitin degradation. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 66(8), 3566–3573. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.66.8.3566-3573.2000
- Baty, A. M., Eastburn, C. C., Techkarnjanaruk, S., Goodman, A. E., & Geesey, G. G. (2000).
 Spatial and temporal variations in chitinolytic gene expression and bacterial biomass production during chitin degradation. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *66*(8), 3574–3585. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.66.8.3574-3585.2000
- Bauer, S., Demetri, G. D., Halilovic, E., Dummer, R., Meille, C., Tan, D. S. W., Guerreiro, N.,
 Jullion, A., Ferretti, S., Jeay, S., Van Bree, L., Hourcade-Potelleret, F., Wuerthner, J. U.,
 Fabre, C., & Cassier, P. A. (2021). Pharmacokinetic–pharmacodynamic guided optimisation of dose and schedule of CGM097, an HDM2 inhibitor, in preclinical and clinical studies.

British Journal of Cancer. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-021-01444-4

- Bayne, A. N., & Trempe, J. F. (2019). Mechanisms of PINK1, ubiquitin and Parkin interactions in mitochondrial quality control and beyond. In *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* (Vol. 76, Issue 23, pp. 4589–4611). Birkhauser Verlag AG. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-019-03203-4
- Beier, S., & Bertilsson, S. (2013). Bacterial chitin degradation-mechanisms and ecophysiological strategies. In *Frontiers in Microbiology* (Vol. 4, Issue JUN, p. 149). Frontiers Research Foundation. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2013.00149
- Ben-Eliezer, I., Pomerantz, Y., Galiani, D., Nevo, N., & Dekel, N. (2015). Appropriate expression of Ube2C and Ube2S controls the progression of the first meiotic division. *FASEB Journal*, 29(11), 4670–4681. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.15-274522
- Bertrand, M. J. M., Milutinovic, S., Dickson, K. M., Ho, W. C., Boudreault, A., Durkin, J.,
 Gillard, J. W., Jaquith, J. B., Morris, S. J., & Barker, P. A. (2008). cIAP1 and cIAP2
 Facilitate Cancer Cell Survival by Functioning as E3 Ligases that Promote RIP1
 Ubiquitination. *Molecular Cell*, *30*(6), 689–700.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2008.05.014

- Besche, H. C., Sha, Z., Kukushkin, N. V., Peth, A., Hock, E. M., Kim, W., Gygi, S., Gutierrez, J. A., Liao, H., Dick, L., & Goldberg, A. L. (2014). Autoubiquitination of the 26S Proteasome on Rpn13 Regulates Breakdown of Ubiquitin Conjugates. *EMBO Journal*, *33*(10), 1159–1176. https://doi.org/10.1002/embj.201386906
- Bhattacharya, U., Neizer-Ashun, F., Mukherjee, P., & Bhattacharya, R. (2020). When the chains do not break: the role of USP10 in physiology and pathology. In *Cell Death and Disease* (Vol. 11, Issue 12, pp. 1–10). Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-03246-7

- Blagosklonny, M. V. (2000). p53 from complexity to simplicity: mutant p53 stabilization, gain □ of □ function, and dominant □ negative effect. *The FASEB Journal*, *14*(13), 1901–1907. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.99-1078rev
- Bognar, M. K., Vincendeau, M., Erdmann, T., Seeholzer, T., Grau, M., Linnemann, J. R.,
 Ruland, J., Scheel, C. H., Lenz, P., Ott, G., Lenz, G., Hauck, S. M., & Krappmann, D.
 (2016). Oncogenic CARMA1 couples NF-κB and β-catenin signaling in diffuse large B-cell
 lymphomas. *Oncogene*, *35*(32), 4269–4281. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2015.493
- Bombelli, P., Howe, C. J., & Bertocchini, F. (2017). Polyethylene bio-degradation by caterpillars of the wax moth Galleria mellonella. In *Current Biology* (Vol. 27, Issue 8, pp. R292–R293).
 Cell Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.02.060
- Bondeson, D. P., Mares, A., Smith, I. E. D., Ko, E., Campos, S., Miah, A. H., Mulholland, K. E., Routly, N., Buckley, D. L., Gustafson, J. L., Zinn, N., Grandi, P., Shimamura, S., Bergamini, G., Faelth-Savitski, M., Bantscheff, M., Cox, C., Gordon, D. A., Willard, R. R., ... Crews, C. M. (2015). Catalytic in vivo protein knockdown by small-molecule PROTACs. *Nature Chemical Biology*, *11*(8), 611–617. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.1858
- Borodovsky, A., Kessler, B. M., Casagrande, R., Overkleeft, H. S., Wilkinson, K. D., & Ploegh,
 H. L. (2001). A novel active site-directed probe specific for deubiquitylating enzymes
 reveals proteasome association of USP14. *EMBO Journal*, 20(18), 5187–5196.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/20.18.5187
- Branigan, E., Carlos Penedo, J., & Hay, R. T. (2020). Ubiquitin transfer by a RING E3 ligase occurs from a closed E2~ubiquitin conformation. *Nature Communications*, 11(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16666-y

- Branigan, E., Plechanovová, A., Jaffray, E. G., Naismith, J. H., & Hay, R. T. (2015). Structural basis for the RING-catalyzed synthesis of K63-linked ubiquitin chains. *Nature Structural* and Molecular Biology, 22(8), 597–602. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.3052
- Brown, N. G., VanderLinden, R., Watson, E. R., Qiao, R., Grace, C. R. R., Yamaguchi, M.,
 Weissmann, F., Frye, J. J., Dube, P., Cho, S. E., Actis, M. L., Rodrigues, P., Fujii, N.,
 Peters, J. M., Stark, H., & Schulman, B. A. (2015). RING E3 mechanism for ubiquitin
 ligation to a disordered substrate visualized for human anaphase-promoting complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *112*(17),
 5272–5279. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1504161112
- Brown, N. G., VanderLinden, R., Watson, E. R., Weissmann, F., Ordureau, A., Wu, K. P.,
 Zhang, W., Yu, S., Mercredi, P. Y., Harrison, J. S., Davidson, I. F., Qiao, R., Lu, Y., Dube,
 P., Brunner, M. R., Grace, C. R. R., Miller, D. J., Haselbach, D., Jarvis, M. A., ...
 Schulman, B. A. (2016). Dual RING E3 architectures regulate multiubiquitination and
 ubiquitin chain elongation by APC/C. *Cell*, *165*(6), 1440–1453.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.037
- Brunner, I., Fischer, M., Rüthi, J., Stierli, B., & Frey, B. (2018). Ability of fungi isolated from plastic debris floating in the shoreline of a lake to degrade plastics. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0202047
- Brzovic, P. S., Keeffe, J. R., Nishikawa, H., Miyamoto, K., Fox, D., Fukuda, M., Ohta, T., & Klevit, R. (2003a). Binding and recognition in the assembly of an active BRCA1/BARD1 ubiquitin-ligase complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(10), 5646–5651. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0836054100

Brzovic, P. S., Keeffe, J. R., Nishikawa, H., Miyamoto, K., Fox, D., Fukuda, M., Ohta, T., & Klevit, R. (2003b). Binding and recognition in the assembly of an active BRCA1/BARD1 ubiquitin-ligase complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(10), 5646–5651. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0836054100

Brzovic, P. S., Lissounov, A., Christensen, D. E., Hoyt, D. W., & Klevit, R. E. (2006a). A UbcH5/ubiquitin noncovalent complex is required for processive BRCA1-directed ubiquitination. *Molecular Cell*, 21(6), 873–880. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2006.02.008

- Brzovic, P. S., Lissounov, A., Christensen, D. E., Hoyt, D. W., & Klevit, R. E. (2006b). A UbcH5/ubiquitin noncovalent complex is required for processive BRCA1-directed ubiquitination. *Molecular Cell*, 21(6), 873–880. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2006.02.008
- Buetow, L., & Huang, D. T. (2016). Structural insights into the catalysis and regulation of E3 ubiquitin ligases. In *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* (Vol. 17, Issue 10, pp. 626–642). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2016.91
- Cadwell, K., & Coscoy, L. (2005). Ubiquitination on nonlysine residues by a viral E3 ubiquitin ligase. *Science*, *309*(5731), 127–130. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1110340
- Cappadocia, L., & Lima, C. D. (2018). Ubiquitin-like Protein Conjugation: Structures,
 Chemistry, and Mechanism. In *Chemical Reviews* (Vol. 118, Issue 3, pp. 889–918).
 American Chemical Society. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.6b00737
- Cardona Gloria, Y., Bernhart, S. H., Fillinger, S., Wolz, O.-O., Dickhöfer, S., Admard, J., Ossowski, S., Nahnsen, S., Siebert, R., & Weber, A. N. R. (2021). Absence of Non-Canonical, Inhibitory MYD88 Splice Variants in B Cell Lymphomas Correlates With

Sustained NF-κB Signaling. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.616451

- Ceccarelli, D. F., Tang, X., Pelletier, B., Orlicky, S., Xie, W., Plantevin, V., Neculai, D., Chou,
 Y. C., Ogunjimi, A., Al-Hakim, A., Varelas, X., Koszela, J., Wasney, G. A., Vedadi, M.,
 Dhe-Paganon, S., Cox, S., Xu, S., Lopez-Girona, A., Mercurio, F., ... Sicheri, F. (2011). An allosteric inhibitor of the human Cdc34 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme. *Cell*, *145*(7), 1075–1087. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.05.039
- Chakraborty, J., & Ziviani, E. (2020). Deubiquitinating Enzymes in Parkinson's Disease. In *Frontiers in Physiology* (Vol. 11, p. 535). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.00535
- Chan, W., Schaffer, T. B., & Pomerantz, J. L. (2013). A Quantitative Signaling Screen Identifies CARD11 Mutations in the CARD and LATCH Domains That Induce Bcl10 Ubiquitination and Human Lymphoma Cell Survival. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 33(2), 429–443. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.00850-12
- Chaugule, V. K., & Walden, H. (2016). Specificity and disease in the ubiquitin system. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, *44*(1), 212–227. https://doi.org/10.1042/BST20150209
- Chen, X., Zaro, J. L., & Shen, W. C. (2013). Fusion protein linkers: Property, design and functionality. In *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* (Vol. 65, Issue 10, pp. 1357–1369). NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2012.09.039
- Chen, Z. J., Parent, L., & Maniatis, T. (1996). Site-specific phosphorylation of IκBα by a novel ubiquitination- dependent protein kinase activity. *Cell*, *84*(6), 853–862. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81064-8

- Chen, Zhijian J. (2005). Ubiquitin signalling in the NF-κB pathway. In *Nature Cell Biology* (Vol. 7, Issue 8, pp. 758–765). NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb0805-758
- Cheng, J., Fan, Y.-H., Xu, X., Zhang, H., Dou, J., Tang, Y., Zhong, X., Rojas, Y., Yu, Y., Zhao, Y., Vasudevan, S. A., Zhang, H., Nuchtern, J. G., Kim, E. S., Chen, X., Lu, F., & Yang, J. (2014). A small-molecule inhibitor of UBE2N induces neuroblastoma cell death via activation of p53 and JNK pathways. *Cell Death & Disease*, *5*(2), e1079. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2014.54
- Cheung, H. H., Plenchette, S., Kern, C. J., Mahoney, D. J., & Korneluk, R. G. (2008). The RING domain of cIAP1 mediates the degradation of RING-bearing inhibitor of apoptosis proteins by distinct pathways. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 19(7), 2729–2740. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E08-01-0107
- Chi, J. (Jack), Li, H., Zhou, Z., Izquierdo-Ferrer, J., Xue, Y., Wavelet, C. M., Schiltz, G. E., Zhang, B., Cristofanilli, M., Lu, X., Bahar, I., & Wan, Y. (2019). A novel strategy to block mitotic progression for targeted therapy. *EBioMedicine*, 49, 40–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.10.013
- Chiang, A.-J., Li, C.-J., Tsui, K.-H., Chang, C., Chang, Y.-C. I., Chen, L.-W., Chang, T.-H., & Sheu, J. J.-C. (2020). UBE2C Drives Human Cervical Cancer Progression and Is Positively Modulated by mTOR. *Biomolecules*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/biom11010037
- Choi, Y. S., Lee, Y. J., Lee, S. Y., Shi, L., Ha, J. H., Cheong, H. K., Cheong, C., Cohen, R. E., & Ryu, K. S. (2015). Differential ubiquitin binding by the acidic loops of Ube2g1 and Ube2r1 enzymes distinguishes their Lys-48-ubiquitylation activities. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 290(4), 2251–2263. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.624809

Christensen, D. E., & Klevit, R. E. (2009). Dynamic interactions of proteins in complex networks: Identifying the complete set of interacting E2s for functional investigation of E3dependent protein ubiquitination. In *FEBS Journal* (Vol. 276, Issue 19, pp. 5381–5389).
NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07249.x

Ci, Y., Li, X., Chen, M., Zhong, J., North, B. J., Inuzuka, H., He, X., Li, Y., Guo, J., & Dai, X. (2018). SCFβ-TRCP E3 ubiquitin ligase targets the tumor suppressor ZNRF3 for ubiquitination and degradation. *Protein and Cell*, *9*(10), 879–889. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13238-018-0510-2

- Ciechanover, A., & Schwartz, A. L. (1998). The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway: The complexity and myriad functions of proteins death. In *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* (Vol. 95, Issue 6, pp. 2727–2730). National Academy of Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.6.2727
- Compagno, M., Lim, W. K., Grunn, A., Nandula, S. V., Brahmachary, M., Shen, Q., Bertoni, F., Ponzoni, M., Scandurra, M., Califano, A., Bhagat, G., Chadburn, A., Dalla-Favera, R., & Pasqualucci, L. (2009). Mutations of multiple genes cause deregulation of NF-B in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Nature*, 459(7247), 717–721. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07968
- Cotton, T. R., & Lechtenberg, B. C. (2020). Chain reactions: molecular mechanisms of RBR ubiquitin ligases. In *Biochemical Society Transactions* (Vol. 48, Issue 4, pp. 1737–1750).
 Portland Press Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1042/BST20200237
- Cózar, A., Echevarría, F., González-Gordillo, J. I., Irigoien, X., Úbeda, B., Hernández-León, S., Palma, Á. T., Navarro, S., García-de-Lomas, J., Ruiz, A., Fernández-de-Puelles, M. L., & Duarte, C. M. (2014). Plastic debris in the open ocean. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(28), 10239–10244.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1314705111

- da Costa, C. H. S., dos Santos, A. M., Alves, C. N., Martí, S., Moliner, V., Santana, K., & Lameira, J. (2021). Assessment of the PETase conformational changes induced by poly(ethylene terephthalate) binding. *Proteins: Structure, Function and Bioinformatics*. https://doi.org/10.1002/prot.26155
- DaRosa, P. A., Harrison, J. S., Zelter, A., Davis, T. N., Brzovic, P., Kuhlman, B., & Klevit, R. E. (2018a). A Bifunctional Role for the UHRF1 UBL Domain in the Control of Hemimethylated DNA-Dependent Histone Ubiquitylation. *Molecular Cell*, 72(4), 753-765.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2018.09.029
- DaRosa, P. A., Harrison, J. S., Zelter, A., Davis, T. N., Brzovic, P., Kuhlman, B., & Klevit, R. E. (2018b). A Bifunctional Role for the UHRF1 UBL Domain in the Control of Hemimethylated DNA-Dependent Histone Ubiquitylation. *Molecular Cell*, 72(4), 753-765.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2018.09.029
- Das, R., Liang, Y. H., Mariano, J., Li, J., Huang, T., King, A., Tarasov, S. G., Weissman, A. M., Ji, X., & Byrd, R. A. (2013). Allosteric regulation of E2:E3 interactions promote a processive ubiquitination machine. *EMBO Journal*, *32*(18), 2504–2516. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2013.174
- Das, R., Mariano, J., Tsai, Y. C., Kalathur, R. C., Kostova, Z., Li, J., Tarasov, S. G., McFeeters,
 R. L., Altieri, A. S., Ji, X., Byrd, R. A., & Weissman, A. M. (2009). Allosteric Activation of
 E2-RING Finger-Mediated Ubiquitylation by a Structurally Defined Specific E2-Binding
 Region of gp78. *Molecular Cell*, 34(6), 674–685.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2009.05.010

- David, Y., Ziv, T., Admon, A., & Navon, A. (2010). The E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes direct polyubiquitination to preferred lysines. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(12), 8595–8604. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.089003
- de Jong, A., Merkx, R., Berlin, I., Rodenko, B., Wijdeven, R. H. M., El Atmioui, D., Yalçin, Z., Robson, C. N., Neefjes, J. J., & Ovaa, H. (2012). Ubiquitin-Based Probes Prepared by Total Synthesis To Profile the Activity of Deubiquitinating Enzymes. *ChemBioChem*, *13*(15), 2251–2258. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic.201200497
- De Leeuw, N., Bulk, S., Green, A., Jaeckle-Santos, L., Baker, L. A., Zinn, A. R., Kleefstra, T., Van Der Smagt, J. J., Vianne Morgante, A. M., De Vries, B. B. A., Van Bokhoven, H., & De Brouwer, A. P. M. (2010). UBE2A deficiency syndrome: Mild to severe intellectual disability accompanied by seizures, absent speech, urogenital, and skin anomalies in male patients. *American Journal of Medical Genetics, Part A*, *152 A*(12), 3084–3090. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.33743
- de Oliveira, J. F., do Prado, P. F. V., da Costa, S. S., Sforça, M. L., Canateli, C., Ranzani, A. T., Maschietto, M., de Oliveira, P. S. L., Otto, P. A., Klevit, R. E., Krepischi, A. C. V., Rosenberg, C., & Franchini, K. G. (2019). Mechanistic insights revealed by a UBE2A mutation linked to intellectual disability. *Nature Chemical Biology*, *15*(1), 62–70. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-018-0177-2
- Deng, L., Meng, T., Chen, L., Wei, W., & Wang, P. (2020). The role of ubiquitination in tumorigenesis and targeted drug discovery. In *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy* (Vol. 5, Issue 1, pp. 1–28). Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-0107-0
- Deshaies, R. J., & Joazeiro, C. A. P. (2009). RING domain E3 ubiquitin ligases. In *Annual Review of Biochemistry* (Vol. 78, pp. 399–434). Annu Rev Biochem.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.78.101807.093809

- Dikshit, A., Jin, Y. J., Degan, S., Hwang, J., Foster, M. W., Li, C. Y., & Zhang, J. Y. (2018).
 UBE2n promotes melanoma growth via MEK/FRA1/SOX10 signaling. *Cancer Research*, 78(22), 6462–6472. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-1040
- Dove, K. K., Stieglitz, B., Duncan, E. D., Rittinger, K., & Klevit, R. E. (2016). Molecular insights into RBR E3 ligase ubiquitin transfer mechanisms . *EMBO Reports*, 17(8), 1221– 1235. https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201642641
- Duncan, J. S., Whittle, M. C., Nakamura, K., Abell, A. N., Midland, A. A., Zawistowski, J. S., Johnson, N. L., Granger, D. A., Jordan, N. V., Darr, D. B., Usary, J., Kuan, P. F., Smalley, D. M., Major, B., He, X., Hoadley, K. A., Zhou, B., Sharpless, N. E., Perou, C. M., ... Johnson, G. L. (2012). Dynamic reprogramming of the kinome in response to targeted MEK inhibition in triple-negative breast cancer. *Cell*, *149*(2), 307–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.02.053
- Duncan, L. M., Nathan, J. A., & Lehner, P. J. (2010). Stabilization of an E3 Ligase–E2– Ubiquitin Complex Increases Cell Surface MHC Class I Expression. *The Journal of Immunology*, 184(12), 6978–6985. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0904154
- Durfee, L. A., Kelley, M. L., & Huibregtse, J. M. (2008). The basis for selective E1-E2 interactions in the ISG15 conjugation system. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *283*(35), 23895–23902. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M804069200
- Eddins, M. J., Carlile, C. M., Gomez, K. M., Pickart, C. M., & Wolberger, C. (2006). Mms2-Ubc13 covalently bound to ubiquitin reveals the structural basis of linkage-specific polyubiquitin chain formation. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, *13*(10), 915–920. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb1148

- Eletr, Z. M., Huang, D. T., Duda, D. M., Schulman, B. A., & Kuhlman, B. (2005). E2 conjugating enzymes must disengage from their E1 enzymes before E3-dependent ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like transfer. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, *12*(10), 933–934. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb984
- Faessel, H. M., Mould, D. R., Zhou, X., Faller, D. V., Sedarati, F., & Venkatakrishnan, K. (2019). Population pharmacokinetics of pevonedistat alone or in combination with standard of care in patients with solid tumours or haematological malignancies. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 85(11), 2568–2579. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.14078
- Ferreira, J. V., Soares, A. R., Ramalho, J. S., Pereira, P., & Girao, H. (2015). K63 linked ubiquitin chain formation is a signal for HIF1A degradation by Chaperone-Mediated Autophagy. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep10210
- Field-Smith, A., Morgan, G. J., & Davies, F. E. (2006). Bortezomib (VelcadeTM) in the treatment of multiple myeloma. In *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management* (Vol. 2, Issue 3, pp. 271–279). Dove Press. https://doi.org/10.2147/tcrm.2006.2.3.271
- Fiesel, F. C., Moussaud-Lamodière, E. L., Ando, M., & Springer, W. (2014). A specific subset of E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes regulate Parkin activation and mitophagy differently. *Journal of Cell Science*, *127*(16), 3488–3504. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.147520
- Foster, B. M., Stolz, P., Mulholland, C. B., Montoya, A., Kramer, H., Bultmann, S., & Bartke, T. (2018). Critical Role of the UBL Domain in Stimulating the E3 Ubiquitin Ligase Activity of UHRF1 toward Chromatin. *Molecular Cell*, 72(4), 739-752.e9.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2018.09.028
- French, M. E., Koehler, C. F., & Hunter, T. (2021). Emerging functions of branched ubiquitin chains. In *Cell Discovery* (Vol. 7, Issue 1, p. 6). Springer Nature.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41421-020-00237-y

- Fuchs, A. C. D., Maldoner, L., Wojtynek, M., Hartmann, M. D., & Martin, J. (2018). Rpn11mediated ubiquitin processing in an ancestral archaeal ubiquitination system. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05198-1
- Fujita, T., Ikeda, H., Taira, N., Hatoh, S., Naito, M., & Doihara, H. (2009). Overexpression of UbcH10 alternates the cell cycle profile and accelerate the tumor proliferation in colon cancer. *BMC Cancer*, 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-9-87
- Fujiwara, Y., Lee, J. Y., Tokumoto, M., & Satoh, M. (2012). Cadmium renal toxicity via apoptotic pathways. In *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin* (Vol. 35, Issue 11, pp. 1892–1897). https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.b212014
- Gadd, M. S., Testa, A., Lucas, X., Chan, K. H., Chen, W., Lamont, D. J., Zengerle, M., & Ciulli, A. (2017). Structural basis of PROTAC cooperative recognition for selective protein degradation. *Nature Chemical Biology*, *13*(5), 514–521. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2329
- Gao, H., Sun, X., & Rao, Y. (2020). PROTAC Technology: Opportunities and Challenges. In ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters (Vol. 11, Issue 3, pp. 237–240). American Chemical Society. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.9b00597
- Garg, P., Ceccarelli, D. F., Keszei, A. F., Kurinov, I., Sicheri, F., & Sidhu, S. S. (2020). Structural and Functional Analysis of Ubiquitin-based Inhibitors That Target the Backsides of E2 Enzymes. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 432(4), 952–966. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2019.09.024
- Gehrke, S. G., Riedel, H. D., Herrmann, T., Hadaschik, B., Bents, K., Veltkamp, C., & Stremmel, W. (2003). UbcH5A, a member of human E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes, is

closely related to SFT, a stimulator of iron transport, and is up-regulated in hereditary hemochromatosis. *Blood*, *101*(8), 3288–3293. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2002-07-2192

- George, A. J., Hoffiz, Y. C., Charles, A. J., Zhu, Y., & Mabb, A. M. (2018). A comprehensive atlas of E3 ubiquitin ligase mutations in neurological disorders. In *Frontiers in Genetics* (Vol. 9, Issue FEB, p. 29). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2018.00029
- Gerace, E., & Moazed, D. (2015). Affinity Pull-Down of Proteins Using Anti-FLAG M2 Agarose Beads. In *Methods in Enzymology* (Vol. 559, pp. 99–110). Academic Press Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.mie.2014.11.010
- Ghilarducci, K., Cabana, V. C., Desroches, C., Chabi, K., Bourgault, S., Cappadocia, L., & Lussier, M. P. (2021). Functional interaction of ubiquitin ligase RNF167 with UBE2D1 and UBE2N promotes ubiquitination of AMPA receptor. *FEBS Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.15796
- Groettrup, M., Pelzer, C., Schmidtke, G., & Hofmann, K. (2008). Activating the ubiquitin family: UBA6 challenges the field. In *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* (Vol. 33, Issue 5, pp. 230–237). Trends Biochem Sci. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2008.01.005
- Gundogdu, M., & Walden, H. (2019). Structural basis of generic versus specific E2–RING E3 interactions in protein ubiquitination. In *Protein Science* (Vol. 28, Issue 10, pp. 1758–1770).
 Blackwell Publishing Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/pro.3690
- Guo, Y., Bian, W., Zhang, Y., & Li, H. (2017). Expression in Escherichia coli, purification and characterization of LRSAM1, a LRR and RING domain E3 ubiquitin ligase. *Protein Expression and Purification*, 129, 158–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pep.2016.05.002
- Haas, A. L., Bright, P. M., & Jackson, V. E. (1988). Functional diversity among putative E2 isozymes in the mechanism of ubiquitin-histone ligation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*,

263(26), 13268–13275. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9258(18)37700-7

- Han, Y. H., & Park, W. H. (2010). MG132 as a proteasome inhibitor induces cell growth inhibition and cell death in A549 lung cancer cells via influencing reactive oxygen species and GSH level. *Human and Experimental Toxicology*, 29(7), 607–614. https://doi.org/10.1177/0960327109358733
- Handley, P. M., Mueckler, M., Siegel, N. R., Ciechanover, A., & Schwartz, A. L. (1991).
 Molecular cloning, sequence, and tissue distribution of the human ubiquitin-activating enzyme E1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 88(1), 258–262. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.1.258
- Hann, Z. S., Ji, C., Olsen, S. K., Lu, X., Lux, M. C., Tan, D. S., & Lima, C. D. (2019). Structural basis for adenylation and thioester bond formation in the ubiquitin E1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 116(31), 15475–15484. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1905488116
- Hart, M., Concordet, J. P., Lassot, I., Albert, I., Del Los Santos, R., Durand, H., Perret, C.,
 Rubinfeld, B., Margottin, F., Benarous, R., & Polakis, P. (1999). The F-box protein β-TrCP associates with phosphorylated β-catenin and regulates its activity in the cell. *Current Biology*, *9*(4), 207–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(99)80091-8
- Hasson, S. A., Kane, L. A., Yamano, K., Huang, C. H., Sliter, D. A., Buehler, E., Wang, C.,
 Heman-Ackah, S. M., Hessa, T., Guha, R., Martin, S. E., & Youle, R. J. (2013). High-content genome-wide RNAi screens identify regulators of parkin upstream of mitophagy. *Nature*, 504(7479), 291–295. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12748
- Hatakeyama, S., & Nakayama, K. I. I. (2003). U-box proteins as a new family of ubiquitin ligases. In *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* (Vol. 302, Issue 4, pp.

635–645). Biochem Biophys Res Commun. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-291X(03)00245-6

- Hershko, A., Ciechanover, A., Heller, H., Haas, A. L., & Rose, I. A. (1980). Proposed role of ATP in protein breakdown: conjugation of protein with multiple chains of the polypeptide of ATP-dependent proteolysis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 77(4), 1783–1786. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.77.4.1783
- Hershko, A., Ciechanover, A., & Rose, I. A. (1981). Identification of the active amino acid residue of the polypeptide of ATP-dependent protein breakdown. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 256(4), 1525–1528. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9258(19)69833-9
- Hershko, A., Heller, H., Elias, S., & Ciechanover, A. (1983). Components of ubiquitin-protein ligase system. Resolution, affinity purification, and role in protein breakdown. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 258(13), 8206–8214. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9258(20)82050-x
- Hershko, A., Leshinsky, E., Ganoth, D., & Heller, H. (1984). ATP-dependent degradation of ubiquitin-protein conjugates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 81(6 I), 1619–1623. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.81.6.1619
- Hibbert, R. G., Huang, A., Boelens, R., & Sixma, T. K. (2011). E3 ligase Rad18 promotes monoubiquitination rather than ubiquitin chain formation by E2 enzyme Rad6. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 108(14), 5590–5595. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1017516108
- Hill, S., Reichermeier, K., Scott, D. C., Samentar, L., Coulombe-Huntington, J., Izzi, L., Tang, X., Ibarra, R., Bertomeu, T., Moradian, A., Sweredoski, M. J., Caberoy, N., Schulman, B. A., Sicheri, F., Tyers, M., & Kleiger, G. (2019). Robust cullin-ring ligase function is established by a multiplicity of polyubiquitylation pathways. *ELife*, 8.

https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.51163

- Hochstrasser, M. (1996). Ubiquitin-dependent protein degradation. In *Annual Review of Genetics* (Vol. 30, pp. 405–439). Annual Reviews 4139 El Camino Way, P.O. Box 10139, Palo Alto, CA 94303-0139, USA . https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.genet.30.1.405
- Hougardy, B. M. T., Maduro, J. H., van der Zee, A. G. J., de Groot, D. J. A., van den Heuvel, F. A. J., de Vries, E. G. E., & de Jong, S. (2006). Proteasome inhibitor MG132 sensitizes
 HPV-positive human cervical cancer cells to rhTRAIL-induced apoptosis. *International Journal of Cancer*, *118*(8), 1892–1900. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.21580
- Hu, M., Li, P., Song, L., Jeffrey, P. D., Chenova, T. A., Wilkinson, K. D., Cohen, R. E., & Shi,
 Y. (2005). Structure and mechanisms of the proteasome-associated deubiquitinating enzyme
 USP14. *EMBO Journal*, 24(21), 3747–3756. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7600832
- Hua, W., Li, C., Yang, Z., Li, L., Jiang, Y., Yu, G., Zhu, W., Liu, Z., Duan, S., Chu, Y., Yang, M., Zhang, Y., Mao, Y., & Jia, L. (2015). Suppression of glioblastoma by targeting the overactivated protein neddylation pathway. *Neuro-Oncology*, *17*(10), 1333–1343. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/nov066
- Huang, D. T., Miller, D. W., Mathew, R., Cassell, R., Holton, J. M., Roussel, M. F., &
 Schulman, B. A. (2004). A unique E1-E2 interaction required for optimal conjugation of the ubiquitin-like protein NEDD8. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, *11*(10), 927–935. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb826
- Huang, D. T., Zhuang, M., Ayrault, O., & Schulman, B. A. (2008). Identification of conjugation specificity determinants unmasks vestigial preference for ubiquitin within the NEDD8 E2. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, *15*(3), 280–287. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.1387

Huang, H., Ceccarelli, D. F., Orlicky, S., St-Cyr, D. J., Ziemba, A., Garg, P., Plamondon, S.,
Auer, M., Sidhu, S., Marinier, A., Kleiger, G., Tyers, M., & Sicheri, F. (2014). E2 enzyme inhibition by stabilization of a low-affinity interface with ubiquitin. *Nature Chemical Biology*, *10*(2), 156–163. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.1412

Huang, L., Kinnucan, E., Wang, G., Beaudenon, S., Howley, P. M., Huibregtse, J. M., & Pavletich, N. P. (1999a). Structure of an E6AP-UbcH7 complex: Insights into ubiquitination by the E2-E3 enzyme cascade. *Science*, *286*(5443), 1321–1326.
https://doi.org/10.1126/science.286.5443.1321

- Huang, L., Kinnucan, E., Wang, G., Beaudenon, S., Howley, P. M., Huibregtse, J. M., & Pavletich, N. P. (1999b). Structure of an E6AP-UbcH7 complex: Insights into ubiquitination by the E2-E3 enzyme cascade. *Science*, *286*(5443), 1321–1326. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.286.5443.1321
- Huang, Xiaodong, & Dixit, V. M. (2016). Drugging the undruggables: Exploring the ubiquitin system for drug development. In *Cell Research* (Vol. 26, Issue 4, pp. 484–498). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2016.31
- Huang, Xiaoliang, Tao, Y., Gao, J., Zhou, X., Tang, S., Deng, C., Lai, Z., Lin, X., Wang, Q., & Li, T. (2020). UBC9 coordinates inflammation affecting development of bladder cancer. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-77623-9
- Huett, A., Heath, R. J., Begun, J., Sassi, S. O., Baxt, L. A., Vyas, J. M., Goldberg, M. B., & Xavier, R. J. (2012). The LRR and RING domain protein LRSAM1 is an E3 ligase crucial for ubiquitin-dependent autophagy of intracellular salmonella typhimurium. *Cell Host and Microbe*, *12*(6), 778–790. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2012.10.019

- Humphreys, L. M., Smith, P., Chen, Z., Fouad, S., & D'Angiolella, V. (2021). The role of E3 ubiquitin ligases in the development and progression of glioblastoma. In *Cell Death and Differentiation* (Vol. 28, Issue 2, pp. 522–537). Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-020-00696-6
- Hyer, M. L., Milhollen, M. A., Ciavarri, J., Fleming, P., Traore, T., Sappal, D., Huck, J., Shi, J., Gavin, J., Brownell, J., Yang, Y., Stringer, B., Griffin, R., Bruzzese, F., Soucy, T., Duffy, J., Rabino, C., Riceberg, J., Hoar, K., ... Bence, N. F. (2018). A small-molecule inhibitor of the ubiquitin activating enzyme for cancer treatment. *Nature Medicine*, *24*(2), 186–193. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4474
- Hyoung, T. K., Kwang, P. K., Lledias, F., Kisselev, A. F., Scaglione, K. M., Skowyra, D., Gygi,
 S. P., & Goldberg, A. L. (2007). Certain pairs of ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes (E2s) and ubiquitin-protein ligases (E3s) synthesize nondegradable forked ubiquitin chains containing all possible isopeptide linkages. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *282*(24), 17375–17386. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M609659200
- Ikeda, M., Ito, A., Sekine, Y., & Fujimuro, M. (2020). Ube1a suppresses herpes simplex virus-1 replication. *Viruses*, 12(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/v12121391
- Israël, A. (2000). The IKK complex: An integrator of all signals that activate NF-κB? *Trends in Cell Biology*, *10*(4), 129–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0962-8924(00)01729-3
- Jambeck, J. R., Geyer, R., Wilcox, C., Siegler, T. R., Perryman, M., Andrady, A., Narayan, R., & Law, K. L. (2015). Plastic waste inputs from land into the ocean. *Science*, 347(6223), 768– 771. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1260352
- Jarvis, M. A., Brown, N. G., Watson, E. R., Vanderlinden, R., Schulman, B. A., & Peters, J. M.(2016). Measuring APC/C-dependent ubiquitylation in vitro. *Methods in Molecular*

Biology, 1342, 287-303. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2957-3 18

- Jin, B., Wang, J., Liu, X., Fang, S., Jiang, B., Hofmann, K., Yin, J., & Zhao, B. (2018). Ubiquitin-Mimicking Peptides Transfer Differentiates by E1 and E2 Enzymes. *BioMed Research International*, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/6062520
- Jin, Jianping, Li, X., Gygi, S. P., & Harper, J. W. (2007). Dual E1 activation systems for ubiquitin differentially regulate E2 enzyme charging. *Nature*, 447(7148), 1135–1138. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05902
- Jin, Jin, Xie, X., Xiao, Y., Hu, H., Zou, Q., Cheng, X., & Sun, S. C. (2016). Epigenetic regulation of the expression of Il12 and Il23 and autoimmune inflammation by the deubiquitinase Trabid. *Nature Immunology*, 17(3), 259–268. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3347
- Johnson, G. L., Stuhlmiller, T. J., Angus, S. P., Zawistowski, J. S., & Graves, L. M. (2014). Molecular pathways: Adaptive Kinome reprogramming in response to targeted inhibition of the BRAF-MEK-ERK pathway in cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 20(10), 2516–2522. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-1081
- Kamadurai, H. B., Souphron, J., Scott, D. C., Duda, D. M., Miller, D. J., Stringer, D., Piper, R.
 C., & Schulman, B. A. (2009). Insights into Ubiquitin Transfer Cascades from a Structure of a UbcH5B~Ubiquitin-HECTNEDD4L Complex. *Molecular Cell*, *36*(6), 1095–1102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2009.11.010

Kanayama, A., Seth, R. B., Sun, L., Ea, C. K., Hong, M., Shaito, A., Chiu, Y. H., Deng, L., & Chen, Z. J. (2004). TAB2 and TAB3 activate the NF-κB pathway through binding to polyubiquitin chains. *Molecular Cell*, *15*(4), 535–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2004.08.008

- Kao, S. Y. (2009a). DNA damage induces nuclear translocation of parkin. *Journal of Biomedical Science*, 16(1), 67. https://doi.org/10.1186/1423-0127-16-67
- Kao, S. Y. (2009b). Regulation of DNA repair by parkin. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 382(2), 321–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.03.048
- Kar, G., Keskin, O., Nussinov, R., & Gursoy, A. (2012). Human proteome-scale structural modeling of E2-E3 interactions exploiting interface motifs. *Journal of Proteome Research*, *11*(2), 1196–1207. https://doi.org/10.1021/pr2009143
- Katzmann, D. J., Odorizzi, G., & Emr, S. D. (2002). Receptor downregulation and multivesicular-body sorting. In *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* (Vol. 3, Issue 12, pp. 893–905). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm973
- Kaur, I., Kosak, K. M., Terrazas, M., Herron, J. N., Kern, S. E., Boucher, K. M., & Shami, P. J. (2015). Effect of a Pluronic® P123 formulation on the nitric oxide-generating drug JS-K. *Pharmaceutical Research*, *32*(4), 1395–1406. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-014-1542-9
- Kim, K. Y., Tanaka, Y., Su, J., Cakir, B., Xiang, Y., Patterson, B., Ding, J., Jung, Y. W., Kim, J. H., Hysolli, E., Lee, H., Dajani, R., Kim, J., Zhong, M., Lee, J. H., Skalnik, D., Lim, J. M., Sullivan, G. J., Wang, J., & Park, I. H. (2018). Uhrf1 regulates active transcriptional marks at bivalent domains in pluripotent stem cells through Setd1a. *Nature Communications*, *9*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04818-0
- Kirkpatrick, D. S., Hathaway, N. A., Hanna, J., Elsasser, S., Rush, J., Finley, D., King, R. W., & Gygi, S. P. (2006). Quantitative analysis of in vitro ubiquitinated cyclin B1 reveals complex chain topology. *Nature Cell Biology*, 8(7), 700–710. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1436
- Kisselev, A. F., & Goldberg, A. L. (2001). Proteasome inhibitors: From research tools to drug candidates. In *Chemistry and Biology* (Vol. 8, Issue 8, pp. 739–758). Cell Press.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-5521(01)00056-4

- Kitagaki, J., Yang, Y., Saavedra, J. E., Colburn, N. H., Keefer, L. K., & Perantoni, A. O. (2009). Nitric oxide prodrug JS-K inhibits ubiquitin E1 and kills tumor cells retaining wild-type p53. *Oncogene*, 28(4), 619–624. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2008.401
- Kleiger, G., Saha, A., Lewis, S., Kuhlman, B., & Deshaies, R. J. (2009). Rapid E2-E3 Assembly and Disassembly Enable Processive Ubiquitylation of Cullin-RING Ubiquitin Ligase Substrates. *Cell*, 139(5), 957–968. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.10.030
- Knipscheer, P., Van Dijk, W. J., Olsen, J. V., Mann, M., & Sixma, T. K. (2007). Noncovalent interaction between Ubc9 and SUMO promotes SUMO chain formation. *EMBO Journal*, 26(11), 2797–2807. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601711
- Knott, B. C., Erickson, E., Allen, M. D., Gado, J. E., Graham, R., Kearns, F. L., Pardo, I., Topuzlu, E., Anderson, J. J., Austin, H. P., Dominick, G., Johnson, C. W., Rorrer, N. A., Szostkiewicz, C. J., Copié, V., Payne, C. M., Woodcock, H. L., Donohoe, B. S., Beckham, G. T., & McGeehan, J. E. (2020). Characterization and engineering of a two-enzyme system for plastics depolymerization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *117*(41), 25476–25485. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2006753117
- Komander, D., Clague, M. J., & Urbé, S. (2009). Breaking the chains: Structure and function of the deubiquitinases. In *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* (Vol. 10, Issue 8, pp. 550–563). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2731
- Komander, D., Lord, C. J., Scheel, H., Swift, S., Hofmann, K., Ashworth, A., & Barford, D. (2008). The Structure of the CYLD USP Domain Explains Its Specificity for Lys63-Linked Polyubiquitin and Reveals a B Box Module. *Molecular Cell*, 29(4), 451–464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2007.12.018

- Kotz, J. (2011). Celgene skips SKP2. *Science-Business EXchange*, *4*(28), 784–784. https://doi.org/10.1038/scibx.2011.784
- Kovalenko, A., & Wallach, D. (2006). If the Prophet Does Not Come to the Mountain:
 Dynamics of Signaling Complexes in NF-κB Activation. In *Molecular Cell* (Vol. 22, Issue 4, pp. 433–436). Cell Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2006.05.002
- Kumar, P., Magala, P., Geiger-Schuller, K. R., Majumdar, A., Tolman, J. R., & Wolberger, C. (2015). Role of a non-canonical surface of Rad6 in ubiquitin conjugating activity. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *43*(18), 9039–9050. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv845
- Kwon, Y. T., & Ciechanover, A. (2017). The Ubiquitin Code in the Ubiquitin-Proteasome System and Autophagy. In *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* (Vol. 42, Issue 11, pp. 873– 886). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2017.09.002
- Lam, Y. A., Xu, W., DeMartino, G. N., & Cohen, R. E. (1997). Editing of ubiquitin conjugates by an isopeptidase in the 26S proteasome. *Nature*, 385(6618), 737–740. https://doi.org/10.1038/385737a0
- Lamb, J. B., Willis, B. L., Fiorenza, E. A., Couch, C. S., Howard, R., Rader, D. N., True, J. D., Kelly, L. A., Ahmad, A., Jompa, J., & Harvell, C. D. (2018). Plastic waste associated with disease on coral reefs. *Science*, *359*(6374), 460–462. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aar3320

Laubach, J. P., Schlossman, R. L., Mitsiades, C. S., Anderson, K. C., & Richardson, P. G.
(2011). Thalidomide, lenalidomide and bortezomib in the management of newly diagnosed multiple myeloma. *Expert Review of Hematology*, 4(1), 51–60.
https://doi.org/10.1586/ehm.10.83
- Law, K. L., Morét-Ferguson, S., Maximenko, N. A., Proskurowski, G., Peacock, E. E., Hafner, J., & Reddy, C. M. (2010). Plastic accumulation in the North Atlantic subtropical gyre. *Science*, 329(5996), 1185–1188. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1192321
- Lee, I., & Schindelin, H. (2008). Structural Insights into E1-Catalyzed Ubiquitin Activation and Transfer to Conjugating Enzymes. *Cell*, 134(2), 268–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.05.046
- Lee, J.-Y., Tokumoto, M., Fujiwara, Y., Hasegawa, T., Seko, Y., Shimada, A., & Satoh, M. (2016). Accumulation of p53 via down-regulation of UBE2D family genes is a critical pathway for cadmium-induced renal toxicity. *Scientific Reports*, *6*, 21968. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep21968
- Li, W., & Ye, Y. (2008). Polyubiquitin chains: Functions, structures, and mechanisms. In *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* (Vol. 65, Issue 15, pp. 2397–2406). NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-008-8090-6
- Lim, K. H., & Joo, J. Y. (2020). Predictive potential of circulating Ube2h mRNA as an E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme for diagnosis or treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21093398
- Lips, C., Ritterhoff, T., Weber, A., Janowska, M. K., Mustroph, M., Sommer, T., & Klevit, R. E. (2020). Who with whom: functional coordination of E2 enzymes by RING E3 ligases during poly□ubiquitylation. *The EMBO Journal*, *39*(22), e104863. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.2020104863
- Liu, H., Bei, Q., & Luo, X. (2021). MLN4924 inhibits cell proliferation by targeting the activated neddylation pathway in endometrial carcinoma. *Journal of International Medical Research*, 49(6). https://doi.org/10.1177/03000605211018592

- Liu, J., & Nussinov, R. (2009). The mechanism of ubiquitination in the cullin-RING E3 ligase machinery: Conformational control of substrate orientation. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 5(10), 1000527. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000527
- Liu, L., Wong, C. C., Gong, B., & Yu, J. (2018). Functional significance and therapeutic implication of ring-type E3 ligases in colorectal cancer. *Nature Publishing Group*, *37*, 148– 159. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2017.313
- Liu, S., & Chen, Z. J. (2011). Expanding role of ubiquitination in NF-κB signaling. In *Cell Research* (Vol. 21, Issue 1, pp. 6–21). Cell Res. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2010.170
- Liu, Y., Wang, Y., Yang, L., Sun, F., Li, S., Wang, Y., Zhang, G. A., Dong, T., Zhang, L. L., Duan, W., Zhang, X., Cui, W., & Chen, S. (2021). The nucleolus functions as the compartment for histone H2B protein degradation. *IScience*, 24(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2021.102256
- Lu, D., Huang, J., Ma, X., Gu, N., Zhang, J., Zhang, H., & Guo, X. (2017). Rs46522 in the Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzyme E2Z Gene Is Associated with the Risk of Coronary Artery Disease in Individuals of Chinese Han Population with Type 2 Diabetes. *Journal of Diabetes Research*, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/4501794
- Lutz, J., Höllmüller, E., Scheffner, M., Marx, A., & Stengel, F. (2020). The Length of a Ubiquitin Chain: A General Factor for Selective Recognition by Ubiquitin-Binding Proteins. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 59(30), 12371–12375. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202003058
- Lv, Z., Yuan, L., Atkison, J. H., Aldana-Masangkay, G., Chen, Y., & Olsen, S. K. (2017).
 Domain alternation and active site remodeling are conserved structural features of ubiquitin E1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 292(29), 12089–12099.

https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M117.787622

- Maciag, A. E., Saavedra, J. E., & Chakrapani, H. (2012). The Nitric Oxide Prodrug JS-K and Its Structural Analogues as Cancer Therapeutic Agents. *Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry*, 9(7), 798–803. https://doi.org/10.2174/187152009789056949
- Magistroni, V., Mauri, M., D'Aliberti, D., Mezzatesta, C., Crespiatico, I., Nava, M., Fontana, D., Sharma, N., Parker, W., Schreiber, A., Yeung, D., Pirola, A., Readelli, S., Massimino, L., Wang, P., Khandelwal, P., Citterio, S., Viltadi, M., Bombelli, S., ... Piazza1, R. (2019). De novo UBE2A mutations are recurrently acquired during chronic myeloid leukemia progression and interfere with myeloid differentiation pathways. *Haematologica*, *104*(9), 1789–1797. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2017.179937
- Mallette, F. A., & Richard, S. (2012). K48-linked ubiquitination and protein degradation regulate 53BP1 recruitment at DNA damage sites. *Cell Research*, 22(8), 1221–1223. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2012.58
- Marín, I., Lucas, J. I., Gradilla, A. C., & Ferrús, A. (2004). Parkin and relatives: The RBR family of ubiquitin ligases. In *Physiological Genomics* (Vol. 17, pp. 253–263). American Physiological Society. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiolgenomics.00226.2003
- Mathias, N., Steussy, C. N., & Goebl, M. G. (1998). An essential domain within Cdc34p is required for binding to a complex containing Cdc4p and Cdc53p in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(7), 4040–4045.
 https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.7.4040
- Matsumoto, M. L., Wickliffe, K. E., Dong, K. C., Yu, C., Bosanac, I., Bustos, D., Phu, L., Kirkpatrick, D. S., Hymowitz, S. G., Rape, M., Kelley, R. F., & Dixit, V. M. (2010). K11linked polyubiquitination in cell cycle control revealed by a K11 linkage-specific antibody.

Molecular Cell, 39(3), 477-484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.07.001

- Matsuo, S., Chaung, A., Liou, D., Wang, P., & Yang, W. L. (2018). Inhibition of ubiquitinactivating enzyme protects against organ injury after intestinal ischemia-reperfusion.
 American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 315(2), G283– G292. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00024.2018
- Matsuo, S., Sharma, A., Wang, P., & Yang, W. L. (2018). PYR-41, A Ubiquitin-Activating Enzyme E1 Inhibitor, Attenuates Lung Injury in Sepsis. *Shock*, 49(4), 442–450. https://doi.org/10.1097/SHK.000000000000031
- Maupin-Furlow, J. (2012). Proteasomes and protein conjugation across domains of life. In *Nature Reviews Microbiology* (Vol. 10, Issue 2, pp. 100–111). Nat Rev Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2696
- McClellan, A. J., Laugesen, S. H., & Ellgaard, L. (2019). Cellular functions and molecular mechanisms of non-lysine ubiquitination. *Open Biology*, 9(9), 190147. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsob.190147
- McCoull, W., Cheung, T., Anderson, E., Barton, P., Burgess, J., Byth, K., Cao, Q., Castaldi, M.
 P., Chen, H., Chiarparin, E., Carbajo, R. J., Code, E., Cowan, S., Davey, P. R., Ferguson, A.
 D., Fillery, S., Fuller, N. O., Gao, N., Hargreaves, D., ... Wilson, D. M. (2018).
 Development of a Novel B-Cell Lymphoma 6 (BCL6) PROTAC to Provide Insight into
 Small Molecule Targeting of BCL6. *ACS Chemical Biology*, *13*(11), 3131–3141.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.8b00698
- McDowell, G. S., & Philpott, A. (2013). Non-canonical ubiquitylation: Mechanisms and consequences. In *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology* (Vol. 45, Issue 8, pp. 1833–1842). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2013.05.026

McGouran, J. F., Gaertner, S. R., Altun, M., Kramer, H. B., & Kessler, B. M. (2013).
Deubiquitinating enzyme specificity for ubiquitin chain topology profiled by di-ubiquitin activity probes. *Chemistry and Biology*, 20(12), 1447–1455.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2013.10.012

McKenna, S., Hu, J., Moraes, T., Xiao, W., Ellison, M. J., & Spyracopoulos, L. (2003).
Energetics and specificity of interactions within Ub·Uev·Ubc13 human ubiquitin conjugation complexes. *Biochemistry*, 42(26), 7922–7930.
https://doi.org/10.1021/bi034480t

- Meerang, M., Ritz, D., Paliwal, S., Garajova, Z., Bosshard, M., Mailand, N., Janscak, P.,
 Hübscher, U., Meyer, H., & Ramadan, K. (2011). The ubiquitin-selective segregase
 VCP/p97 orchestrates the response to DNA double-strand breaks. *Nature Cell Biology*, *13*(11), 1376–1382. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2367
- Meng, Z., Xu, R., Xie, L., Wu, Y., He, Q., Gao, P., He, X., Chen, Q., Xie, Q., Zhang, J., & Yang, Q. (2021). A20/Nrdp1 interaction alters the inflammatory signaling profile by mediating K48- and K63-linked polyubiquitination of effectors MyD88 and TBK1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 297(1), 100811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100811
- Metzger, M. B., Pruneda, J. N., Klevit, R. E., & Weissman, A. M. (2014). RING-type E3 ligases: Master manipulators of E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes and ubiquitination. In *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research* (Vol. 1843, Issue 1, pp. 47–60). NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2013.05.026
- Meyer, H. J., & Rape, M. (2014). Enhanced protein degradation by branched ubiquitin chains. *Cell*, *157*(4), 910–921. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.037

- Mishra, R., Upadhyay, A., Prajapati, V. K., Dhiman, R., Poluri, K. M., Jana, N. R., & Mishra, A. (2019). LRSAM1 E3 ubiquitin ligase: molecular neurobiological perspectives linked with brain diseases. In *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* (Vol. 76, Issue 11, pp. 2093–2110). Birkhauser Verlag AG. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-019-03055-y
- Miura, T., Klaus, W., Gsell, B., Miyamoto, C., & Senn, H. (1999). Characterization of the binding interface between ubiquitin and class I human ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme 2b by multidimensional heteronuclear NMR spectroscopy in solution. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 290(1), 213–228. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmbi.1999.2859
- Morett, E., & Bork, P. (1999). A novel transactivation domain in parkin. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, *24*(6), 229–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0968-0004(99)01381-X
- Nascimento, R. M. P., Otto, P. A., De Brouwer, A. P. M., & Vianna-Morgante, A. M. (2006). UBE2A, which encodes a ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme, is mutated in a novel X-linked mental retardation syndrome. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 79(3), 549–555. https://doi.org/10.1086/507047
- Nayak, R. C., & Cancelas, J. A. (2019). Ubiquitination is not omnipresent in myeloid leukemia. In *Haematologica* (Vol. 104, Issue 9, pp. 1694–1696). Ferrata Storti Foundation. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2019.224162
- Nguyen, L., Plafker, K. S., Starnes, A., Cook, M., Klevit, R. E., & Plafker, S. M. (2014). The ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme, UbcM2, is restricted to monoubiquitylation by a two-fold mechanism that involves backside residues of E2 and Lys48 of ubiquitin. *Biochemistry*, *53*(24), 4004–4014. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi500072v
- Nijman, S. M. B., Luna-Vargas, M. P. A., Velds, A., Brummelkamp, T. R., Dirac, A. M. G., Sixma, T. K., & Bernards, R. (2005). A genomic and functional inventory of

deubiquitinating enzymes. In *Cell* (Vol. 123, Issue 5, pp. 773–786). Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.11.007

Norton, J. P., Augert, A., Eastwood, E., Basom, R., Rudin, C. M., & MacPherson, D. (2021). Protein neddylation as a therapeutic target in pulmonary and extrapulmonary small cell carcinomas. *Genes and Development*, 38(11–12). https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.348316.121

Nunes, J., McGonagle, G. A., Eden, J., Kiritharan, G., Touzet, M., Lewell, X., Emery, J., Eidam,
H., Harling, J. D., & Anderson, N. A. (2019). Targeting IRAK4 for Degradation with
PROTACs. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters, 10(7), 1081–1085.
https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmedchemlett.9b00219

- Ohi, M. D., Vander Kooi, C. W., Rosenberg, J. A., Chazin, W. J., & Gould, K. L. (2003). Structural insights into the U-box, a domain associated with multi-ubiquitination. *Nature Structural Biology*, 10(4), 250–255. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsb906
- Olsen, S. K., & Lima, C. D. (2013). Structure of a Ubiquitin E1-E2 Complex: Insights to E1-E2 Thioester Transfer. *Molecular Cell*, 49(5), 884–896. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2013.01.013
- Olzmann, J. A., & Chin, L. S. (2008). Parkin-mediated K63-linked polyubiquitination: A signal for targeting misfolded proteins to the aggresome-autophagy pathway. *Autophagy*, 4(1), 85–87. https://doi.org/10.4161/auto.5172
- Page, R. C., Pruneda, J. N., Amick, J., Klevit, R. E., & Misra, S. (2012). Structural insights into the conformation and oligomerization of e2~ubiquitin conjugates. *Biochemistry*, 51(20), 4175–4187. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi300058m
- Palombella, V. J., Rando, O. J., Goldberg, A. L., & Maniatis, T. (1994). The ubiquitinproteasome pathway is required for processing the NF-κB1 precursor protein and

the activation of NF-κB. *Cell*, *78*(5), 773–785. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(94)90482-0

- Papaleo, E., Ranzani, V., Tripodi, F., Vitriolo, A., Cirulli, C., Fantucci, P., Alberghina, L.,
 Vanoni, M., de Gioia, L., & Coccetti, P. (2011). An acidic loop and cognate
 phosphorylation sites define a molecular switch that modulates ubiquitin charging activity
 in cdc34-like enzymes. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 7(5).
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002056
- Park, C.-W., & Ryu, K.-Y. (2014). Cellular ubiquitin pool dynamics and homeostasis. *BMB Reports*, 47(9), 475–482. https://doi.org/10.5483/bmbrep.2014.47.9.128
- Park, C. W., & Ryu, K. Y. (2014). Cellular ubiquitin pool dynamics and homeostasis. In *BMB Reports* (Vol. 47, Issue 9, pp. 475–482). The Biochemical Society of the Republic of Korea. https://doi.org/10.5483/BMBRep.2014.47.9.128
- Pasupala, N., Morrow, M. E., Que, L. T., Malynn, B. A., Ma, A., & Wolberger, C. (2018). OTUB1 non-catalytically stabilizes the E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme UBE2E1 by preventing its autoubiquitination. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 293(47), 18285–18295. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA118.004677
- Patel, A., Sibbet, G. J., & Huang, D. T. (2019). Structural insights into non-covalent ubiquitin activation of the cIAP1-UbcH5Bubiquitin complex. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 294(4), 1240–1249. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA118.006045
- Petroski, M. D. (2008). The ubiquitin system, disease, and drug discovery. *BMC Biochemistry*, 9 Suppl 1(Suppl 1), S7–S7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2091-9-S1-S7
- Pickart, C. M. (2001). Mechanisms underlying ubiquitination. In *Annual Review of Biochemistry* (Vol. 70, pp. 503–533). Annual Reviews 4139 El Camino Way, P.O. Box 10139, Palo Alto,

CA 94303-0139, USA. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.70.1.503

- Pickrell, A. M., & Youle, R. J. (2015). The roles of PINK1, Parkin, and mitochondrial fidelity in parkinson's disease. In *Neuron* (Vol. 85, Issue 2, pp. 257–273). Cell Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.12.007
- Pierce, N. W., Kleiger, G., Shan, S. O., & Deshaies, R. J. (2009). Detection of sequential polyubiquitylation on a millisecond timescale. *Nature*, 462(7273), 615–619. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08595
- Price, G. R., Armes, J. E., Ramus, S. J., Provenzano, E., Kumar, B., Cowie, T. F., Ciciulla, J., Hutchins, A. M., Thomas, M., & Venter, D. J. (2006). Phenotype-directed analysis of genotype in early-onset, familial breast cancers. *Pathology*, *38*(6), 520–527. https://doi.org/10.1080/00313020601024052
- Pruneda, J. N., Littlefield, P. J., Soss, S. E., Nordquist, K. A., Chazin, W. J., Brzovic, P. S., & Klevit, R. E. (2012). Structure of an E3:E2~Ub Complex Reveals an Allosteric Mechanism Shared among RING/U-box Ligases. *Molecular Cell*, 47(6), 933–942. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2012.07.001
- Pruneda, J. N., Smith, F. D., Daurie, A., Swaney, D. L., Villén, J., Scott, J. D., Stadnyk, A. W., Le Trong, I., Stenkamp, R. E., Klevit, R. E., Rohde, J. R., & Brzovic, P. S. (2014). E2~Ub conjugates regulate the kinase activity of Shigella effector OspG during pathogenesis. *EMBO Journal*, 33(5), 437–449. https://doi.org/10.1002/embj.201386386
- Pulvino, M., Liang, Y., Oleksyn, D., DeRan, M., Van Pelt, E., Shapiro, J., Sanz, I., Chen, L., & Zhao, J. (2012). Inhibition of proliferation and survival of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma cells by a small-molecule inhibitor of the ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme Ubc13-Uev1A. *Blood*, *120*(8), 1668–1677. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-02-406074

- Puszynski, K., Gandolfi, A., & d'Onofrio, A. (2014). The Pharmacodynamics of the p53-Mdm2 Targeting Drug Nutlin: The Role of Gene-Switching Noise. *PLoS Computational Biology*, *10*(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1003991
- Qiao, R., Weissmann, F., Yamaguchi, M., Brown, N. G., VanderLinden, R., Imre, R., Jarvis, M. A., Brunner, M. R., Davidson, I. F., Litos, G., Haselbach, D., Mechtler, K., Stark, H., Schulman, B. A., & Peters, J. M. (2016). Mechanism of APC/CCDC20 activation by mitotic phosphorylation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *113*(19), E2570–E2578. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1604929113
- Que, L. T., Morrow, M. E., & Wolberger, C. (2020). Comparison of Cross-Regulation by Different OTUB1:E2 Complexes. *Biochemistry*, 59(8), 921–932. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biochem.9b00993
- Randles, L., & Walters, K. J. (2012). Ubiquitin and its binding domains. *Frontiers in Bioscience* (*Landmark Edition*), 17, 2140–2157. https://doi.org/10.2741/4042
- Reddy Chichili, V. P., Kumar, V., & Sivaraman, J. (2013). Linkers in the structural biology of protein-protein interactions. In *Protein Science* (Vol. 22, Issue 2, pp. 153–167). Wiley-Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1002/pro.2206
- Reyes-Turcu, F. E., & Wilkinson, K. D. (2009). Polyubiquitin binding and disassembly by deubiquitinating enzymes. In *Chemical Reviews* (Vol. 109, Issue 4, pp. 1495–1508). NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr800470j
- Richardson, P. G., Hideshima, T., Mitsiades, C., & Anderson, K. C. (2007). The emerging role of novel therapies for the treatment of relapsed myeloma. In *JNCCN Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network* (Vol. 5, Issue 2, pp. 149–162). Jones and Bartlett Publishers. https://doi.org/10.6004/jnccn.2007.0015

- Rotin, D., & Kumar, S. (2009). Physiological functions of the HECT family of ubiquitin ligases.
 In *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* (Vol. 10, Issue 6, pp. 398–409). Nature
 Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2690
- Sabapathy, K. (2015). The contrived mutant p53 oncogene Beyond loss of functions. In *Frontiers in Oncology* (Vol. 5, Issue DEC, p. 1). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2015.00276
- Saha, A., Lewis, S., Kleiger, G., Kuhlman, B., & Deshaies, R. J. (2011). Essential Role for
 Ubiquitin-Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzyme Interaction in Ubiquitin Discharge from Cdc34 to
 Substrate. *Molecular Cell*, 42(1), 75–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2011.03.016
- Sakamoto, K. M. (2005). Chimeric molecules to target proteins for ubiquitination and degradation. In *Methods in Enzymology* (Vol. 399, pp. 833–847). Academic Press Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(05)99054-X
- Sakamoto, K. M., Kim, K. B., Verma, R., Ransick, A., Stein, B., Crews, C. M., & Deshaies, R. J. (2003). Development of Protacs to target cancer-promoting proteins for ubiquitination and degradation. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics : MCP*, 2(12), 1350–1358. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.T300009-MCP200
- Sakata, E., Satoh, T., Yamamoto, S., Yamaguchi, Y., Yagi-Utsumi, M., Kurimoto, E., Tanaka, K., Wakatsuki, S., & Kato, K. (2010). Crystal Structure of UbcH5b~Ubiquitin
 Intermediate: Insight into the Formation of the Self-Assembled E2~Ub Conjugates. *Structure*, 18(1), 138–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2009.11.007
- Salami, J., Alabi, S., Willard, R. R., Vitale, N. J., Wang, J., Dong, H., Jin, M., McDonnell, D. P., Crew, A. P., Neklesa, T. K., & Crews, C. M. (2018). Androgen receptor degradation by the proteolysis-targeting chimera ARCC-4 outperforms enzalutamide in cellular models of

prostate cancer drug resistance. *Communications Biology*, *1*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-018-0105-8

- Sasaki, Y., & Iwai, K. (2015). Roles of the NF-κB pathway in B-lymphocyte biology. *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology*, 393, 177–209. https://doi.org/10.1007/82_2015_479
- Schnell, J. D., & Hicke, L. (2003). Non-traditional functions of ubiquitin and ubiquitin-binding proteins. In *Journal of Biological Chemistry* (Vol. 278, Issue 38, pp. 35857–35860). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R300018200
- Schulman, B. A., & Wade Harper, J. (2009). Ubiquitin-like protein activation by E1 enzymes: The apex for downstream signalling pathways. In *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* (Vol. 10, Issue 5, pp. 319–331). Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2673
- Schumacher, F. R., Wilson, G., & Day, C. L. (2013a). The N-terminal extension of UBE2E ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes limits Chain assembly. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 425(22), 4099–4111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2013.06.039
- Schumacher, F. R., Wilson, G., & Day, C. L. (2013b). The N-terminal extension of UBE2E ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes limits Chain assembly. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 425(22), 4099–4111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2013.06.039
- Sheng, Y., Hong, J. H., Doherty, R., Srikumar, T., Shloush, J., Avvakumov, G. V., Walker, J. R., Xue, S., Neculai, D., Wan, J. W., Kim, S. K., Arrowsmith, C. H., Raught, B., & Dhe-Paganon, S. (2012). A human ubiquitin conjugating enzyme (E2)-HECT E3 ligase structure-function screen. *Molecular and Cellular Proteomics*, *11*(8), 329–341. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.O111.013706

Shetzer, Y., Molchadsky, A., & Rotter, V. (2016). Oncogenic mutant p53 gain of function nourishes the vicious cycle of tumor development and cancer stem-cell formation. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine*, 6(10). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a026203

Shi, X., Wang, B., Chen, X., Zheng, Y., Ding, Y., & Wang, C. (2020). Upregulation of ubiquitin-

conjugating enzyme E2Z is associated with human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 523(1), 25–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.11.170

- Skaar, J. R., Pagan, J. K., & Pagano, M. (2014). SCF ubiquitin ligase-targeted therapies. In *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* (Vol. 13, Issue 12, pp. 889–903). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4432
- Sluimer, J., & Distel, B. (2018). Regulating the human HECT E3 ligases. In *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* (Vol. 75, Issue 17, pp. 3121–3141). Birkhauser Verlag AG. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-018-2848-2
- Somasagara, R. R., Spencer, S. M., Tripathi, K., Clark, D. W., Mani, C., Silva, L. M. Da, Scalici, J., Kothayer, H., Westwell, A. D., Rocconi, R. P., & Palle, K. (2017). RAD6 promotes
 DNA repair and stem cell signaling in ovarian cancer and is a promising therapeutic target to prevent and treat acquired chemoresistance. *Oncogene*, *36*(48), 6680–6690. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2017.279
- Son, H. F., Joo, S., Seo, H., Sagong, H. Y., Lee, S. H., Hong, H., & Kim, K. J. (2020). Structural bioinformatics-based protein engineering of thermo-stable PETase from Ideonella sakaiensis. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enzmictec.2020.109656

- Song, L., & Rape, M. (2011). Substrate-specific regulation of ubiquitination by the anaphasepromoting complex. In *Cell Cycle* (Vol. 10, Issue 1, pp. 52–56). Taylor and Francis Inc. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.10.1.14387
- Starita, L. M., Pruneda, J. N., Lo, R. S., Fowler, D. M., Kim, H. J., Hiatt, J. B., Shendure, J., Brzovic, P. S., Fields, S., & Klevit, R. E. (2013). Activity-enhancing mutations in an E3 ubiquitin ligase identified by high-throughput mutagenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(14), E1263–E1272. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1303309110
- Staudt, L. M. (2010). Oncogenic activation of NF-kappaB. In Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology (Vol. 2, Issue 6). Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a000109
- Stewart, M. D., Ritterhoff, T., Klevit, R. E., & Brzovic, P. S. (2016). E2 enzymes: More than just middle men. In *Cell Research* (Vol. 26, Issue 4, pp. 423–440). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2016.35
- Stone, S. L. (2016). Ubiquitination of Plant Transcription Factors. In *Plant Transcription Factors: Evolutionary, Structural and Functional Aspects* (pp. 395–409). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800854-6.00026-9
- Stuhlmiller, T. J., Miller, S. M., Zawistowski, J. S., Nakamura, K., Beltran, A. S., Duncan, J. S.,
 Angus, S. P., Collins, K. A. L., Granger, D. A., Reuther, R. A., Graves, L. M., Gomez, S.
 M., Kuan, P. F., Parker, J. S., Chen, X., Sciaky, N., Carey, L. A., Earp, H. S., Jin, J., &
 Johnson, G. L. (2015). Inhibition of lapatinib-induced kinome reprogramming in ERBB2positive breast cancer by targeting BET family bromodomains. *Cell Reports*, *11*(3), 390–404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.03.037

- Sullivan, M., & Morgan, D. O. (2007). Finishing mitosis, one step at a time. In *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* (Vol. 8, Issue 11, pp. 894–903). Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2276
- Summers, M. K., Pan, B., Mukhyala, K., & Jackson, P. K. (2008a). The Unique N Terminus of the UbcH10 E2 Enzyme Controls the Threshold for APC Activation and Enhances Checkpoint Regulation of the APC. *Molecular Cell*, *31*(4), 544–556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2008.07.014
- Summers, M. K., Pan, B., Mukhyala, K., & Jackson, P. K. (2008b). The Unique N Terminus of the UbcH10 E2 Enzyme Controls the Threshold for APC Activation and Enhances Checkpoint Regulation of the APC. *Molecular Cell*, *31*(4), 544–556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2008.07.014
- Sun, L., & Chen, Z. J. (2004). The novel functions of ubiquitination in signaling. In *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* (Vol. 16, Issue 2, pp. 119–126). Elsevier Current Trends. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2004.02.005
- Sun, Y., Ding, N., Song, Y., Yang, Z., Liu, W., Zhu, J., & Rao, Y. (2019). Degradation of Bruton's tyrosine kinase mutants by PROTACs for potential treatment of ibrutinib-resistant non-Hodgkin lymphomas. In *Leukemia* (Vol. 33, Issue 8, pp. 2105–2110). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41375-019-0440-x
- Suresh, H. G., Pascoe, N., & Andrews, B. (2020). The structure and function of deubiquitinases: lessons from budding yeast. *Open Biology*, *10*(10), 200279. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsob.200279
- Swatek, K. N., & Komander, D. (2016). Ubiquitin modifications. In *Cell Research* (Vol. 26, Issue 4, pp. 399–422). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2016.39

- Swords, R. T., Erba, H. P., Deangelo, D. J., Bixby, D. L., Altman, J. K., Maris, M., Hua, Z., Blakemore, S. J., Faessel, H., Sedarati, F., Dezube, B. J., Giles, F. J., & Medeiros, B. C. (2015). Pevonedistat (MLN4924), a First-in-Class NEDD8-activating enzyme inhibitor, in patients with acute myeloid leukaemia and myelodysplastic syndromes: A phase 1 study. *British Journal of Haematology*, *169*(4), 534–543. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjh.13323
- Takahashi, M., Kitaura, H., Kakita, A., Kakihana, T., Katsuragi, Y., Nameta, M., Zhang, L.,
 Iwakura, Y., Nawa, H., Higuchi, M., Komatsu, M., & Fujii, M. (2018). USP10 Is a Driver of Ubiquitinated Protein Aggregation and Aggresome Formation to Inhibit Apoptosis. *IScience*, 9, 433–450. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2018.11.006
- Tan, M., Gong, H., Wang, J., Tao, L., Xu, D., Bao, E., Liu, Z., & Qiu, J. (2015). SENP2 regulates MMP13 expression in a bladder cancer cell line through SUMOylation of TBL1/TBLR1. *Scientific Reports*, *5*. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep13996
- Tan, N. G. S., Ardley, H. C., Scott, G. B., Rose, S. A., Markham, A. F., & Robinson, P. A. (2003). Human homologue of ariadne promotes the ubiquitylation of translation initiation factor 4E homologous protein, 4EHP. *FEBS Letters*, *554*(3), 501–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(03)01235-3
- Tanaka, K., Kondoh, N., Shuda, M., Matsubara, O., Imazeki, N., Ryo, A., Wakatsuki, T., Hada, A., Goseki, N., Igari, T., Hatsuse, K., Aihara, T., Horiuchi, S., Yamamoto, N., & Yamamoto, M. (2001). Enhanced expression of mRNAs of antisecretory factor-1, gp96, DAD1 and CDC34 in human hepatocellular carcinomas. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Molecular Basis of Disease*, *1536*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4439(01)00026-6

- Tauriello, D. V. F., & Maurice, M. M. (2010). The various roles of ubiquitin in Wnt pathway regulation. In *Cell Cycle* (Vol. 9, Issue 18, pp. 3724–3733). Taylor and Francis Inc. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.9.18.13204
- Thrower, J. S., Hoffman, L., Rechsteiner, M., & Pickart, C. M. (2000). Recognition of the polyubiquitin proteolytic signal. *EMBO Journal*, 19(1), 94–102. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/19.1.94
- Tokumoto, M., Fujiwara, Y., Shimada, A., Hasegawa, T., Seko, Y., Nagase, H., & Satoh, M.
 (2011). Cadmium toxicity is caused by accumulation of p53 through the down-regulation of Ube2d family genes in vitro and in vivo. *Journal of Toxicological Sciences*, *36*(2), 191–200. https://doi.org/10.2131/jts.36.191
- Tokunaga, F., Sakata, S. I., Saeki, Y., Satomi, Y., Kirisako, T., Kamei, K., Nakagawa, T., Kato, M., Murata, S., Yamaoka, S., Yamamoto, M., Akira, S., Takao, T., Tanaka, K., & Iwai, K. (2009). Involvement of linear polyubiquitylation of NEMO in NF-κB activation. *Nature Cell Biology*, *11*(2), 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1821
- Tolbert, B. S., Tajc, S. G., Webb, H., Snyder, J., Nielsen, J. E., Miller, B. L., & Basavappa, R. (2005). The active site cysteine of ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes has a significantly elevated pKa: Functional implications. *Biochemistry*, 44(50), 16385–16391. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi0514459
- Tracz, M., & Bialek, W. (2021). Beyond K48 and K63: non-canonical protein ubiquitination. Cellular and Molecular Biology Letters, 26(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s11658-020-00245-6
- Tsui, C., Raguraj, A., & Pickart, C. M. (2005). Ubiquitin binding site of the ubiquitin E2 variant (UEV) protein Mms2 is required for DNA damage tolerance in the yeast RAD6 pathway.

Journal of Biological Chemistry, 280(20), 19829–19835.

https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M414060200

- Tzschach, A., Grasshoff, U., Beck-Woedl, S., Dufke, C., Bauer, C., Kehrer, M., Evers, C., Moog, U., Oehl-Jaschkowitz, B., Di Donato, N., Maiwald, R., Jung, C., Kuechler, A., Schulz, S., Meinecke, P., Spranger, S., Kohlhase, J., Seidel, J., Reif, S., ... Bauer, P. (2015). Next-generation sequencing in X-linked intellectual disability. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, *23*(11), 1513–1518. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2015.5
- Ungermannova, D., Parker, S. J., Nasveschuk, C. G., Chapnick, D. A., Phillips, A. J., Kuchta, R. D., & Liu, X. (2012). Identification and mechanistic studies of a novel ubiquitin E1 inhibitor. *Journal of Biomolecular Screening*, *17*(4), 421–434.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1087057111433843
- Van Ree, J. H., Jeganathan, K. B., Malureanu, L., & Van Deursen, J. M. (2010). Overexpression of the E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme UbcH10 causes chromosome missegregation and tumor formation. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *188*(1), 83–100. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200906147
- Vaughan, R. M., Kupai, A., & Rothbart, S. B. (2021). Chromatin Regulation through Ubiquitin and Ubiquitin-like Histone Modifications. In *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* (Vol. 46, Issue 4, pp. 258–269). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2020.11.005
- Verdecia, M. A., Joazeiro, C. A. P., Wells, N. J., Ferrer, J. L., Bowman, M. E., Hunter, T., & Noel, J. P. (2003). Conformational flexibility underlies ubiquitin ligation mediated by the WWP1 HECT domain E3 ligase. *Molecular Cell*, *11*(1), 249–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(02)00774-8

Vosper, J. M. D., McDowell, G. S., Hindley, C. J., Fiore-Heriche, C. S., Kucerova, R., Horan, I.,

& Philpott, A. (2009). Ubiquitylation on canonical and non-canonical sites targets the transciption factor neurogenin for ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(23), 15458–15468. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M809366200

- Vourc'h, P., Martin, I., Bonnet-Brilhault, F., Marouillat, S., Barthélémy, C., Müh, J. P., & Andres, C. (2003). Mutation screening and association study of the UBE2H gene on chromosome 7q32 in autistic disorder. *Psychiatric Genetics*, *13*(4), 221–225. https://doi.org/10.1097/00041444-200312000-00005
- Walter, R. F. H., Werner, R., Wessolly, M., Mairinger, E., Borchert, S., Schmeller, J., Kollmeier, J., Mairinger, T., Hager, T., Bankfalvi, A., Christoph, D. C., Eberhardt, W. E. E., Plönes, T., Aigner, C., Schmid, K. W., Wohlschlaeger, J., & Mairinger, F. D. (2018). Inhibition of MDM2 via Nutlin-3A: A Potential Therapeutic Approach for Pleural Mesotheliomas with MDM2-Induced Inactivation of Wild-Type P53. *Journal of Oncology, 2018*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/1986982
- Wang, C., Deng, L., Hong, M., Akkaraju, G. R., Inoue, J. I., & Chen, Z. J. (2001). TAK1 is a ubiquitin-dependent kinase of MKK and IKK. *Nature*, 412(6844), 346–351. https://doi.org/10.1038/35085597
- Wang, F., & Zhao, B. (2019). UBA6 and its bispecific pathways for ubiquitin and fat10.*International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20092250
- Wang, X., Herr, R. A., Chua, W. J., Lybarger, L., Wiertz, E. J. H. J., & Hansen, T. H. (2007).
 Ubiquitination of serine, threonine, or lysine residues on the cytoplasmic tail can induce
 ERAD of MHC-I by viral E3 ligase mK3. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *177*(4), 613–624.
 https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200611063

- Wang, Y. S., Wu, K. P., Jiang, H. K., Kurkute, P., & Chen, R. H. (2020). Branched
 Ubiquitination: Detection Methods, Biological Functions and Chemical Synthesis. In *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)* (Vol. 25, Issue 21). NLM (Medline).
 https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25215200
- Wang, Yan, Wang, J., Tang, Q., & Ren, G. (2021). Identification of UBE2C as hub gene in driving prostate cancer by integrated bioinformatics analysis. *PloS One*, 16(2), e0247827. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0247827
- Wang, Ying, Huang, F., Liu, M., & Zhao, Q. (2021). UBE2C mRNA expression controlled by miR-300 and HuR determines its oncogenic role in gastric cancer. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 534, 597–603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.11.034
- Weber, J., Polo, S., & Maspero, E. (2019). HECT E3 ligases: A tale with multiple facets. In *Frontiers in Physiology* (Vol. 10, Issue APR, p. 370). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2019.00370
- Wei, R., & Zimmermann, W. (2017). Microbial enzymes for the recycling of recalcitrant petroleum-based plastics: how far are we? In *Microbial Biotechnology* (Vol. 10, Issue 6, pp. 1308–1322). John Wiley and Sons Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.12710
- Wenzel, D. M., Lissounov, A., Brzovic, P. S., & Klevit, R. E. (2011). UBCH7 reactivity profile reveals parkin and HHARI to be RING/HECT hybrids. *Nature*, 474(7349), 105–108. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09966
- Wertz, I. E., & Wang, X. (2019). From Discovery to Bedside: Targeting the Ubiquitin System. In *Cell Chemical Biology* (Vol. 26, Issue 2, pp. 156–177). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2018.10.022

- Wiener, R., Dibello, A. T., Lombardi, P. M., Guzzo, C. M., Zhang, X., Matunis, M. J., &
 Wolberger, C. (2013). E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes regulate the deubiquitinating activity of OTUB1. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, *20*(9), 1033–1039.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.2655
- Wiener, R., Zhang, X., Wang, T., & Wolberger, C. (2012). The mechanism of OTUB1-mediated inhibition of ubiquitination. *Nature*, 483(7391), 618–622. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10911
- Wijk, S. J. L., & Timmers, H. T. M. (2010). The family of ubiquitin □ conjugating enzymes
 (E2s): deciding between life and death of proteins. *The FASEB Journal*, 24(4), 981–993.
 https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.09-136259
- Wild, T., Larsen, M. S. Y., Narita, T., Schou, J., Nilsson, J., & Choudhary, C. (2016). The Spindle Assembly Checkpoint Is Not Essential for Viability of Human Cells with Genetically Lowered APC/C Activity. *Cell Reports*, 14(8), 1829–1840. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2016.01.060
- Wilkinson, K. D., Tashayev, V. L., O'Connor, L. B., Larsen, C. N., Kasperek, E., & Pickart, C.
 M. (1995). Metabolism of the Polyubiquitin Degradation Signal: Structure, Mechanism, and Role of Isopeptidase T. *Biochemistry*, *34*(44), 14535–14546.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00044a032
- Williams, K. M., Qie, S., Atkison, J. H., Salazar-Arango, S., Alan Diehl, J., & Olsen, S. K.
 (2019). Structural insights into E1 recognition and the ubiquitin-conjugating activity of the E2 enzyme Cdc34. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11061-8

- Williamson, A., Wickliffe, K. E., Mellone, B. G., Song, L., Karpen, G. H., & Rape, M. (2009).
 Identification of a physiological E2 module for the human anaphase-promoting complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(43), 18213–18218. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0907887106
- Wolańska, E., Pollak, A., Rydzanicz, M., Pesz, K., Kłaniewska, M., Rozensztrauch, A., Skiba,
 P., Stawiński, P., Płoski, R., & Śmigiel, R. (2021). The Role of the Reanalysis of Genetic
 Test Results in the Diagnosis of Dysmorphic Syndrome Caused by Inherited xq24 Deletion
 including the UBE2A and CXorf56 Genes. In *Genes* (Vol. 12, Issue 3).
 https://doi.org/10.3390/genes12030350
- Wong, E. S. P., Tan, J. M. M., Soong, W. E., Hussein, K., Nukina, N., Dawson, V. I., Dawson, T. M., Cuervo, A. M., & Lim, K. L. (2008). Autophagy-mediated clearance of aggresomes is not a universal phenomenon. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *17*(16), 2570–2582. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddn157
- Wright, J. D., Mace, P. D., & Day, C. L. (2016). Noncovalent Ubiquitin Interactions Regulate the Catalytic Activity of Ubiquitin Writers. In *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* (Vol. 41, Issue 11, pp. 924–937). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2016.08.003
- Wu, K., Chen, A., Tan, P., & Pan, Z. Q. (2002). The Nedd8-conjugated ROC1-CUL1 core ubiquitin ligase utilizes Need8 charged surface residues for efficient polyubiquitin chain assembly catalyzed by Cdc34. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(1), 516–527. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M108008200
- Xie, C. M., Wei, W., & Sun, Y. (2013). Role of SKP1-CUL1-F-Box-Protein (SCF) E3 Ubiquitin Ligases in Skin Cancer. In *Journal of Genetics and Genomics* (Vol. 40, Issue 3, pp. 97–106). NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jgg.2013.02.001

- Xie, J., Jin, Y., & Wang, G. (2019). The role of SCF ubiquitin-ligase complex at the beginning of life. In *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology* (Vol. 17, Issue 1, pp. 1–9). BioMed Central Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12958-019-0547-y
- Xu, S., Ma, Y., Tong, Q., Yang, J., Liu, J., Wang, Y., Li, G., Zeng, J., Fang, S., Li, F., Xie, X., & Zhang, J. (2021). Cullin-5 neddylation-mediated NOXA degradation is enhanced by PRDX1 oligomers in colorectal cancer. *Cell Death and Disease*, *12*(3). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-021-03557-3
- Yamaguchi, M., VanderLinden, R., Weissmann, F., Qiao, R., Dube, P., Brown, N. G.,
 Haselbach, D., Zhang, W., Sidhu, S. S., Peters, J. M., Stark, H., & Schulman, B. A. (2016).
 Cryo-EM of Mitotic Checkpoint Complex-Bound APC/C Reveals Reciprocal and
 Conformational Regulation of Ubiquitin Ligation. *Molecular Cell*, 63(4), 593–607.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2016.07.003
- Yamano, H. (2019). APC/C: current understanding and future perspectives. In *F1000Research* (Vol. 8). F1000 Research Ltd. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.18582.1
- Yang, J., Yang, Y., Wu, W. M., Zhao, J., & Jiang, L. (2014). Evidence of polyethylene biodegradation by bacterial strains from the guts of plastic-eating waxworms. *Environmental Science and Technology*, *48*(23), 13776–13784. https://doi.org/10.1021/es504038a
- Yang, Y., Fang, S., Jensen, J. P., Weissman, A. M., & Ashwell, J. D. (2000). Ubiquitin protein ligase activity of IAPs and their degradation in proteasomes in response to apoptotic stimuli. *Science*, 288(5467), 874–877. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.288.5467.874
- Yang, Y., Kitagaki, J., Dai, R. M., Yien, C. T., Lorick, K. L., Ludwig, R. L., Pierre, S. A., Jensen, J. P., Davydov, I. V., Oberoi, P., Li, C. C. H., Kenten, J. H., Beutler, J. A., Vousden,

K. H., & Weissman, A. M. (2007). Inhibitors of ubiquitin-activating enzyme (E1), a new class of potential cancer therapeutics. *Cancer Research*, *67*(19), 9472–9481. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-0568

- Yau, R. G., Doerner, K., Castellanos, E. R., Haakonsen, D. L., Werner, A., Wang, N., Yang, X. W., Martinez-Martin, N., Matsumoto, M. L., Dixit, V. M., & Rape, M. (2017). Assembly and Function of Heterotypic Ubiquitin Chains in Cell-Cycle and Protein Quality Control. *Cell*, *171*(4), 918-933.e20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.040
- Yau, R. G., Doerner, K., Castellanos, E. R., Matsumoto, M. L., & Dixit, V. M. (2017). Assembly and Function of Heterotypic Ubiquitin Chains in Cell-Cycle and Protein Quality Control In Brief Bispecific antibodies reveal the presence and function of heterotypic ubiquitin chains containing K11 and K48 linkages in cell-cycle regulation and pr. *Cell*, *171*, 918-933.e20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.040
- Ye, Y., & Rape, M. (2009). Building ubiquitin chains: E2 enzymes at work. In *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* (Vol. 10, Issue 11, pp. 755–764). NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2780
- Yen, M. C., Wu, K. L., Liu, Y. W., Chang, Y. Y., Chang, C. Y., Hung, J. Y., Tsai, Y. M., & Hsu,
 Y. L. (2021). Ubiquitin conjugating enzyme e2 h (Ube2h) is linked to poor outcomes and
 metastasis in lung adenocarcinoma. *Biology*, *10*(5).
 https://doi.org/10.3390/biology10050378
- Yin, Q., Han, T., Fang, B., Zhang, G., Zhang, C., Roberts, E. R., Izumi, V., Zheng, M., Jiang, S.,
 Yin, X., Kim, M., Cai, J., Haura, E. B., Koomen, J. M., Smalley, K. S. M., & Wan, L.
 (2019). K27-linked ubiquitination of BRAF by ITCH engages cytokine response to
 maintain MEK-ERK signaling. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1), 1–15.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-09844-0

- Yoshida, S., Hiraga, K., Takehana, T., Taniguchi, I., Yamaji, H., Maeda, Y., Toyohara, K.,
 Miyamoto, K., Kimura, Y., & Oda, K. (2016). A bacterium that degrades and assimilates
 poly(ethylene terephthalate). *Science*, *351*(6278), 1196–1199.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad6359
- Yu, B., Swatkoski, S., Holly, A., Lee, L. C., Giroux, V., Lee, C. S., Hsu, D., Smith, J. L., Yuen, G., Yue, J., Ann, D. K., Simpson, R. M., Creighton, C. J., Figg, W. D., Gucek, M., Luo, J., & Roberts, T. M. (2015). Oncogenesis driven by the Ras/Raf pathway requires the SUMO E2 ligase Ubc9. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *112*(14), E1724–E1733. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1415569112
- Yu, H., King, R. W., Peters, J. M., & Kirschner, M. W. (1996). Identification of a novel ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme involved in mitotic cyclin degradation. *Current Biology*, 6(4), 455–466. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(02)00513-4
- Yuan, J., Luo, K., Zhang, L., Cheville, J. C., & Lou, Z. (2010). USP10 Regulates p53 Localization and Stability by Deubiquitinating p53. *Cell*, 140(3), 384–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.12.032
- Yuan, L., Lv, Z., Adams, M. J., & Olsen, S. K. (2021). Crystal structures of an E1–E2–ubiquitin thioester mimetic reveal molecular mechanisms of transthioesterification. *Nature Communications*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22598-y
- Yuan, L., Lv, Z., Atkison, J. H., & Olsen, S. K. (2017). Structural insights into the mechanism and E2 specificity of the RBR E3 ubiquitin ligase HHARI. *Nature Communications*, 8(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-00272-6

- Yuan, W. C., Lee, Y. R., Lin, S. Y., Chang, L. Y., Tan, Y. P., Hung, C. C., Kuo, J. C., Liu, C. H., Lin, M. Y., Xu, M., Chen, Z. J., & Chen, R. H. (2014). K33-Linked Polyubiquitination of Coronin 7 by Cul3-KLHL20 Ubiquitin E3 Ligase Regulates Protein Trafficking. *Molecular Cell*, 54(4), 586–600. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2014.03.035
- Zhang, J., Wan, L., Dai, X., Sun, Y., & Wei, W. (2014). Functional characterization of Anaphase Promoting Complex/Cyclosome (APC/C) E3 ubiquitin ligases in tumorigenesis. In *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Reviews on Cancer* (Vol. 1845, Issue 2, pp. 277–293). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbcan.2014.02.001
- Zhang, Li, Fairall, L., Goult, B. T., Calkin, A. C., Hong, C., Millard, C. J., Tontonoz, P., & Schwabe, J. W. R. (2011). The IDOL-UBE2D complex mediates sterol-dependent degradation of the LDL receptor. *Genes and Development*, 25(12), 1262–1274. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.2056211
- Zhang, Li, Xu, M., Scotti, E., Chen, Z. J., & Tontonoz, P. (2013). Both K63 and K48 ubiquitin linkages signal lysosomal degradation of the LDL receptor. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 54(5), 1410–1420. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M035774
- Zhang, Liting, Huang, F., Liu, J., Xu, Y., Miao, Y., Yuan, Y., Chen, X., Zhang, H. G., Wang, J.,
 Zheng, H., & Zuo, Y. (2021). HSV-1-encoded ICP0 degrades the host deubiquitinase
 BRCC36 to antagonize interferon antiviral response. *Molecular Immunology*, *135*, 28–35.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2021.03.027
- Zhang, S., & Sun, Y. (2020). Targeting CDC34 E2 ubiquitin conjugating enzyme for lung cancer therapy. In *EBioMedicine* (Vol. 54, p. 102718). Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.102718

Zhang, W., & Sidhu, S. S. (2014a). Development of inhibitors in the ubiquitination cascade. In

FEBS Letters (Vol. 588, Issue 2, pp. 356–367). Wiley-Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2013.11.003

- Zhang, W., & Sidhu, S. S. (2014b). Development of inhibitors in the ubiquitination cascade. In *FEBS Letters* (Vol. 588, Issue 2, pp. 356–367). Wiley-Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2013.11.003
- Zhao, B., Choi, C. H. J., Bhuripanyo, K., Villhauer, E. B., Zhang, K., Schindelin, H., & Yin, J.
 (2012). Inhibiting the protein ubiquitination cascade by ubiquitin-mimicking short peptides. *Organic Letters*, *14*(22), 5760–5763. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol3027736
- Zhao, Xiaohong, Jiang, H., Wang, M., Li, T., Gao, J., Lwin, T., Ren, Y., Sotomayor, E., Shah, B.
 D., & Tao, J. (2018). Targeting Kinome Reprogramming for Overcoming Ibrutinib-Resistance (IR) in Mantle Cell Lymphoma (MCL). *Blood*, *132*(Supplement 1), 2651–2651. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2018-99-116756
- Zhao, Xudong, Cai, A., Peng, Z., Liang, W., Xi, H., Li, P., Chen, G., Yu, J., & Chen, L. (2019). JS-K induces reactive oxygen species-dependent anti-cancer effects by targeting mitochondria respiratory chain complexes in gastric cancer. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 23(4), 2489–2504. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.14122
- Zheng, N., Wang, P., Jeffrey, P. D., & Pavletich, N. P. (2000). Structure of a c-Cbl-UbcH7 complex: RING domain function in ubiquitin-protein ligases. *Cell*, 102(4), 533–539. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00057-X
- Zhou, W., Xu, J., Li, H., Xu, M., Chen, Z. J., Wei, W., Pan, Z., & Sun, Y. (2017). Neddylation
 E2 UBE2F promotes the survival of lung cancer cells by activating CRL5 to degrade
 NOXA via the K11 linkage. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 23(4), 1104–1116.
 https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1585

- Zhou, Z., He, M., Shah, A. A., & Wan, Y. (2016). Insights into APC/C: From cellular function to diseases and therapeutics. *Cell Division*, 11(1), 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13008-016-0021-6
- Ziemba, A., Hill, S., Sandoval, D., Webb, K., Bennett, E. J., & Kleiger, G. (2013). Multimodal mechanism of action for the Cdc34 acidic loop: A case study for why ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes have loops and tails. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 288(48), 34882–34896. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.509190
- Zilfou, J. T., & Lowe, S. W. (2009). Tumor suppressive functions of p53. In Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology (Vol. 1, Issue 5). Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a001883
- Zou, R., Xu, H., Li, F., Wang, S., & Zhu, L. (2021). Increased Expression of UBE2T Predicting Poor Survival of Epithelial Ovarian Cancer: Based on Comprehensive Analysis of UBE2s, Clinical Samples, and the GEO Database. *DNA and Cell Biology*, 40(1), 36–60. https://doi.org/10.1089/dna.2020.5823
- Zou, Y., Ma, D., & Wang, Y. (2019). The PROTAC technology in drug development. In *Cell Biochemistry and Function* (Vol. 37, Issue 1, pp. 21–30). John Wiley and Sons Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbf.3369

APPENDIX A: ANALYSIS PIPELINE RESULTING IN THE E2 ENZYME FAMILY

PHYLOGENETIC TREE



Figure 36. Analysis pipeline resulting in the E2 enzyme family phylogenetic tree and Shannon entropy values.

APPENDIX B: TABLE OF PRIMER DESIGNS

Table 3

Primer Designs. All primers were ordered through Eurofins sciences. PQE-80L MBP-SspB Micro was a gift from Brian Kuhlman (Addgene plasmid #60410; http://n2t.net/addgene:60410; RRID: Addgene 60410).

Name	Vector	F/R	Sequence 5'-3'
Ubv.D1.1	pQE-80L MBP- SspB Micro ¹	F	CAGGGATCCTCTAGAGTCGAACATGCAGATCT TTGTCAAAAATTC
UUD1.1	pcDNA 3.1 ²	F	AAGCTTGGTACCGAGCTCGGATCCAGGAGAT GGACTACAAAGACGATGACGACAAGGCAGAA ATCGACTATAGCGACGCG
UUD1.1	pcDNA3.1	R	AGAATTCTGCAGATATCCAGCACA

APPENDIX C: TABLE OF INHIBITOR PROTEIN SEQUENCES

Table 4

Amino Acid Sequences of All Inhibitor Designs, Including the Control Sequences

Name	AA sequence
UU WT	MDYKDDDDKAEIDYSDAPDEFRDPIMDTLMTDPVRLPSGTVVDRSIILR
	HLLNSPTDPFNRQMLTESMLEPVPELKEQIQAWMREKQSSDHGGSSGSS
	GGSSMWIQVR1MDGRQ1H1VDSLSRL1KVEELRRKIQELFHVEPGLQRL
	FYRGKQMEDGHILFDYEVRLNDHQLLVRQS
UU 16	MDYKDDDDKAEIDYSDAPDEFRDTIMDTLMTDPVRLPSGTVVDRSIILR
	HLLNSPTDPFNRQMLTESMLEPVPELKEQIQAWMREKQSSDHGGSSGGS
	SGGSSMWIQVRTMDGRQTHTVDSLSRLTKVEELRRKIQELFHVEPGLQR
	LVYRGKQMEDGHTLFDYEVRLNDTIQLLVRQSEFLKTKGP
BII WT	SI TAOOSSI IREDKSNAKI WNEVI ASI KDRPASGSPEOLEI SKVEETEOCI
KO WI	CCOELVERPITTVCOHNVCKDCLDRSERAOVESCPACRYDLGRSYAMO
	VNOPLOTVLNOLFPGYGNGRGGSSGGSSGGSSGGSSMWIOVRTMDGRO
	THTVDSLSRLTKVEELRRKIOELFHVEPGLORLFYRGKOMEDGHTLFDY
	EVRLNDTIQLLVRQS
UUDI.I	MDYKDDDDKAEIDYSDAPDEFRDPIMDTLMTDPVRLPSGTVVDRSIILR
	HLLNSPIDPFNKQMLIESMLEPVPELKEQIQAWMKEKQSSDHGGSSGGS
	GKOLEDGRTI SDVNIOKKETI VLAVGLRAG
	GRQLEDGRIESDINIQKRITETEATGERAG
UU 17	MDYKDDDDKAEIDYSDAPDEFRDTIMDTLMTDPVRLPSGTVVDRSIILR
	HLLNSPTDPFNRQMLTESMLEPVPELKEQIQAWMREKQSSDHGGSSGGS
	SGGSSMWIQVRTMDGRQTHTVDSLSRLTKVEELRRKIQELFHVEPGLQR
	LVYRGKQMEDGHTLFDYEVRLNDTIQLLVRQS
RU F/V	SUTAOOSSUREDKSNAKLWNEVLASUKDRPASGSPFOLELSKVEETFOCI
	CCOELVFRPITTVCOHNVCKDCLDRSFRAOVFSCPACRYDLGRSYAMOV
	NOPLOTVLNOLFPGYGNGRGGSSGGSSGGSSGGSSGGSSMWIOVRTMDGROT
	HTVDSLSRLTKVEELRRKIQELFHVEPGLQRLVYRGKQMEDGHTLFDYE
	VRLNDTIQLLVRQS

APPENDIX D: WNT SIGNALING UTILIZING UBE3A IN THE PRESENCE OF RU WT



(#1), RU F/V (#2) OR UU WT (#3/#4).

Figure 37. Wnt signaling utilizing Ube3A in the presence of RU WT (#1), RU F/V (#2) or UU WT (#3/#4). Fold changes is normalized to WT Ube3A activity.

176



RU F/V (NEGATIVE CONTROL) OR RU WT.

Figure 38. Negative control identification for mammalian cell culture. IAP2 auto-ubiquitination was measured in the presence of either RU F/V or RU WT in concentrations ranging from 100 μ M to 1 μ M. Signal was normalized to uninhibited IAP2 auto-ubiquitination activity.